Cabinet
Date:
Time:

Monday, 21 March 2016
10.00 am

Venue:

Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer:
Tel:
e-mail:
Website:

Patrick Sebastian
0151 691 8424
patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state
the nature of the interest.

2.

MINUTES
The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published. Any
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.
RECOMMENDATION: That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER'S UPDATE
3.

EXECUTIVE
POWERS

KEY

DECISIONS

TAKEN

UNDER

DELEGATED

Key Decisions taken under delegated powers - period: 23 February,
2016 to date of agenda publication.
Leader of the Council - Strategic and Policy Oversight
Request for Financial Assistance - Business Growth Grant Funding
Date of decision: 23/02/2016
Effective from: 02/03/2016
Cabinet Member - Transformation and Improvement (and Deputy
Leader of the Council)
Business Growth Grant Funding

Date of decision: 01/03/2016
Effective from: 08/03/2016
Cabinet Member - Adult Care and Public Health
Community Based Support/Support at Home
Date of decision: 02/03/2016
Effective from: 10/03/2016
4.

EUROPEAN ISSUES (Pages 1 - 10)

CABINET MEMBER REPORTS
5.

OUTLINE TRANSFORMATION APPROACH (Pages 11 - 18)

6.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY (Pages 19 - 52)

7.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
HEALTHIER LIVES (Pages 53 - 92)

8.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES (Pages 93 - 128)

9.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES (Pages 129 - 134)
(Strategy to follow)

10.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
COMMUNITY SAFETY (Pages 135 - 172)

11.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
DOMESTIC ABUSE (Pages 173 - 210)

12.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
LEISURE (Pages 211 - 246)

13.

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION - UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
CULTURE (Pages 247 - 280)

14.

HEALTH RELATED WORKLESSNESS (Pages 281 - 292)

15.

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN SCRUTINY REVIEW (Pages 293 332)

16.

TACKLING ALLEYWAY DUMPING - FUNDING OF ADDITIONAL
CLEANSING RESOURCES (Pages 333 - 340)

17.

ALLEYWAY DUMPING ENFORCEMENT (Pages 341 - 348)

18.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 1)

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.
19.

EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND
PUBLIC
The following items contain exempt information.
RECOMMENDATION: That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding the information)
The Public Interest test has been applied and favours exclusion.

20.

EUROPEAN ISSUES (EXEMPT APPENDIX) (Pages 349 - 352)

21.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 2)
To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

CABINET BRIEFING
Monday, 7 March 2016
EUROPEAN ISSUES

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
CLLR PHIL DAVIES

Councillor Phil Davies, Leader of the Council - Strategic and Policy Oversight, said:
“We are determined to do all we can to put our residents into the best possible position to
find good jobs. Our vision for Wirral is based on a strong local economy and this report
presents an excellent opportunity for the Council to work with colleagues throughout the
City Region to support residents to improve their employability skills and opportunities to
find work.”
REPORT SUMMARY
This report informs members of the successful outcome (subject to funding agreement) of
the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Combined Authority application to the European Social
Fund (ESF) programme to support adults and young people into employment. The report
sets out the implications for Wirral and the local delivery model which includes a
combination of in-house delivery and commissioned activity.
The programme, to be known as the Ways to Work programme, supports the aspirations
of the Wirral Plan and specifically the following pledges:


PLEDGE 3: YOUNG PEOPLE ARE READY FOR WORK AND ADULTHOOD
Specifically reducing the number of young people classified as NEET (Not in
employment education or training);



PLEDGE 4: VULNERABLE CHILDREN REACH THEIR FULL POTENTIAL

Specifically a commitment to ensure that every child who leaves care has the
opportunity to start work, further their education or enrol on an apprenticeship;


PLEDGE 8: GREATER JOB OPPORTUNITIES IN WIRRAL
Growth Plan – ‘Wirral will be a place where employers want to invest, business thrives
and high quality jobs are provided and where all our residents are able to contribute to
and benefit from sustained prosperity and a good quality of life’, and



PLEDGE 16: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVER HEALTHIER LIVES
Draft Healthier Lives Plan – ‘The Department of Health estimates that health services,
although important to our health and wellbeing, only contribute about 20% of our
health status. The other 80% is determined by access to employment and education
opportunities, our income, good housing, education, transport links and supportive
social networks’.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.
This is a key decision requesting member approval for use of Council resources which
exceed £500,000.
Appendix 1 of this report contains commercially sensitive information regarding future
competitive tendering processes, the disclosure of which is not considered to be
appropriate. Accordingly Appendix 1 is deemed to be exempt from disclosure under
paragraph 3, Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet Members are requested to:


Note the content of this report and welcome the Letter of Intent from DWP notifying the
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority of a successful application to the 2014 to
2020 European Social Fund programme (subject to funding agreement) and agree the
approach as set out in this report;



On receipt of a funding agreement from Merseytravel, as accountable body for the
Combined Authority bid, authorise the Assistant Chief Executive in consultation with
the Head of Legal and Member services to finalise negotiation and accept the funds
on behalf of the Council;



Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive and Strategic Director, Families and Wellbeing
to commence procurement and activity and select a supplier(s) to deliver the
commissioned services as outlined in Appendix 1 of this report;



Authorise the Strategic Director, Families and Wellbeing to commence delivery of the
Intermediate Labour Market programme as outlined in paragraphs 3.9 and to 3.11 of
this this report;



Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive to respond to changes to financial allocations
across the Wirral and Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Ways to Work

programme as outlined in paragraph 4.1 and 4.3 this report;


Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive and Strategic Director, Families and Wellbeing
to commence job evaluation (as appropriate) and recruitment for the new posts as
outlined in Table 4 of this report.



Waive the call-in period for the recommendations in this report owing to the time
critical nature of the procurement/delivery as outlined in this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

Despite success in reducing worklessness, Wirral has persistent levels that far exceed
regional and national averages. The Ways to Work programme provides services to
support adults and young people into employment and as such supports a number of
pledges within the Wirral Plan.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

Within this report members are requested to authorise Chief Officers to finalise and
accept the funding agreement for ESF investment and commence
procurement/delivery of Wirral’s local programme as set out in the report. Wirral’s
programme consists of four main elements with a mix of commissioned contracts and
in-house delivery. Other options considered include:

2.2

Non- acceptance of funding agreement: In October 2015 the Strategic Director,
Regeneration and Environment, gained approval, via a report to the Deputy Leader of
the Council, to finalise Wirral’s element of a wider Combined Authority submission for
ESF investment. Should the funding agreement not be accepted the Council would not
be able to maximise existing funds already allocated to support this agenda which are
maximised threefold by securing the additional ESF investment. Additionally this could
jeopardise the Combined Authority bid as this was submitted as a city region wide
programme. The Council has instructed specialist legal advice to review the funding
agreement and seek to secure acceptable terms prior to signing.

2.3

In house delivery: The Council has significant experience in commissioning services
with European investment to support adults and young people into employment.
Additionally, should the Council deliver this service in-house then TUPE could apply
from existing suppliers. The Council could additionally have the risk of significant
surplus staff at the end of the delivery period owing to the scale of the programme and
the time limited nature of the funding.

2.4

Procure the Intermediate Labour Market through external providers: The 14 to19
Team has extensive experience of directly delivering this type of programme via The
Wirral Apprentice programme and has strong links with local employers. This activity
supports the work of the 14 to 19 Team in supporting young people leaving care and
other vulnerable NEET young people. Finally the majority of funding for the activity is
paid in grants to employers leaving a minimal amount of funding to administer the
programme as a commissioned contract.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

On 1 October 2015 the Strategic Director, Regeneration and Environment, gained
authority, via a report to the Deputy Leader of the Council, to finalise details of Wirral’s
element of a wider Combined Authority submission for ESF in response to the
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) call for proposals in the LCR to support
young people and adults into employment.

3.2

DWP Call for Proposals for European Social Fund (Inclusive Labour Markets)

3.3

The 2014 to 2020 European Union Structural and Investment Growth (ESIF)
Programme brings together European Social Fund (ESF), European Regional
Development Fund (ERDF) and part of the European Agricultural Fund for Rural
Development together into a single programme for England. The ESF Programme is
operated as a national programme, with investment decisions taken by DWP, as the
Managing Authority, in consultation with local areas who provide advice regarding the
strategic fit of submitted applications. The ESF programme is structured around 3
priority axes, namely Inclusive Labour Markets; Skills for Growth, and Technical
Assistance.
In March 2015 DWP published their first call for commissioned projects in the LCR
area under the Inclusive Labour Market priority axis which sought outline proposals for
projects to support adults and young people into employment. This included additional
Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) funds that the LCR has been allocated to use in
conjunction with ESF to support additional young people into the labour market. The
Call outlined a two stage competitive application process, in order to select applicants
to be invited to submit a full application at a later date. The Call for Proposals covered
the following Investment Areas:
Table 1: DWP Call for Proposals in Liverpool, City Region: Inclusive Labour Markets
PRIORY
DESCRIPTION
ESF (£)
YEI (£)
AXIS
Priority 1.1
Access to employment for jobseekers
10,900,000
0
and inactive people
Priority 1.2
Sustainable integration into the labour
600,000
0
market of young people (specifically
those at risk of becoming NEET)
Priority 1.3
Sustainable integration into the labour
19,684,000
19,684,000
market of young people
Total
31,184,000
19,684,000

TOTAL (£)
10,900,000
600,000
39,368,000
50,868,000

3.4 Overview of LCR Ways to Work Programme
In May 2015 the Combined Authority submitted an outline proposal for a city region
programme (Ways to Work) and was subsequently invited to submit a full application.
The Investment Team worked as part of a Combined Authority team developing the
bid and led on the development of the Wirral element, working with colleagues from
Children and Young People. The LCR submitted a full application on 2 October 2015.
Of the £50,868,000 of funds available, the LCR Combined Authority bid sought funds
to the value of £29,539,693 with the total LCR bid value including match funding
amounting to £42,707,132.
3.5

The LCR Ways to Work programme is a local intelligence-driven, comprehensive and
integrated programme for young people & adults, designed to improve personal
resilience & progression into sustainable employment. Workless and inactive adults
and young people, including those furthest from the labour market, will access a suite
of tailored products which will add value to mainstream provision, respond to employer
needs & yield better outcomes. High quality Information, Advice & Guidance and
transitional employment opportunities are essential components of the offer, anchored
by needs-led assessment to be conducted by experienced mentors in this flexible
system.

3.6

Merseytravel is the accountable body for the Combined Authority Ways to Work
programme. It is anticipated that DWP will contract with Merseytravel directly and that
each constituent Council will have an individual contract with Merseytravel. The ESF

programme has been subject to significant delay nationally, firstly in the late
notification of the original call for commissioned projects, followed by further delay in
the assessments of submitted applications. To date the LCR has received a Letter of
Intent from DWP which has confirmed that the Combined Authority application has
been successful with the funding agreement expected imminently.
3.7

The precise governance of the LCR Ways to Work programme is still being finalised
by the Combined Authority. At this stage it is known that Liverpool City Council will
administer the programme on behalf of Merseytravel and that funding for a central
team to perform this function will be met by each constituent local authority against
their proportional allocation of ESF funds.

3.8

Overview of Wirral Ways to Work Programme
The Wirral Ways to Work programme consists of four main elements of delivery with a
mix of commissioned contracts and in-house delivery. Three of these will be subject to
future competitive tendering processes and as such details of these are included in
Appendix 1 of this report which is exempt from disclosure.

3.9

Intermediate Labour Market Programme: The fourth element is the Wirral Ways to
Work Intermediate Labour Market (ILM) programme. This will be delivered in house by
the 14 to 19 Team. The programme will provide grants to employers to provide waged
job opportunities for young people. As set out by DWP all ILM’s will be at least the
national minimum wage for 35 hours per week and should be for additional posts in
sectors where growth is expected, or in organisations providing community value.
Priority consideration will be given to employers paying the Living Wage Foundation
Living Wage; however this will not be a pre-requisite to avoid issues with displacement
and retention following the ILM period. There will be an open call for employers which
will articulate the requirement to support young people, specifically those deemed
most vulnerable and this will determine the duration of the ILM opportunity:




£5k grant for 6 month ILM;
£10k grant for 12 month ILM aimed at vulnerable NEET young people (E.g. Care
Leaver, Learning Disability, Ex-offenders);
Additional grant payment for Living Wage employers depending on duration of ILM
(£500 or £1000).

3.10

The process will include De Minimis declaration/awards notices to comply with State
Aid requirements and employers will be paid in arrears at set intervals upon receipt of
evidence of defrayed expenditure. Across the wider LCR Ways to Work programme
there will be access to cross boundary opportunities for young people.

3.11

It is anticipated that the ILM programme will commence on 1 April 2016 however this
will be dependent on the Council receiving/accepting its grant funding agreement. As
this activity is funded via priority 1.3 of the ESF programme all expenditure must be
defrayed and claimed by July 2018. The planning assumption is for 138 ILM
opportunities to be provided and for 62 young people to gain sustainable employment
following their ILM. As DWP will require additional targets for young people sustained
in employment for 6 months following their time on the ILM, the engagement
activity/start date for this element of the programme will be significantly front loaded.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Table 2 outlines the financial breakdown of Wirral’s element of the Combined Authority
submission for ESF on 2 October 2015. Due to the delays in receipt of a grant
agreement from DWP, the final balance of allocations by budget category and
expenditure timeline is subject to a detailed re-profiling exercise in progress at the time
of writing this report. Subject to receipt of the funding agreement, this report seeks
Member approval to authorise the Assistant Chief Executive to respond and make
changes to financial allocations across the Wirral Ways to Work Programme as
appropriate.
Table 2: Breakdown of Wirral Ways to Work Programme Costs as at 01.10.15
Category
2016
2017
(£)
(£)
Salaries (including Wirral contribution to Central
CA Team)

309,644

200,967

751,417

Overheads

28,840

37,852

25,837

92,529

Marketing

7,800

10,400

10,400

28,600

1,341,982

1,669,208

1,239,904

4,251,094

427,974

570,632

332,869

1,331,475

Overall Total
2,047,402
NB: EU Funding operates on a calendar year basis.

2,597,736

1,809,977

6,455,115

Participant Costs (including ILM grant payments)

In order to receive ESF funds applicants are required to financially contribute to their
total project costs by committing other eligible non-European funds. On 1 October
2015 the Strategic Director, Regeneration & Environment gained authority (Deputy
Leader of the Council Report) to finalise details of Wirral’s element of a the CA
submission; this included authority to commit £2,126,401 of eligible non-European
funds in contribution to the total project costs. Table 3 outlines the source of match
funding for the Wirral Ways to Work programme.
Table 3: Source of Match Funding for Wirral Ways to Work ESF Application
Budget
Value (£)
Approx. Value
Period
per annum (£)
Public Health Grant allocated to
tackle Worklessness
Youth
Employment
Gateway
Grant
Investment Strategy Team Core
Staff Budget
CYPD 14-19 Team Service
Budget: Raising Participation Age
strategy allocation
TOTAL

4.3

Totals
(£)

240,806

Commissioned Services

4.2

2018
(£)

1,319,636

£479,861

207,809

£103,904

178,956

70,409

420,000

180,000

01.04.16
to 31.12.18
01.01.16
to 31.12.17
01.04.16
to 31.12.18
01.04.16
to 31.07.18

Status
Secured
Secured
Secured
Secured

2,126,401

It is anticipated that the funding agreement will grant ESF monies on a City Region
footprint; therefore there will be potential flexibility to reallocate funding levels by
authority area throughout the lifetime of the programme, subject to performance and

capacity. The process for any such reallocations will be determined in the Terms and
Conditions of the funding agreement issued by Liverpool City Council on behalf of
Merseytravel. This report therefore seeks additional approval from Members to
authorise the Assistant Chief Executive to respond to any future financial allocations
across the wider LCR Ways to Work Programme as appropriate.
5.0

LEGAL

5.1

At this stage the Combined Authority has not received a funding agreement from DWP
and as such the exact terms and conditions are unknown. That said via previous
experience of delivering European funded programmes it is known that these
contracts have stringent rules and regulations, rigorous financial and audit processes
and can be subject to financial clawback of funds for failure to follow procedure and/or
achieve the required outputs. Audit processes adopted previously have been based on
sampling and if errors are found these can then be multiplied against the scale of the
bid, which can significantly increase the level of financial clawback when compared
against the actual identified error. DWP themselves have cited errors in procurement
as being one of the most common areas found at audit.

5.2

As such, Officers from the Investment Team and 14 to 19 Team met with
Procurement, Finance and Legal and Member Services on 19 January 2016 to set out
the detail of Wirral’s programme and how this fits within the wider context of the
Combined Authority programme. Following this meeting the Head of Legal and
Member services agreed for specialist legal advice to support the Ways to Work
programme to include advice regarding the acceptance of the funding agreement and
procurement, financial and audit procedures.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Council will manage the Wirral Ways to Work programme through staff in the
Investment Strategy and 14 to 19 teams; with any new posts appointed on a time
limited basis. The table below provides the anticipated breakdown of staff. Approval
for new posts will be taken through the appropriate channels and all costs will be met
from Wirral Ways to Work total project costs as outlined in Table 2 of this report.
Table 4: Anticipated Staff for Wirral Ways to Work Programme ESF Application
Description of Post
Grade/Anticipated
Status
Team
Grade
Contract Manager
PO 10
Existing
Investment
Project Officer
PO 2
Existing
Investment
Audit and Compliance Officer PO 10
New
Investment
ILM Delivery Manager
PO 6
New
14 to 19
ILM Support Officer
Band G
New
14 to 19
ILM Support Officer
Band G
New
14 to 19

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

Merseytravel, as accountable body, will enter into a legally binding agreement with
DWP and will carry the liability to ensure that the terms of the funding agreement are
met; failure to do so may result in claw-back of funds because of the failure of the
Council or its subcontractors to comply with those requirements. As such Merseytravel
will contract with the constituent local authorities as delivery partners and pass on this

liability. The subsequent risk (which is assessed as being high) to the Council of clawback of funds will be mitigated by:
 The Council’s previous experience in managing ESF programmes and ensuring
compliance with European Union procurement, financial and audit requirements;
 Additional staff (referred to in Table 4) will be appointed to monitor closely the
Council and the Council’s subcontractors’ compliance with EU audit requirements;
 A robust Due Diligence exercise already conducted by Compliance Officers from
Liverpool City Council in advance of the full submission for ESF;
 Specialist legal advice as outlined in paragraph 5.2 of this report may succeed in
passing on the risk of default to the Council’s subcontractors but their indemnity to
the Council will not obviate the risk of their inability to defray the cost of claw back
(e.g. by reason of insolvency), and
 Compliance with State Aid regulations for the ILM programme will be met via the
application of De Minimis procedures which the 14 to 19 team have extensive
experience of applying via their delivery of the Wirral Apprentice Programme.
8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Ways to Work programme supports the Wirral 2020 Plan and Wirral’s Growth
Plan developed via consultation with partner organisations and residents.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?
(a) Yes and impact review is attached – (insert appropriate hyperlink).
Wirral Growth Plan: https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-andneighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

REPORT AUTHOR:

Beverley Staniford
Economic Lead
telephone: (0151) 691 8166
email: beverleystaniford@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

EUROPEAN ISSUES - 2014 TO 2020 EUROPEAN 1 OCTOBER 2015
UNION STRUCTURAL AND INVESTMENT FUNDS
GROWTH PROGRAMME
Decision of the Deputy Leader of the Council
(Partially Exempt)

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
OUTLINE TRANSFORMATION
APPROACH

COUNCILLOR
ANN MCLACHLAN
Councillor Ann McLachlan, The Deputy Leader of The Council, said:
“Ongoing austerity policies from national Government are changing the nature of
public services. Huge funding reductions combined with changing and increased
needs from residents are combining to demand fundamental change in how public
services are designed and provided.
“If we are to meet our 20 Pledges to Wirral residents then we have a duty to put this
Council in the best possible position to adapt, be flexible and ensure the biggest
impact on residents’ lives from diminishing public resources. The Wirral Plan sets
out our vision for this borough, our developing transformation programme sets out
the blueprint we will follow to deliver on our 20 Pledges.”
REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the principles of a new approach to transformation and a new
operating model for the Council; which will ensure the organisation is best equipped
to achieve the Pledges committed to in the Wirral Plan.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to agree:
(i)

the principles of the new operating model and the next steps required
to make progress towards implementation set out in section 3 of this
report; and

(ii)

a report detailing a revised management and organisational structure

to support the new operating model to be presented to the
Employment and Appointments Committee as soon as practicably
possible.
(iii)

the operating principles attached at appendix 1 of this report that will
inform the future design of new models of service delivery.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
The Council must review its current operating model to ensure that the
organisation is effectively organised to support the achievement of the Wirral
Plan. Working with partners, the Council needs to have the appropriate skills,
resources and commercial awareness to support delivery of the Wirral Plan.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
A review of the Council’s current operating model is required to support
delivery of the Wirral Plan. The new operating model will focus on customer
need and outcomes, rather than traditional services and processes.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Wirral Plan sets out a vision for Wirral: a set of 20 Pledges which will be
achieved over the next five years to improve the lives of Wirral residents. In
order to achieve these ambitions, the Council needs to modernise and work
in a completely different way, and ensure it has the right culture, abilities,
skills and approach to deliver the 2020 vision for Wirral.
In order to deliver this plan we committed to delivering a modern public
service and organising ourselves to deliver our aims. This report sets out
how these two core themes will now be taken forward: (1) a new
transformation programme, working to develop new models for service
delivery and (2) the implementation of a new operating model. These themes
will be developed and implemented concurrently, ensuring that the Council is
able to deliver change at pace and continue to deliver positive outcomes to
improve the quality of life for Wirral residents.
Transformation Programme
In order to achieve change of such magnitude, it is vital that the organisation
continues to strengthen its approach to transformation. This view was
strongly endorsed by colleagues from the Local Government Association
during the Council’s recent Peer Review.
The review identified the need for the Council to be much more commercially
focussed, harnessing the spirt and practices of commerce to secure
outcomes for residents. This will mean leveraging greater value from assets
and resources as well as maximising commercial opportunities and income
generation through a range of service models delivered within a public sector
ethos.
The Council is now developing a detailed programme which will set out, in a
transparent way, how the change will be delivered and the resources required
to deliver it. A standard, robust and detailed approach to business case
development and options appraisal will be embedded to make certain any
proposals for change are robustly evidenced and aligned to the agreed

principles.
The programme will be managed through comprehensive methodologies,
ensuring all transformation activities support the delivery of the 20 pledges.
Robust governance arrangements, proportionate to each initiative will be at
the core of this function, providing monitoring and control, clear escalation
routes for risk and issues. The assurance necessary to provide confidence
that the programme is being delivered will be provided by Audit. Elected
Member engagement in the programme will be paramount. The approach to
scrutiny and pre-decision scrutiny will be refreshed to ensure that Elected
Members are fully engaged in supporting, overseeing and promoting the
Council’s transformation agenda.
A New Operating Model
The new operating model for the Council will implement a completely new
approach to how the organisation does business. It will make the organisation
more flexible, more effective and deliver better value for money and ensure
that the Council is structured based on delivering better outcomes for Wirral
residents, rather than traditional service blocks.
The new operating model will reflect the fundamental change in how the
Council must work, plan, and deliver in the future. This change will be
enabled through re-organising ourselves and making sure we have the right
skills in the right places. It will ensure that the Council is better placed, with
our partners, to be able to deliver on what residents need, to develop
innovative and improved models for delivering services and achieving the
outcomes which residents want.
It is proposed that the framework of new operating model will consist of three
main functions:
The Strategic Hub, which will have overall accountability for the leadership,
direction and effective delivery of the strategic plan and related delivery
plans. The Strategic Hub will work closely with the Leader, Cabinet, Chief
Executive and Senior Leadership Team to establish and monitor the key
strategic priorities for Wirral. This will involve researching, analysing and
communicating data, intelligence and insight to support evidence-led policy
development and decision-making. It will enable key stakeholder and partner
engagement through building relationships and working collaboratively to
maximise opportunities for Wirral.
The Business Change function will enable the effective and efficient
functioning of the Council and the services it commissions. It will include key
support functions such as legal, finance and human resources: providing high
level technical and professional advice and programme and project
management to ensure effective and efficient business transformation and
greater commercial awareness.
The Delivery function will lead on designing, negotiating and implementing

appropriate delivery options for a range of services, in order to drive major
improvements and efficiencies, promote innovation and improve customer
experience. As part of this work some services will be re-organised and
grouped with other services with shared outcomes. It will work with the
Strategic Hub to identify, evaluate and develop commercial opportunities.
The Council’s emerging plan for a new operating model was shared with the
LGA challenge team who concluded that it was an appropriate model and
endorsed the view that a strengthened transformation capability, a move from
short term financial planning to long term alignment of resources to pledges,
and an operating model with appropriate capacity, would support the
Administration to deliver change. The Peer Review team also highlighted the
strength and potential of the Wirral Partnership, and reinforced the
Partnership’s view that joining up the public sector, in terms of maximizing
resources, and sharing expertise and services, is particularly important to the
future of public services.
New business models will enable long term sustainable services for Wirral.
The delivery options which will be developed for Council services will embody
quality, efficiency, local employment, equality and diversity. They will drive an
efficient, commercial and value-driven approach to public services. One size
will not fit all; each model will be individually developed and evaluated in line
with these principles, which have been provided in full at Appendix 1, and will
guide the organisation in our approach to the design of new models, as well
as aid elected members in their democratic engagement in the process.
Delivering our plans will require a change in culture. We must think and
behave differently and change our approach to successfully transition to new
ways of working. This also requires a new model of involvement and
engagement with a clear, shared understanding and purpose at all levels of
the organisation. Our staff will play a critical part in shaping the new ways of
working and in developing an understanding the new competencies required,
in order for them to play a constructive role in the new operating model.
The proposed changes to the Council’s operating model will involve changes
to some roles and a re-organisation of some services over a period of time.
The Chief Executive will therefore need to consult with employees who are
potentially affected and identify the support required for those staff.
A report with a proposed management and organisational structure to support
the new operating model will be detailed in the report on the operating model
to be considered at a future meeting of the Employment and Appointments
Committee when this work is finalised.
4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications arising from this report. Any financial
implications related to the new operating model will be detailed in the report on
the operating model to be considered at a future meeting of the Employment
and Appointments Committee.

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Any legal implications related to the new operating model will be detailed in
the report on the operating model to be considered at a future meeting of the
Employment and Appointments Committee.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS
Any resource implications related to the new operating model will be detailed
in the report on the operating model to be considered at a future meeting of
the Employment and Appointments Committee.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS
The Council is required to consult with the Trade Unions and affected staff on
proposed changes to role and responsibilities, structures and services.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
Affected staff and the Trade Unions will be consulted on the proposed
changes to the Council’s operating model. Feedback from consultation will be
detailed in the report on the operating model to be considered at a future
meeting of the Employment and Appointments Committee.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
An EIA will be undertaken on the new operating model. This will be detailed in
the report to on the operating model to be considered at a future meeting of
the Employment and Appointments Committee.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Eric Robinson
Chief Executive
telephone: (0151) 691 8589
email: ericrobinson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
REFERENCE MATERIAL
N/A
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

APPENDIX 1 - PRINCIPLES FOR SERVICE MODELS – POLICY & ETHICAL
Principle

Evaluation

Achieves the ambition and vision set out in the Must be able to demonstrably deliver Wirral Plan
Wirral Plan and associated pledges
pledges.
Achieves improved
residents, businesses

outcomes

for

Wirral Measurable outcomes linked to the Pledges and
Strategies

Service design reflects the views of residents, Appropriate
level of consultation; use of
businesses
published material e.g. customer insight
Delivers savings or reduces the burden to the Achieve savings / reduce operating costs for the
Council’s net revenue funding
Council / or reduce demand
Council retains robust accountability and Appropriate governance/ contract management
governance arrangements
arrangements are in place.

Resilience and flexibility to emerging issues in Ability to respond to changing statutory duties/
service delivery
future opportunities for service delivery
Ability to adjust in a timely manner to political
direction/legislative or procedural changes.
Partners and local businesses believe the Regular engagement takes place with partners
Council is easy to do business with
and local businesses to develop joined-upapproach.
Promotes equality and diversity

Promotes equality and diversity amongst its
residents and workforce through undertaking
robust equality impact assessment.

Impact on employment and the local economy

Availability of
opportunities.

training

Secures commitment
employment.

to

and

development

sustainable

local

METHODOLOGY PRINCIPLES – BUSINESS & COMMERCIAL
Principle
The application
methodology

of

an

Evaluation
agreed

business

Evidence of commercial expertise
Risk appetite proportionate to the case

Compliance with legislation

Adherence to Gateway Process - outline
business case; option appraisal; full business
case
Where there is a market, any in-house bid
demonstrates how it would be competitive.
In many cases, small delivery units with low
costs offer much lower risks than high cost
personal services. This should be accounted for
in the Gateway and project management
reporting arrangements
Assurances should be sought from professional
/technical experts in the field, quoting the
relevant sources of law and statutory guidance

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016

WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY

COUNCILLOR CHRIS JONES
Councillor Chris Jones, Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care and Public Health,
said:
“Our ambition is to empower and enable our residents so that they can live healthy,
independent lives in strong and vibrant communities where they feel safe and are safe.
We want this for all of our disabled residents regardless of where they live in Wirral, and
we want to recognise the contribution that they make to our local communities.
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: It is our aim to support more people with
disabilities to increase their independence and access to work, education and
volunteering”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve outcomes
for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Plan are
underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the All Age Disability Strategy; a key strategic document
which describes ambitions related to the Wirral Plan People Priority:
“Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets a good
start in life and older residents are respected and valued”.
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the All Age Disability Strategy, which is appended to this
report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The All Age Disability Strategy has been developed to deliver the Wirral Plan pledge
for ‘People with disabilities live independently’.

1.2

The Strategy has been developed with people with disabilities and their Carers,
partners and stakeholders to ensure that there has been extensive engagement in the
development of the Strategy and its priority areas.

1.3

The Strategy has also been shared with the All Age Disability Partnership Board, who
will be responsible for monitoring the implementation of the Strategy.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full Council on
13 July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners from the public, private
and third sectors.

3.2

The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; pledge six under the people
theme is for people with disabilities to live independently in Wirral and sets out the
following commitment:
‘It is our aim to support more people with disabilities to increase their
independence and access to work, education and volunteering’

3.3

This is the first All Age Disability Strategy for Wirral and its purpose is to positively
improve the lives of disabled residents in Wirral, ensuring that disabled people are
able to fully contribute to developments, lead their own lives and be economically
independent and celebrating the contribution they make to our community

3.4

The Strategy has been developed through consultation with people with disabilities,
Carers, health and social care professionals, and other stakeholders. It has been
agreed by the All Age Disability Partnership Board, and this group will monitor the
implementation of the Strategy. The actions will be delivered over the course of the
five year Strategy. The Strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis with regular
performance reporting taking place through appropriate governance arrangements.

3.5

We have identified three priorities which this Strategy will achieve, to improve the lives
of everyone in Wirral with a disability;




All people with disabilities are well and live healthy lives
All young people and adults with disabilities have access to employment and are
financially resilient
All people with disabilities have choice and control over their lives

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

It is recognised that Wirral has a significant number of disabled people who do not
access social care services and live independently within their local communities. The
All Age Disability Strategy will see the public, private and voluntary sectors working
ever more closely together to ensure that disabled people in Wirral are able to have a
positive experience as they grow and develop and ensure they are supported to live
independently, accessing additional care and help only when they need it.

4.2

As projects to deliver the Strategy are developed the financial implications will be
identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to deliver
the Strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part of the project
plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The All Age Disability Strategy will be implemented in partnership within existing
staffing resources. Any additional resource requirements will be identified as a detailed
delivery plan is developed.

7.0

RELEVANT

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The All Age Disability Strategy was developed after a number of consultation sessions
in September and October 2015. These sessions included people with disabilities and
their Carers, health and social care professionals from Children’s and Adults services,
partners and other stakeholders through the development of the Strategy.

8.2

A further stakeholder event took place in November 2015 and the feedback from the
event was included in the final draft of the Strategy.

8.3

The draft Strategy has been presented to the All Age Disability Partnership Board; the
membership of this board includes a range of stakeholders from people with
disabilities, Carers, professionals Children’s and Adults health and social care services
and other stakeholders.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments

REPORT AUTHOR:

Graham Hodkinson
(Director of Adult Social Services)
telephone: (0151 666 3650)
email: grahamhodkinson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – All Age Disability Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the Strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY:
PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES
LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

2

1.0 FOREWORD

4

2.0 INTRODUCTION

6

3.0 HOW HAS THIS STRATEGY BEEN DEVELOPED?

8

4.0 WHAT WE KNOW

10

5.0 OUR PRIORITIES

12

5.1 Priority One - All people with disabilities are well and live healthy lives

13

5.2 P
 riority Two - Young people and adults with disabilities have access to employment
and are financially resilient

16

5.3 Priority Three - All people with disabilities have choice and control over their lives

18

6.0 HOW WE WILL DELIVER THIS STRATEGY

20

7.0 CONCLUSION

26

8.0 STEERING GROUP MEMBERS

27

9.0 SUPPORTING DELIVERY OF THIS STRATEGY

28

9.0 REFERENCES

29

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

1.0 FOREWORD

Councillor Chris Jones Cabinet Member – Adult Social Care & Public Health
I believe that living with a disability should
never be a barrier to living a full, independent
and successful life. We all have a moral
imperative to make sure those Wirral residents
with disabilities, their families and carers, are
supported, empowered and enabled to live
their lives to the full.
To help us get there, I am proud to present
Wirral’s All Age Disability Strategy. A first of
its kind for Wirral, this partnership strategy
has been produced to set out a clear plan for
how people with a disability can be supported
to improve their lives, their aspirations and
their achievements no matter their age
or background.
An estimated 68,000 residents in Wirral have
some form of disability: each and every one of
those residents deserves to be able to access
the support they need as they grow up, develop
their skills and deal with life’s challenges and
opportunities. This partnership strategy will
help us to support them on their journey,
making sure they can live independently and
that they are inspired to aim higher; accessing
additional care as and when they need it.
Our goal with this strategy is to remove barriers
for all types of disabilities, and to change our
approach so that everything we do is focussed
on the person; making sure they have the
support they need throughout their lives to
enable them to live their life to the full. It’s about
being more joined up – across the partnership
and all types of services – to ensure better
provision of support. It’s also about making sure
people are not categorised by age, by where
they live or by their type of disability.
The strategy is about people; of all ages,
abilities and backgrounds; it is about all types
of disability and how people can be supported
to achieve their full potential.
4

This strategy has been developed to
celebrate disabled people and create more
opportunities for them to share their
knowledge and experience, making a full
contribution to the communities in which they
live. We know that when people are supported
to develop their skills and pursue their
interests, they are able to better manage their
own lives, be independent and secure
emotionally, physically and financially.
Through a series of workshops and events
people with disabilities from Wirral have told
us what is important to them, and what they
want us to change and improve. They have
told us what their priorities are, and how they
want to make sure they are active citizens, with
the same choices and opportunities available
to all residents.
Being disabled should never be a barrier to
living a full life. I am proud that through the
work of this strategy, that statement will be
true in Wirral.
I encourage you to read this strategy and to
get involved in helping us to create a Wirral
that celebrates disabled people for the
fantastic contribution they make in our
communities, and enables us to take a range
of positive actions to further improve their
lives and experiences.

Signature

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2.0 INTRODUCTION

To deliver this strategy we will work with residents
and a wide range of public, voluntary and
community sector organisations to achieve the
Pledge committed to in the Wirral Plan;
It is our aim to support more people with
disabilities to increase their independence and to
gain access to work, education and volunteering.
To do this we are listening to people with
disabilities to fully understand their needs
and aspirations, how to best support them to
be ready for work and to access employment
opportunities over the next five years.

6

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

To deliver on our Pledge we must listen to people and fully understand
their support needs and the best ways that these can be met.

A disability is defined as ‘a physical or mental
impairment that has a ‘substantial’ and
‘long -term’ negative effect on a person’s
ability to do normal daily activities’1. This
strategy is for all people in Wirral who have any
form of disability, their families and carers, with
the emphasis on people being able to sustain
their own health, build on their strengths and
have their needs met in the best way, within their
local communities where possible.
We have identified three priorities
which this strategy will achieve,
to improve the lives of everyone
in Wirral with a disability:
• All people with disabilities are well and
live healthy lives
•A
 ll young people and adults with disabilities
have access to employment and are
financially resilient
•A
 ll people with disabilities have choice
and control over their lives

Our Vision
By 2020 we want to support disabled people of
all ages and their families to live, independent
and happy lives, playing a full and active part in
their communities.
Our Approach
Our approach will be focussed on improving
people’s lives, focussed on breaking down
barriers for people and between agencies and
services, and on making sure people’s
happiness, aspirations and achievements are
never limited due to a disability.
A person centred approach is about ensuring
people have experiences they value:

developing relationships, making choices,
contributing, having valued roles and sharing
ordinary places.2 These valued experiences are
created by people’s own efforts and the efforts
of friends, family, community members and
service providers in ensuring community
participation, promoting choice, supporting
contribution, encouraging valued social roles
and community presence.
As informed through our engagement
work, the partnership recognises that:
All disabled people and their families should
have access to high quality information, advice
and universal services to enable them to live as
full and happy life as possible.
Most disabled people need prevention and
early help at some point in their lives. This
should be provided in the most seamless and
holistic way possible through further integration
and partnership working.
Some people need intervention through
specialist or statutory services. Where this
support is required this should be delivered in
new, innovative ways to meet need, achieving
better outcomes for disabled people and their
families and provide good value for money.

Implicit to this strategy is the
vital role that carers play in
enabling disabled people in
Wirral to live within the
community and lead fulfilling
lives and that it is everybody’s
business to ensure that all
vulnerable people in Wirral
are safeguarded from harm.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3.0 HOW HAS
THIS STRATEGY
BEEN DEVELOPED?

8

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

In 2015 we held a range of
events with different groups
of people; their views were
recorded, discussed and shared.
This ensured that the voice of
disabled people, their families
and carers drove the priorities
within this strategy.

This strategy has also been developed in
consultation with health and social care
professionals, and a range of public, voluntary
and community sector organisations, including
care and support providers.
The All Age Disability Partnership Board, who
meet on a regular basis and will be responsible
for the delivery of the strategy, have overseen
the strategy throughout development and
ensured that all of the insight from
consultation has been taken into
consideration. Current membership of the
partnership board is outlined within Section 8
of this document.
It is envisaged that the membership of this
board will be expanded over the life of the
strategy to ensure that all partners who can
contribute to the delivery of the key priorities
are included.
The main focus in developing this strategy has
been to ensure that disabled people in Wirral,
and the organisations and people who
support them, have shaped the key priority
areas and support the work that will take place
in order to achieve them.

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4.0 WHAT WE KNOW

10

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

THERE ARE AROUND
40,340 INFORMAL CARERS

THE PREVALENCE
OF DISABILITY
RISES WITH AGE.

PROVIDING SUPPORT FOR DISABLED PEOPLE IN
WIRRAL INCLUDING YOUNG CARERS WHO LOOK
AFTER DISABLED PARENTS/RELATIVES. 5

6% OF CHILDREN ARE DISABLED,
COMPARED TO 16% OF WORKING AGE ADULTS
AND 45% OF ADULTS OVER STATE PENSION AGE.

NATIONALLY, AROUND

3

BY 2030 IT IS ESTIMATED THAT AROUND

64,000 ADULTS
(18+) IN WIRRAL
WILL HAVE SOME
FORM OF LIMITING
LONG TERM ILLNESS
OR DISABILITY
THAT WOULD BE AROUND

ACCORDING TO THE LABOUR FORCE SURVEY,
DISABLED PEOPLE ARE NOW MORE LIKELY TO BE
EMPLOYED THAN THEY WERE IN 2002, BUT

DISABLED
PEOPLE REMAIN
SIGNIFICANTLY
LESS LIKELY TO BE
IN EMPLOYMENT
THAN NONDISABLED PEOPLE3.

1 IN 4 OF

THE PROJECTED ADULT POPULATION.4

THE EMPLOYMENT RATE OF PEOPLE AGED

16-64 WHO ARE EQUALITY ACT CORE OR WORK
LIMITING DISABLED IN WIRRAL IS CURRENTLY

37.5% COMPARED TO
49.8% NATIONALLY.6

IN WIRRAL,

66.7% OF PEOPLE
WITH A LONG TERM
CONDITION FEEL
SUPPORTED TO MANAGE
THEIR CONDITION
COMPARED TO AN ALL-ENGLAND FIGURE OF

PEOPLE IN WIRRAL WITH A LONG TERM
HEALTH CONDITION, ON AVERAGE,

HAVE A LOWER
QUALITY OF LIFE SCORE
WHEN COMPARED TO
THE REST OF ENGLAND.7

64.6%7

DISABLED PEOPLE ARE
SIGNIFICANTLY MORE
LIKELY TO BE VICTIMS
OF CRIME THAN NONDISABLED PEOPLE.
THIS GAP IS LARGEST AMONGST 16-34 YEAR-OLDS
WHERE

39% OF DISABLED PEOPLE REPORTED

HAVING BEEN A VICTIM OF CRIME COMPARED
TO

28% OF NON-DISABLED PEOPLE .
3

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.0 OUR PRIORITIES

12

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

5.1	Priority One - All people with
disabilities are well and live
healthy lives
Disabled People told us it is
important that they have the same
opportunities as everyone else to
live a happy life with the best possible
health outcomes.

People with disabilities are often more
vulnerable than the general population.
Some people are more likely to suffer abuse
and neglect, as well as be bullied and suffer
hate crime.
We want all disabled people in Wirral to be
protected from crime, abuse and neglect,
and care should always be given with dignity
and respect.
What do we already know?

Where support is required by statutory or
specialist services, this should be provided in
a seamless and holistic way no matter what
stage in life support is required. It is also
important that carers in Wirral are properly
supported to ensure that they have a good
quality of life and are able to maintain their
vital caring role.
Children, young people, adults and older
people with disabilities should have equal
access to health services, with prompt support
from high quality specialist services, where
required, to improve health outcomes and
reduce health inequalities. Early advice,
information and support are important for
parents with a disabled baby or toddler to
ensure the best possible start in life. This may
include, for example, social work intervention,
where needed, signposting to relevant support
agencies and organisations, childcare or
respite provision. Effective ‘Early Help’ will
resolve problems before they become
overwhelming and require high cost, reactive
services.

•

Wirral Council Social Services provide long
term support to around 4208 adults and
children in Wirral with physical, sensory
and learning disabilities, mainly through
community based services but also
through nursing and residential care;

•

151 disabled people in Wirral are
supported in residential placements;

•

In the UK, 1.9 million households contain at
least 1 person who feel that their condition
means that they require some form of
adaptation to their home8;

•

Disabled people are significantly more
likely to be victims of crime than nondisabled people. National data suggests
that this gap is largest amongst 16-34
year-olds where 39% of disabled people
reported having been a victim of crime
compared to 28% of non-disabled people3.

The range of housing options available for
disabled people can sometimes be limited. By
working together with partners in the public
and private sector we can identify
opportunities to enable disabled people to
have more choice and control over where they
want to live, including the opportunity to live as
tenants or own their own homes.

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What have we been told by disabled
people, their families, carers and
organisations who support them?
Children with disabilities should have the best
start in life, including access to:
•

a range of inclusive play opportunities

•

good quality, affordable public transport;
and

•

good quality day care and Early Year’s
opportunities.

All people with disabilities should:
•

have access to good and timely healthcare;

•

be safe, and feel safe, in their communities;

•

have access to housing that is appropriate
to their needs; and

•

receive respectful and dignified end of
life care.

There should be a lead commissioner who is
accountable for delivering the ambitious
programme of change over the next few years
and help ensure consistency and remove
artificial age related barriers.

How are we going to get there?
Further work will take place to get a better
picture of disability in Wirral and what it means
to people to be disabled. This will help to
ensure effective and appropriate provision of
support across the borough; we will therefore
work as a partnership to develop and agree a
robust method of capturing this data from the
variety of sources available to us.
We will provide more seamless and holistic
support to disabled people and their families,
put in place an all age integrated disability
service in Wirral and explore further
opportunities for better sharing of information
between all agencies.
We will work with partners to ensure that all
commissioned and non-commissioned
services and activities are provided in the
advice and support offer to disabled people,
their families and carers.
We will ensure that housing options for
disabled people are enhanced through the
delivery of additional extra care homes and
increasing the use of equipment and
adaptations to enable people to remain
independent. We will also continue to work
with the most vulnerable clients to ensure that
they can access the most appropriate housing
to meet their needs.
Explore the feasibility of appointing a lead
commissioner for disabled people who is
accountable for delivering the ambitious
programme of change over the next few years
and help ensure consistency and remove
artificial age related barriers throughout the
support offer.

14

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

To support carers to maintain their quality of
life and their vital caring role, we will work in
partnership to develop innovative ways to
continue provision of short breaks and respite
placements for children and adults, and ensure
close links with the delivery board for the
Carers Strategy.
We will link with the Early Help Strategic Board,
to strengthen the early help offer for parents
of children diagnosed with a physical, sensory
or learning disability, the Community Safety
Partnership, to explore ways to support people
with disabilities to report incidences of hate
crime, and with the ‘Domestic Abuse and
Harmful Practices Steering Group’, to develop
initiatives to further ensure that people with
disabilities are protected from harm, as far
as possible.
How will we measure if we are getting
this right?
•

There will be an improvement in the health
related quality of life for people with long
term conditions (NHS Outcomes
Framework)

•

There will be an improvement in the quality
of support provided to children with
disabilities (Survey to be developed to
capture this)

•

300 new extra care housing scheme
placements will be developed by
March 2020

Case Study –
Living Independently
Stuart, Ryan, Jonathan and Steve* have
learning disabilities and became firm
friends when they met in residential
college. When they finished college they
were keen to move on to accommodation
that would maximise their independence
and allow them to maintain their
close friendship.
Through close working with a social
landlord, two houses were found located
next to each other which could
accommodate the four friends. This living
situation has meant that the daily support
they require can be shared between them
which has significantly reduced the cost
when compared to living alone or in
a residential placement, but has also
meant that their independence and
quality of life can be maximised.
The young men are now settled in their
accommodation, have developed their
daily living and social skills, and with their
new found independence , are enjoying
living and contributing to their
local community.
* Names changed to protect identity

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.2	Priority Two - Young people and
adults with disabilities have
access to employment and are
financially resilient
People with disabilities have told us
they should have the same access
to education and work as all citizens
in the community. Many people with
disabilities are seen as a ‘client’ or
someone who needs help; this can
sometimes mean that employers do
not see their potential as a positive
contributor to their organisation.
Everyone has a unique contribution
to make and when this unique
contribution is recognised people
will feel, and be valued.
We will work as a partnership to support
disabled people, from an early age, to be
recognised for their unique contribution, rather
than just their disability, and be offered the
choice to pursue their own goals and interests,
which should in turn lead to an increase in
attainment and the rate of disabled people in
employment.
Volunteering is a fantastic way to connect
people with their communities, increase skills
and confidence and can often lead to
employment. The partnership will continue
to develop suitable volunteering opportunities
in Wirral and support people to find the
right one.
What do we already know?
•

16

According to the Labour Force Survey, at a
national level disabled people are now
more likely to be employed than they were
in 2002, but disabled people remain
significantly less likely to be in employment
than non-disabled people3

•

Around 5.5% of the Wirral Council
workforce have some form of disability

•

Disabled people are around 3 times as
likely not to hold any qualifications

compared to non-disabled people, and
around half as likely to hold a degree-level
qualification;9
•

Nationally, around 19.2% of working age
disabled people do not hold any formal
qualification, compared to 6.5% of working
age non-disabled people and 14.9% of
working age disabled people hold degreelevel qualifications compared to 28.1% of
working age non-disabled people3

•

At a National level, disabled people are less
likely to engage in formal volunteering. In
2010 to 2011, 23% of disabled people
engaged in formal volunteering at least
once a month, compared with 25% of
non-disabled people3

•

In Wirral there are a significantly greater
proportion of children with a Statement of
Educational Need (SEN) educated in special
schools when compared to the rest of
England – in 2014 63% of pupils with a SEN
in Wirral attended a special school,
compared to 45% in England as a whole.

How are we going to get there?
We will consider innovative, collaborative
approaches to enable more disabled people
to access employment – including working
in collaboration with Jobcentre plus and
local employers. This will include mapping out
and promoting the support that is available to
support organisations when employing people
with disabilities.
We will ensure that as we commission future
services across the partnership, it is a priority
requirement within the service specification
to identify opportunities for disabled people
to access mainstream employment.
We will ensure that there is a focus on
employment and volunteering within the
Annual Review for Young People with
disabilities in schools from year 9 onwards and
within the assessment, support and care
planning process for disabled adults,
where appropriate.

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

How will we measure if we are getting
this right?
•

Employment rate aged 16-64 - EA core or
work-limiting disabled

•

Indicator/s around educational attainment
for people with disabilities
(to be developed)

•

The number of people with a disability
who express an interest in volunteering
and the number who then go on to be
placed (to be developed with Community
Action Wirral).

Case Study –
Best Bites
Best Bites offers a unique service to adults
with learning disabilities, physical
disabilities or mental health issues to gain
skills, knowledge and qualifications in a real
working environment. The training facility
provides a two year placement and initially
started as Beaconsfield Executive
Sandwich Traders in 2007. Due to its
success Best Bites expanded in March
2010 into an innovative restaurant
provider.

Tasks were broken down to enable Bill to
gain knowledge, skills and the theory
behind his work. When Bill became
frustrated the team used coaching and
mentoring skills to enable him to develop
techniques to help him overcome these
issues. As Bill’s confidence and enthusiasm
increased, he worked alongside the Best
Bites team in organising outside catering
and hospitality and can now adapt to any
social setting with support from staff.

Bill* is a 50-year-old man who was
supported by day services and living in
semi-supported accommodation. With
limited social contacts, Bill wanted to
increase his circle of friends and be more
independent but had a quiet disposition
and lacked confidence in social and work
environments.

Bill completed the Food and Beverage NVQ
Level 1, including Food Hygiene to meet
the standards of ‘Good Food Better
Practice’ and to meet the standards of the
Food Standards Agency. He was then
supported to explore suitable employment
venues to meet his needs, and to develop
interview skills. Bill was successful in
gaining a position and now works in a
community café on a part-time paid basis.

With support from the Best Bites team to
develop his skills, Bill began to work in the
kitchen as part of a team. He was soon
interacting with his colleagues and
developing good relationships.

* Name changed to protect identity

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.3	Priority Three - All people with
disabilities have choice and control
over their lives
Disabled people, their families and
carers have told us that they should
have choice and control over how
they live, learn, work and play and
have the same opportunities as
everyone else in their community.

Disability shouldn’t define who someone is –
a disabled person should have the same
opportunity to pursue their interests as
everyone else. Even if there is an extensive list
of service provision and activities to choose
from, a list is still restrictive as everyone is
unique and will have their own unique goals
and interests.
The more that people with disabilities can
share common typical space with others, the
more they are known for the individual they
are, instead of being seen as part of a group of
disabled people. More often than not people
with disabilities are limited to relationships of
circumstance and often, those “circumstances”
are narrowed down to one small aspect of
their personhood: disability.
The current service offer can often mean that
people with disabilities only socialise in groups
of other people with disabilities, only have
relationships with other people with
disabilities, only play sports with other people
with disabilities etc. We need to work as a
partnership to help people to expand their
relationships beyond “disability”. We all have
some relationships of circumstance, like those
we have with neighbours, co-workers and
family, but the very best relationships are often
those we choose or happen into.10

18

What do we already know?
•

Nationally, over 1 in 4 disabled people say
that they frequently do not have choice
and control over their daily lives;3

•

Nationally, 75% of adults with an
impairment experience barriers to using
transport, compared to 60% of adults
without impairment. The 4 transport types
included in the study are: motor vehicles
(44%), local buses (52%), long distance
trains (51%), and taxis/minicabs (43%). Cost
is the most common barrier to transport in
all transport types.11

What have we been told by disabled
people, their families, carers and
organisations who support them?
All people with disabilities should be able to
make choices and have control of their lives if
they want to.
People with disabilities should have access to
opportunities in their communities which
enable them to make friends, have fun and
pursue their interests.
People with disabilities and their families need
to have a stronger voice.
How are we going to get there?
•

To ensure choice and control in their care
and support, we will increase the number
of disabled people accessing personal
budgets, personal health budgets and
direct payments.

•

To help improve value for money for
people with personal budgets, work will
take place to reduce the current disparity
in charging that has been identified
between children and adult support
services. We will also explore opportunities
for disabled people in receipt of personal
budgets to pool their funds, if they would
like to, to enable them to take part in a
wider range of activities, hobbies and
leisure as a group to increase social
interaction.

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

•

•

We will work in partnership with disabled
people, their families and carers to ensure
that they play an active part in influencing
the planning, commissioning and delivery
of services and strengthen self-advocacy.
The partnership board will link with the
delivery board for the Aging Well in Wirral
Strategy and Merseytravel to explore
opportunities through the step programme
to improve access to transport and
maximise the benefits of the scheme. Work
will also take place as a partnership to
reduce the barriers to disabled people
getting out and about in their communities
on foot, for example looking at innovative
ways to redesign the use of street furniture
to support people with sensory
impairments, etc.

How we will measure if we’re getting
it right?
•

Take up of personalised budgets by
children and adults in Wirral (Wirral Council
and Wirral CCG)

•

Indicator to be developed to capture
perceptions of choice and control

•

The number of ‘Disability Go’ venue
accessibility audits completed in Wirral
Case Study –
Active All Sports Leisure Programme
The Active All Sport Leisure Programme
(AASLP) is part of the Wirral Sport
Development Unit. The programme
provides sport and leisure activities for
children and young people aged 5-25 years
who have a range of disabilities. From
April 2013 – April 2015 the programme
supported over 520 children and
young people.
One of the main aims of the programme
is to improve relationships with sports
clubs and other providers creating

participation pathways, increasing
integration and embedding equality.
The sessions offer a mixture of sports
and leisure activities with the aim of
developing fundamental physical skills,
self-esteem and confidence, greater
independence, reduced social isolation
and overall improvements in the health
and wellbeing of participants.
Joe* has been attending the Active All
Sports Programme since 2011. When Joe
first accessed the programme he was
very quiet and shy and his mum often
described him as having very little or no
confidence. Joe insisted on his mum
staying with him throughout all activities
and sessions and struggled to mix
socially. Members of staff discussed Joe’s
difficulties with his parents and developed
ways to help him feel at ease during the
sessions. Joe’s confidence gradually
increased and eventually he felt
comfortable with his mum leaving him
alone at the sessions and made a number
of friends. Joe is now a volunteer for the
programme; assisting with delivery tasks
and on other Sports Development
Projects. He is also due to start his
Duke of Edinburgh Award.
Feedback from Joe’s Mum: “Joe loves
attending the Saturday session and the
holiday programmes. He looks forward to
coming and his confidence has improved
so much. He is a happier child because of
the programme. He is doing better in
school as he communicates better with
teachers and socially interacts more with
the children in his class. He has developed
as lovely friendship group through the
programme and also socialises with these
friends outside of the sessions and out
of school. I am so thrilled with his
progress and we truly appreciate the work
of the team and their fight for inclusion
for our kids.”
* Name changed to protect identity

19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.0 HOW WE WILL DELIVER THIS STRATEGY

The ‘All Age Disability’ Strategy provides a clear
overarching framework for partners to work
collectively and make a real difference in each
of the key priority areas. As outlined in the
introduction section there will be a number of
strategies linked to this which focus on the more
specialist activities required to support people
with specific types of disability.
The All Age Disability Partnership Board will have
overall responsibility for further developing and
delivering upon the actions outlined within this
strategy. The actions that have been identified
throughout this strategy are outlined within
section 6.1 below. An annual review of the
strategy will take place assessing progress on
each of the actions and reporting outcomes that
have been achieved through the delivery of this
strategy using the performance data outlined in
section 6.2.

20

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

6.1 Action Plan
Action											

By When

Priority One: Children, young people, adults and older people
with disabilities are well and live healthy lives
Work as a partnership to develop and agree a robust method of
capturing data around the prevalence of disability in Wirral 				

March 2017

Implement an All Age Integrated Disability Service in Wirral				

April 2017

Explore opportunities for better sharing of information between all
agencies in the partnership to provide more seamless and holistic
support to disabled people and their families						

Sept 2016

Work with partners to ensure all commissioned and non-commissioned
services and activities are provided in advice and support offer			

Dec 2016

Explore the feasibility of appointing a lead commissioner for disabled people		

Dec 2016

Explore innovative ways to maintain provision of shorts breaks and
respite placements for children and adults with disabilities				

Sept 2016

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Action											

By When

Priority Two: Young people and adults with disabilities have access
to employment and are financially resilient

22

Work with local employers (including all organisations within the partnership)
to consider innovative collaborative approaches to increase the local provision
for training and work opportunities and to enable more disabled people to
access employment. To include mapping out and promoting the support
that is available to support organisations when employing people
with disabilities. 								

To be
reviewed
annually

Ensure that as part of the procurement of future services across the
partner organisations in Wirral, it is a priority requirement within the
service specification to identify opportunities for disabled people to
access mainstream employment

To be
reviewed
annually

Ensure that there is a focus on employment and volunteering within the 		
Annual Review for Young People with disabilities in schools from 		
Year 9 onwards (Education, Health and Care Plan)					

March 2017

Assessment and Care Planning process for disabled people to consider 		
participation in employment and / or volunteering as a key outcome,
where appropriate									

March 2017

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

Action											

By When

Priority Three: Children, young people and adults with disabilities
have choice and control over their lives
Explore an approach to reducing the disparity in charging between children
and adult support services 								

March 2017

Work in partnership with disabled people, their families and carers to
To be
ensure that they play an active part in influencing the planning,
reviewed
commissioning and delivery of services							annually
Explore opportunities for disabled people in receipt of personal budgets
to pool their funds to enable them to take part in a wider range of activities,
hobbies and leisure together and increase social interaction 				

March 2017

We will strengthen self-advocacy to ensure that disabled people have a
strong voice in how services are developed and delivered locally			

Sept 2017

Work as a partnership to explore innovative ways to remove barriers to
people getting out and about in Wirral, particularly for people with
mobility issues and sensory impairments. Areas of focus to include;

To be
reviewed
annually

• Design of street furniture
•A
 ccessibility of shops, restaurants and public buildings such as
community centres and hospitals

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.2 How will we know if we are getting it right?
The following performance data will be monitored through the life of the strategy
to help to determine whether we are ‘getting it right’ and improving outcomes
in line with our key priorities.
These measures will be included within the annual review of the strategy and monitored
by the partnership board on a regular basis.
Indicator							

Baseline

Priority One: Children, young people, adults and older people
with disabilities are well and live healthy lives
Proportion of people with long term conditions who feel
supported to manage their condition				

Wirral 66.7%
England 64.4%

Health related quality of life for people with long
		
term conditions						

Wirral 0.698
England 0.743

The number of additional extra care homes available 		
in Wirral						

Target - 300 by 2020

New measure around quality of life/support for children
and young people with disabilities				

To be developed and baseline 		
established during 2016-17

					

24

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

Indicator

Baseline

Priority Two: Young people and adults with disabilities have access
to employment and are financially resilient
Employment Rate aged 16-64 –
EA Core or Work Limiting Disabled

Wirral 37.5%
England 49.8%

Key Stage 4 5+ A*-C including English & Maths for
pupils with Statements of SEN

Wirral 2014– 6.3%
England 2014 - 8.0%

New measure around the introduction of Progress
8 attainment specifically for FSM / CLA / SEN

Available from 2017 onwards

Indicator

Baseline

Priority Three: Children, young people and adults with disabilities
have choice and control over their lives
Indicator to be developed around perceptions
of choice and control (all ages)

To be developed and baseline
established during 2016-17

Take up of Personalised budgets
(including personal health budgets)

Baseline established during 2016-17

The number of ‘Disabled Go’ venue accessibility
audits completed in Wirral

Target to complete 700 audits in Wirral
by Sept 2017

25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

7.0 CONCLUSION

Throughout the development of
this strategy we have engaged with people
with disabilities, their carers, professionals,
and a range of public, voluntary and
community sector organisations, including
care and support providers, to ensure that
the actions we will undertake over the next 5
years will genuinely improve the lives of
residents in Wirral with disabilities.
We will continue our engagement with various
stakeholders throughout the life of this
strategy to ensure that the priorities
and action plan remain relevant.
The partnership approach outlined
throughout this document will be key to
delivering our priorities despite the continuing
pressure on budgets throughout the public
sector.

26

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

8.0 STEERING GROUP MEMBERS

As outlined in Section 3, the All Age Disability
Partnership Board will lead on the delivery of
this strategy. Membership of this board is likely
to be expanded throughout the life of the
strategy to ensure that all partners who can

contribute to the delivery of the key priorities
are included. Current membership of the
Board includes disabled people, parents and
carers alongside representatives of the
following organisations;

27

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

9.0 SUPPORTING DELIVERY OF THIS STRATEGY

Work to deliver the Wirral Plan Pledges is
being carried out jointly across the
partnership with projects identified in other
Pledge strategies clearly linked to disabled
people. Throughout this document reference
is made to areas of work that link to other
Wirral Strategies.
Further strategies will also be developed to meet the
more specialist needs of various groups of disabled people,
such as people with autism and people with learning
disabilities. The following strategies have already been
written or are currently being produced. This is not the
definitive list and more strategies will be included as they
are defined and developed:
• All Age Autism Strategy
• All Age Joint Learning Disability Strategy
• Transition Strategy
• Children and Young People’s Strategy
• Mental Health Strategy
• Sensory Impairment Commissioning Strategy
• Special Educational Needs and Disability Strategy

28

ALL AGE DISABILITY STRATEGY: PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

9.0 REFERENCES

1 Equality Act 2010: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents accessed 18/2/2016
2 	O’Brien, J. (1989): What’s worth working for? Leadership for Better Quality Human Services;
http://www.inclusion.com/downloads/obrienarchive/System%20Change%20and%20
Leadership/What’s%20Worth%20Working%20For.pdf accessed 18/2/2016
3 	Department for Work and Pensions (2014) and Office for Disability Issues (2014):
Disability Facts and Figures https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-andfigures/disability-facts-and-figures#disability-prevalence-estimates accessed 18/2/2016
4 	Institute of Public Care (2015): Projecting Older People Population Information;
http://www.poppi.org.uk/ accessed 18/2/2016
5 	 Wirral Council (2015): Internal data provided by Social Services
6 	Office for National Statistics (2015): Employment Figures;
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/datasets-and-tables/index.html accessed 18/2/2016
7 	Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015): Indicators;
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/ accessed 18/2/2016
8 Papworth Trust (2014): Home adaptation figures; http://www.papworthtrust.org.uk/
9 	Office for National Statistics (2015): Disability Employment Figures;
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/search/index.html?pageSize=50&sortBy=none&sort
Direction=none&newquery=disability&content-type=Reference+table&contenttype=Dataset&nscl=Labour+Market accessed 18/2/2016
10 	Cincibility (2015): The Five Valued Experiences;
https://cincibility.wordpress.com/2013/02/15/the-five-valued-experiences/
accessed 18/2/2016
11 	Papworth Trust (2014): Disability in the United Kingdom, Facts and Figures 2014; http://www.
papworthtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/UK%20Disability%20facts%20and%20figures%20
report%202014.pdf accessed 22/2/2016

29

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
30

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
HEALTHIER LIVES

COUNCILLOR CHRIS JONES

Councillor Chris Jones, Cabinet Member – Adult Care & Public Health, said:
“We want our residents to have a long and healthy life. We know some of our
communities face many challenge and this strategy aims to develop a new approach to
support and enable people to live healthier lives in Wirral by building an environment in
which healthy choices are the easy choices and where we can make a real impact in
reducing health inequalities across the borough.
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: We remain committed to addressing
health inequalities in Wirral through encouraging residents to lead healthier lifestyles
and promoting physical activity and healthy eating. We will also continue to reduce the
prevalence of smoking amongst our residents and the levels of alcohol related ill-health
and anti-social behaviour thorough restricting availability of “super strength” alcohol. We
want to see 30% of Wirral’s off-license retailers sign up to the Council-supported
”reduce the strength” campaign.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve outcomes
for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Plan are
underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Healthy Lives Strategy; a key strategic
document which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan Healthy Lives priority:
“We want all of our residents to have a good quality of life and live healthy lifestyles in
clean and safe environments”
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Healthy Lives Strategy which is appended to this
report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The Healthy Lives Strategy has been developed to deliver the Wirral Plan pledge
to create an environment in which our residents are encouraged and supported to
live a healthy life.
The strategy has been developed with residents, partners and stakeholders to
ensure that there has been extensive engagement in its development and
identification of priority areas for action.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full Council
on 13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners from the public
private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; o n e o f t h e p l a n s
u n d e r t h e e n v i r o n m e n t t h e m e i s t h e Healthy Lives pledge which sets
out the following commitment:
“We remain committed to addressing health inequalities in Wirral through
encouraging residents to lead healthier lifestyles and promoting physical activity and
healthy eating. We will also continue to reduce the prevalence of smoking amongst
our residents and the levels of alcohol related ill-health and anti-social behaviour
thorough restricting availability of “super strength” alcohol. We want to see 30% of
Wirral’s off-license retailers sign up to the Council-supported ”reduce the strength”
campaign.”
To deliver this pledge we are initially developing tobacco control and alcohol
strategies together with the concept of a Healthy High Street to provide the
environment for local people to keep healthy and well. The Healthy Wirral programme
is a great opportunity for us to embed prevention and early intervention work across
the health and social care sector. This pledge has key actions for delivery but will
only be achieved by the combined actions of all the partners in the Wirral Partnership
and local people.
The separate elements within the strategy complement each other and also link to
the other Wirral Plan pledges particularly the Growth Plan and Culture Strategy.
The strategy has been developed through a partnership steering group chaired by
the Council’s Strategic Director of Families and Wellbeing and Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s Chief Operating Officer and includes a set of partnership
actions to be delivered over the course of the five year strategy. The strategy will be
reviewed on an annual basis with regular performance reporting taking place
through appropriate governance arrangements.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

As projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial implications will
be identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to
deliver the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part of
the project plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Healthy Lives Strategy will be co-ordinated in partnership by existing staff
resource. Any additional resource requirements will be identified as a detailed deliver
plan is developed.

7.0

RELEVANT

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Healthy Lives Strategy has been developed through a partnership steering
group and has been subject to wider consultation with residents, partners and
other stakeholders.
Over the summer of 2015, research was undertaken with local people to understand
their motivation for improving their health and wellbeing and the challenges they face
in doing this. The research findings challenge current ways of working, and suggest
that change is required in the way health and wellbeing services and communications
are designed, commissioned and delivered. The research is being used extensively
in developing the elements of the strategy.
Stakeholder events took place on the 29th January 2016 to inform the development of
the Tobacco Control and Alcohol strategies, feedback from the events is being used
to inform the strategies.
A local citizen’s jury was commissioned between December 2015 and February 2016
to inform the development of the Alcohol Strategy. Over the three month period a
group of nineteen local people met to discuss with local and regional experts action to
address alcohol misuse, they have developed a series of recommendations which will
be considered for inclusion in the alcohol strategy.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-families-wellbeing

REPORT AUTHOR:

Julie Webster
(Head of Public Health)
telephone: (0151 666 5142)
email: juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Healthy Lives Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

WIRRAL RESIDENTS
LIVE HEALTHIER LIVES

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

Foreword

4

KEY FACTS

5

Executive Summary/Introduction	

8

What are local people telling us?

12

What do we know about the health and wellbeing of local people?

14

OUR PRIORITIES

2

1. REDUCE THE PREVALENCE OF SMOKING IN WIRRAL COUNCIL

19

2. REDUCE THE IMPACT OF ALCOHOL MISUSE ON INDIVIDUALS AND COMMUNITIES

20

3. PROMOTE HEALTHY EATING

22

4. SUPPORT LOCAL PEOPLE TO TAKE CONTROL OVER THEIR OWN HEALTH AND WELLBEING

24

How We WILL deliver this pledge	

26

Action planS

28

Conclusion	

32

References	

33

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

1.0 FOREWORD

Councillor Chris Jones
Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care & Public Health
Our health and wellbeing is influenced by
many factors for example where we live,
whether or not we have a job and the lifestyle
choices we make. Action to tackle health
inequalities and help our residents live
healthier lives requires the concerted efforts
of all partners in Wirral working with local
people.
There are stark statistics in this paper on the
poor health outcomes many of our residents
face. The Wirral Plan and Healthy Wirral
provide us with the opportunity to have a
different conversation with local people to
help manage demand on health and social
care. The insight work we undertook with local
people over the summer illustrates the indepth work we need to do with our residents
so that the drive for better health comes from
them.
We want our residents to have a long and
healthy life, however, we know some of our
communities face multiple challenges. This
pledge aims to develop a cross-partner
approach to support and enable people to live
healthier lives in Wirral. This will be done by
building an environment in which healthy
choices are the easy choices and nurturing a
social movement for health so that local
people make their own informed choices.

The initial work for this pledge will focus on
action to help people adopt healthier lifestyles
and the development of the concept of a
Healthy High Street. The Healthy Wirral
programme, which aims to transform the way
health and wellbeing services are designed
and delivered in Wirral, is a great opportunity
for us to embed prevention and early
intervention work across the health and social
care sector. This pledge has key actions for
delivery but will only be achieved by the
combined actions of all the partners in the
Wirral Partnership and local people. This cross
partner action will ensure that all the pledges
in the Wirral Plan complement each other and
deliver the ambitions we have for the borough.
The financial challenges the public sector faces
are well documented and this means it is more
important than ever to work in partnership to
deliver the ambitions set out for this pledge.
I encourage you to take the time to read this
document and I look forward to working with
you to deliver its ambition to create a borough
that supports local people to live longer,
healthier lives.

Councillor Chris Jones

4

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

KEY FACTS

IF WIRRAL WAS 100 PEOPLE

32 OF THEM WOULD LIVE IN
AREAS DESCRIBED AS DEPRIVED
Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015

SMOKING AND THE HARM IT CAUSES
ARE NOT EVENLY DISTRIBUTED

One IN FIVE PEOPLE
IN WIRRAL SMOKE
(46,432 people)

PEOPLE IN THE MOST
DEPRIVED AREAS ARE MORE
THAN TWICE AS LIKELY TO
SMOKE THAN PEOPLE IN THE
LEAST DEPRIVED AREAS

1 in 6 women who smoke are
still smoking at the time
their baby is born (16.7% in
2014/15) compared to 1 in 9
women in England (11.4%)

Source: Public Health England 2015

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

KEY FACTS

IF WIRRAL WAS 100 PEOPLE

68 OF THEM WOULD BE AN
UNHEALTHY WEIGHT (BMI THAT
PUTS THEM IN THE OVERWEIGHT
OR OBESE CATEGORY
Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015

6

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

5
7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

INTRODUCTION

The Wirral Plan outlines our partnership
commitment to take action to reduce the
unacceptable levels of inequality, particularly in
relation to poor health experienced by local
residents. It is our ambition as set out in the plan to
work in partnership with all organisations, local
residents and others to achieve the following pledge:

We remain committed to addressing
health inequalities in Wirral through
encouraging residents to lead
healthier lifestyles, and promoting
physical activity and healthy eating.
Purpose of the strategy
Our health and wellbeing is influenced by a
multiplicity of factors as evidenced in ‘Fair Society,
Healthy Lives’, a Strategic Review of Health
Inequalities in England and the World Health
Organisation’s Commission on the Social
Determinants of Health. The Department of Health
estimates that health services, although important
to our health and wellbeing, only contribute about
20% of our health status. The other 80% is
determined by access to employment and

8

education opportunities, our income, good
housing, transport links and supportive social
networks.
This highlights the importance of the actions
outlined in the Wirral Plan pledges to promote
economic growth, good housing, employment
opportunities, transport links and the people
pledges to the achievement of the ambition of this
pledge.
This pledge aims to develop an approach across
the Wirral Partnership and with local people to
support and enable them to live healthier lives by
building an environment in which healthy choices
are the easy choices and nurturing a social
movement for health so that local people make
their own informed choices.
There are key actions for delivery outlined in this
paper but the aspiration of this pledge will only be
achieved by the combined actions of all partners
and the pledges in the Wirral Plan.
The diagram on page 10 shows the factors that
impact on our health. Our combined action across
the Wirral Plan pledges will address these factors,
supporting local people to live healthy lives.

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

					

Our Ambition:
“We want all of our residents to
have a good quality of life and live
healthy lifestyles in clean and
safe environments”

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Figure 1: Social Model of Health

Source: Dahigren and Whitehead, 1991

Health inequalities are not inevitable or
immutable, they result from social inequalities.
Reducing health inequalities is a matter of
fairness and social justice. We know that there
are strong links between poverty, including lack
of work and poor health and wellbeing.
Focusing solely on our most disadvantaged
communities to tackle health inequalities will
not be sufficient.

The initial work for this pledge will focus on
action to address lifestyle change and work
with local people to support them to take
control over their health and wellbeing. We will
work closely with Healthy Wirral to build on
their prevention and early intervention work.

We need intervention across the borough, but
with a focus on our communities with the
greatest health needs to ensure we reduce
health inequalities.

•	Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse on
individuals, families and their communities.

Our priorities are to:
• Reduce the numbers of smokers in Wirral.

• Promote healthy eating.
•	Support local people to take control over
their health and wellbeing.

10

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What are local
people telling us?

12

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

Over the summer of 2015, research was
undertaken with local people to understand
their motivation for improving their health
and wellbeing and the challenges they face in
doing this.
The key recommendations from this work
focused on gaps in provision to show challenges
and opportunities for change.
These challenges are:
•	Communications are often incoherent and
unappealing, branding and communications
distance residents from council officers.
•	Services sometimes set goals for people that
are too easily achievable or do not sufficiently
challenge them to progress. Individuals with
extremely poor levels of health and fitness
can feel excluded.

These research findings challenge current ways
of working, and suggest that change is required
in the way health and wellbeing services and
communications are designed, commissioned
and delivered. It is clear that a collaborative
effort will be needed, drawing on the skills and
experience of a range of individuals including
commissioners, frontline staff and professionals,
community leaders and local residents
themselves; this is a key challenge for the Wirral
Plan.
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
provides a wealth of information on the health
and wellbeing of local people, together with
results of insight work we have undertaken. The
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment can be
accessed at http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/default.aspx
and provides the source of the data and insight
used in this document.

•	Addressing fitness problems can feel ‘too
hard’, especially at first. Individuals easily
become demotivated by lack of progress
and find ‘starting’ very difficult (and often
physically difficult).
•	The Benefits System can disincentivise
improving health and fitness, with individuals
fearful that improvements may count against
them in their benefits assessments.
•	Social isolation and ‘what other people think’
can compound inertia around change. In
practical terms, this meant that those the
researchers met often had a lot of anxiety
about doing something they had never done
before – and often cited ‘not having someone
to go with’ as being a barrier. Few of the
research participants had positive role
models around health and fitness.
•	Perceptions of risk in the local environment
also caused disproportionate fears around
safety.

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What do we know
about the health
and wellbeing of
local people?

14

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

• The health of people in Wirral is varied 		
compared with the England average.
Deprivation is higher than average with
about 23.4% (13,700) of children living in 		
poverty.
•	The main causes of health inequalities are
poverty and income inequality. Living in
poverty is closely related to other factors that
influence health such as education, living
environment, employment and lifestyle.
•	The gap in mortality rates between the most
deprived 20% of areas in Wirral and the rest
of Wirral has been widening since 2002.
Health inequalities are evident across all age
groups, even before birth. For example,
mothers in deprived areas of Wirral are more
likely to smoke in pregnancy, more likely to
have low birth-weight babies and are less
likely to breastfeed.

•	Those living in the most deprived areas of
Wirral have higher emergency hospital
admission rates than those living in the most
affluent areas.
•	Local analysis quantifying the health effects
of unemployment in Wirral in 2012 indicates
that around 23 deaths, 1,664 cases of Long
Term Limiting Illness and 2,392 cases of
people suffering mental health problems
are directly attributable to unemployment.
(Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
2015)

•	Lifestyle related issues such as smoking,
drinking high levels of alcohol and obesity all
show strong associations with deprivation
in Wirral (and nationally) and contribute to
health inequalities. For various and complex
reasons, these behaviours are more common
in the most deprived areas of Wirral.

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

The following map shows level of deprivation in Wirral

deprivation
Indices of
deprivation
2015

Most deprived

Least deprived

Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

16

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

Life expectancy for both men and women in the borough is lower than the England average and
varies by over 10 years across the borough. The following chart illustrates that a child born today in
Rock Ferry can expect to live for 74 years whilst a child born today in Heswall can expect to live for
84 years. The wards with the lowest life expectancy are also those with high levels of poverty and
map closely to the indices of deprivation map.

life expectancy varies by over 10 years
between wards in wirral

Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015

Almost one-third of people’s lives in Wirral are
spent in ill-health – this is considerably higher
than the national average.
The major diseases driving the inequalities
described above are heart disease and stroke,
cancer, respiratory and digestive diseases this
includes alcohol related diseases such as chronic

liver disease and cirrhosis - all of which have the
following common risk factors:
• Smoking
• Alcohol misuse
• Poor diet

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

OUR PRIORITIES

18

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

1. Reduce the number of people who 		 •	We will work to reduce the availability and
smoke in Wirral
supply of tobacco products including illicit
and illegal products and address the supply
of tobacco containing products to children.
The majority of people start smoking
•	We will work with local people, communities
early, 66% of people start before the
and businesses to reduce exposure to
age of 18; 83% before the age of 20.
second-hand smoke.
What do we already know?

How we will measure if we are
getting it right

•	In 2012, the rate of smoking-related deaths We will see a reduction in
was 340 per 100,000 people, much higher
•	the number of people who smoke in the
than the average for England and equates to
borough with a focus on certain groups of
671 deaths per year in Wirral.
people.
•	The annual cost of smoking to the Wirral
•	the number of women continuing to smoke
economy is £77.7 million pounds which
in pregnancy.
includes a £12.8 million cost to the NHS, £7
million cost to social care and £53.8 million
•	smoking amongst 15 year-olds.
lost productivity which includes smoking
breaks.
The map below shows the prevalence of
smoking across the borough with higher
What are we going to do to reduce
rates of smoking in the East of Wirral.
smoking prevalence in the borough?
•	We will work with local people to promote
consistent messages on the dangers of
smoking and let them know where stop
smoking services are available.
Smoking prevalence in Wirral in those aged 15+ (2014)

Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2014

19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2. Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse
on individuals and communities
Drinking alcohol has been part
of British culture for hundreds of
years, 85% of adults drink alcohol
however 1 in 5 adults drink too
much. Locally the impact of alcohol
misuse on individuals, their families
and communities is significant.

What do we already know?
• The economic cost to Wirral of alcohol 		
problems in terms of health, social cost, 		
criminal justice, and lost productivity is 		
estimated at £127million per year, of which 		
£25million are healthcare costs.
• 1 in 9 crimes are alcohol-related.

•	Protect children, young people and their
families from harm related to alcohol misuse.
•	Through business engagement, campaigning
and regulation promote and enforce the
responsible management of alcohol retailing.
We will also ensure that the accessibility of
alcohol is responsibly controlled through
local licensing decisions and influencing of
government policy.
•	Engage with businesses in the voluntary
Reducing the Strength campaign.
•	Work with our partners: Police, HMRC,
Immigration, Border Inspection, Utilities,
Post Office, NorthWest Illegal & Illicit Tobacco,
Wagtail Tobacco (Dog), Environmental Health,
Trading Standards and Licensing Teams to
address those businesses that are engaged
in criminal activities.
How we will know if we are getting it right?
We will see a:

What are we going to do to tackle alcohol
misuse in the borough?
We will:

• Reduction in alcohol related health harms.
•	Reduction in alcohol related crime, anti-social
behaviour and domestic abuse.

•	Encourage and support responsible attitudes • Diverse, vibrant and safe night time economy.
and behaviours towards alcohol
consumption.
•	Deliver evidence based, recovery focused
treatment support to meet individual needs
and reduce the effects on health caused by
excessive alcohol consumption.

20

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

Hospital admissions for alcohol attributable conditions from 2008/09 to 2012/13
The following map illustrates the pattern of admissions to hospital for conditions attributable to
alcohol misuse. Higher levels of admission relate to our areas of high socio-economic deprivation.

Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

ALCOHOL IN WIRRAL

9,463

ALCOHOL RELATED HOSPITAL ADMISSION
EPISODES (2013-14)

799
181
15.6
7.2

LICENSED PREMISES (2015)

ALCOHOL RELATED DEATHS (2013)

AVERAGE MONTHS OF LIFE LOST DUE TO
ALCOHOL AMONGST WIRRAL MEN (2011-13)
AVERAGE MONTHS OF LIFE LOST DUE TO
ALCOHOL AMONGST WIRRAL WOMEN (2011-13)

Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3. Promote healthy eating
In 2012, 18.6% of adults in Wirral
were classified as obese. There are
however significant differences
across the borough. We see higher
rates of obesity in our more
deprived wards and lower numbers
of people eating a healthy diet.

• Work with our schools on the importance of
the school setting in promoting positive 		
relationships with food.

How we will know if we are getting it right?
We will see:
• An increased prevalence of healthy weight.
•	A reduction in the levels of people who are
overweight and obese.

What are we going to do to promote
healthy eating?
•	Work with partners to mitigate risk factors
for food poverty. The single biggest reason
that people were referred to food banks in
2014 was benefit delay (29%), followed by
low income.
•	Explore with the planning team the
opportunities to influence the core strategy
and supplementary planning guidance to
encourage the development of a Healthy
High Street.
•	Work across the Wirral Partnership to
support businesses to optimise health by
helping staff to engage customers in
conversations about their health, signposting
them to health services and having health
promotion information and messages
available and visible e.g. roll out of the
Takeaway for a Change and Eat Well Wirral
programmes, work with food businesses to
reduce salt levels.

22

•	A reduction in the number of people
experiencing food poverty.

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

OBESITY BY WIRRAL WARD, 2014
Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

PERCENTAGE OF THE WIRRAL POPULATION WHO EAT 5-A-DAY
Source: Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4. Support local people to take control
over their own health and wellbeing
Our work to support people to take
control over their own health and
wellbeing will focus on both policy
changes and practical support.
What are we going to do to support
local people to take control over
their own health and wellbeing?

Policy review
Business makes an important contribution
to vibrant and healthy high streets.
We want to work with businesses to support
them to improve the health of their community.
We will use Council powers to address
businesses that may negatively impact on the
public’s health. We have had some success in
this field e.g. Takeaway for a Change and
Reducing the Strength campaigns but we need
to undertake this work at scale.
We will:

•	Work with economic partners to develop the
healthy retail offer in Wirral, supporting
businesses to market and celebrate the
healthy high street.
Practical support
A review of Information and Advice Services
identified that although there are lots of
activities being commissioned and provided by
community and voluntary groups to support
people with social, emotional or practical needs,
they are not systematically connected to health
and social care services. Stakeholder feedback
reported that health and social care
professionals and the general public feel
overwhelmed when asked to identify social
interventions available to help them and would
like one portal to access advice and information
on health and wellbeing.
In response we are developing a social
prescribing model which will be a connected
network of community and voluntary groups
which are well known to and easily accessed by
local people. The aim is that local people will be
more willing and open to taking more control
over their health and wellbeing.
How we will know if we are getting it right?

•	Undertake insight work with communities to
We will see:
develop further our understanding of the
needs of local people in relation to a healthy • an increase in improved self reported 		
streets retail and leisure offer.
wellbeing in the residents’ survey.
•	Undertake a review of potential regulation
and voluntary measures to increase diversity
on the high street in established shopping
areas and new retail development sites.
•	Develop a common view, working with
residents and businesses on what a Healthy
High Street means for the different
communities in Wirral.

24

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

					
“The
aim is that local people
will be more willing and open
to taking more control over
their health and wellbeing”

25
25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

How we will deliver this PLEDGE

The delivery of this pledge will be in
partnership with local residents and
public, private and voluntary sector
organisations. We will deliver the
ambitions outlined within this
pledge through the following action
plans and other key strategies and
plans which focus on employment,
housing, transport, education and
promoting the health and wellbeing
of local people.

The agreed actions will be delivered over the
lifetime of this pledge with detailed project
plans to be developed to ensure there is
regular review and monitoring of the actions.
There will also be further engagement and
consultation with residents, partner
organisations and other stakeholders as we
develop more detailed action plans.
An annual report will be prepared which will
outline progress of the actions and
demonstrate the outcomes that have been
achieved through the delivery of the strategy.

26

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

27

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

ACTION PLANS

1. Reduce the number of people who smoke in Wirral

28

What do we plan to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Produce a refreshed Tobacco Control
Strategy to ensure a reduction in
prevalence.

March 2016

Public Health

Support the work of the Trading
Standards team and North West Illicit
Tobacco Control Programme to ensure
illegal and illicit tobacco is removed
from our communities.

Ongoing

Trading Standards

Develop links with children and young
peoples services to highlight the harms
of tobacco smoking and investigate the
development of an approach to risk
taking behaviour to include drug and
alcohol use.

March 2017

Public Health

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

2. Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse on individuals and communities
What do we plan to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Develop a refreshed alcohol strategy
to reduce the impact of alcohol abuse
on peoples lives and take forward the
findings of the local alcohol inquiry.

April 2016

Public Health Team

Improve communications with
local people to ensure consistent
messages are delivered by all partners
and utilise the recent guidance from
the Chief Medical Officer.

September 2016

Public Health Team

Roll out the Reducing the Strength
Campaign across Wirral.

Ongoing

Environmental
Health Team

Work with Merseyside Councils
to promote action to tackle access
to very cheap alcohol.

Ongoing

Licensing Team

Ongoing

Investment Strategy,
Planning and
Licensing Teams

Work with partners developing the
growth strategy for the borough to
ensure that the concept of a Healthy
High Street is integral to the
regeneration and economic
development of the borough.

Wirral Chamber of
Commerce

29

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3. Promote healthy eating
What do we plan to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Promote and strengthen the Better
Food Wirral network via social media
and face-to-face events to positively
change the local food culture.

Ongoing

Public Health Team

Work with NHS providers organisations
to implement the North West catering
guidance with a focus on food
seasonality.

Wirral CCG

Promote the positive relationships
schools can have in developing and
supporting a healthy relationship with
food in childhood.

Ongoing

Local Schools

Roll out of Takeaway for a Change and
Eat Well Wirral initiatives across Wirral.

Ongoing

Environmental
Health Team

Annually

Community Action
Wirral

Promote innovation funding to test
ideas on a small scale to promote
healthy food, building in current
initiatives.

30

March 2017

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

4. Support people to take more control of their health and wellbeing
What do we plan to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Commission a comprehensive
information and advice offer for
local people.

March 2017

Public Health team

Undertake a review of potential
regulation and voluntary measures
to increase diversity on the high
street to include a review of the
statement of licensing policy and the
use of Cumulative Impact Policies.

September 2016

Regeneration Team

Explore, and where possible, use
planning policy in retail and housing
developments to ensure the promotion
of health and wellbeing as well as
economic growth.

Ongoing

Regeneration Team

Work with local retailers to promote
responsible retail practice e.g. no
underage and illicit product sales.

Ongoing

Regeneration Team

31

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Conclusion
In developing the work programme
for this pledge, we have listened to
what our residents have told us for
our initial focus for action. We will
ensure that the Council creates the
right environment for local people to
lead healthier lives and work closely
with them to take more control of
their health and wellbeing.
We will work collaboratively with our partners
and stakeholders, to deliver our ambition to
address health inequalities in Wirral through
encouraging residents to lead healthier
lifestyles, and promoting physical activity and
healthy eating.
We have seen improvements in people’s health
in Wirral but there is much more to do,
especially to tackle health inequalities in the
borough. We will continue to learn from what
we, and neighbouring areas, have done to
improve health. We will build this into the work
that we do as we start to deliver the actions
within this pledge, sharing with partners our
achievements, challenges and opportunities to
maximise impact.

32

LIVING HEALTHIER LIVES

References
1.	Marmot et al (2010). Fair Society, Healthy Lives: strategic review of health
inequalities in England post 2010. Marmot Review Secretariat London.
2.	World Health Organisation. Social Determinants of Health accessed at:
http://www.who.int/social_determinants/publications/en/
3.	ESRO (2016). Improving individual health and wellbeing across Wirral
accessed at: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/esro.html

33

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
34

CABINET
21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN 2020: UNDERPINNING
STRATEGY – IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES
CABINET MEMBER
CHILDREN & FAMILIES
COUNCILLOR TONY SMITH
Councillor Tony Smith said:
“Raising aspirations for our children and families in the borough and reducing the impact of
poverty is critical to ensuring that we can harness the skills and resources of our
communities, and ensure that they are equally able to take the opportunities that ensure a
positive life experience. We know that at the moment we have much to do, and that this
has long been a difficult challenge to meet. However we are determined to bring together
the skills and resources available to us to build on our learning and to target our efforts to
support those who are most affected.”
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: We will continue to work with partners to
look at opportunities to tackle child and family poverty in Wirral communities. Sadly,
22.4% of children in Wirral currently live in low income households. Our long term
ambition is to ensure no child in Wirral lives in poverty and we will work with our partners
to reduce this level over the five years of this plan.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared vision to improve outcomes for Wirral
residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Plan are underpinned
through the development and implementation of a set of key strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Improving Life Chances strategy; a key strategic
document which outlines our approach to the Wirral Plan priority:
We will continue to work with partners to look at opportunities to tackle child
and family poverty in Wirral communities. Sadly, 22.4% of children in Wirral
currently live in low income households. Our long term ambition is to ensure
no child in Wirral lives in poverty and we will work with our partners to reduce
this level over the five years of this plan.
1

This matter affects all wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Improving Life Chances strategy which is appended to
this report.

2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

The Improving Life Chances strategy has been developed to deliver the Wirral Plan pledge
to tackle child poverty.
The strategy has been developed with local stakeholders, and partners to ensure effective
engagement in its delivery.
2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

No other options have been considered.
3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Wirral Plan 2020 was approved unanimously at the meeting of Council on 13th July
2015 and has been adopted as a borough strategy by strategic partners from the public,
private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; within those twenty pledges is a
commitment to tackle child poverty.
The Child Poverty Act 2010 requires local authorities to publish a child poverty strategy.
On Wirral there has been a multi-agency steering group in place which has worked
together to tackle this challenging issue. This has led to innovative approaches such as
the development of two school hubs which have worked within their local communities to
support developing skills for employment, parenting skills and health and wellbeing
activities. To make inroads to the levels of child poverty in the borough we need to build
from this learning and the intention through this strategy is to take a targeted approach,
built on the principles of communities being assets, to bring together the factors that we
know from a strong evidence base will help families to achieve their best potential.
It is important to acknowledge that this intent is supported through other underpinning
strategies developed through Wirral 2020, such as the Growth Strategy and the Children,
Young People and Families Strategy.
This strategy has been developed through the steering group, and will be reviewed on an
annual basis with regular performance reporting taking place through appropriate
governance arrangements.
4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The intention is that existing resources in the Borough be brought together as the
approach to our target areas is developed. Any financial implications will be identified as
part of the project plan.
5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Child Poverty Act 2010 requires local authorities to publish a child poverty strategy.

3

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

The Improving Life Chances strategy will be coordinated by existing staff resources. Any
additional resource will be identified as a detailed delivery plan is developed.
7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating actions
are put in place as appropriate.
8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

The Improving Life Chances strategy has been developed through the partnership steering
group, and the key themes consulted on with wider stakeholders during its development.
Further engagement and consultation will take place to develop the plans for the target
areas.
9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:

REPORT AUTHOR:

Fiona Johnstone
Director of Public Health
telephone: (0151 666 5178)
email: fionajohnstone@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Improving Life Chances Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Not applicable

4

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

IMPROVING
LIFE CHANCES
Wirral Council
March 2016

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

2

1.0 Foreword

4

2.0 Introduction	

6

3.0 What We Know	

8

4.0 Our Priorities	

16

4.1 Priority One: Supporting parents into sustainable employment	

18

4.2 Priority Two: Improving life chances for children and young people	

18

4.3 Priority Three: Tackling the immediate impacts of poverty

18

4.4 Priority Four: Helping families to be financially resilient

18

5.0 How we will deliver this strategy

20

5.1 How Will We Know if We are Getting it Right	

26

6.0 Conclusion	

28

7.0 Steering Group Members	

29

9.0 References	

30

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

1.0 FOREWORD

Councillor Tony Smith Cabinet Member for Children and Families.
Our ambition is to reduce child poverty and
its impact on the lives of children, young
people and their families in Wirral. We also
need to improve life chances for our young
people, enabling the cycle of disadvantage to
be broken so that it does not continue into
adulthood.

•	Harnesses people’s skills, knowledge
and experience, and boosts
productivity;

There are many examples of positive
achievement of children in Wirral, for example,
the proportion of young people achieving
5 A* - C including English and Maths, which is
above the England average. Unemployment
locally is now lower than in previous years.

•	Reduces welfare spending and demand
for public services.

However, despite all the positive aspects of
living in Wirral there is still a high proportion
of children and families (21.5%) living in
poverty1. This overall figure masks some very
significant disparities within Wirral between
more affluent and more deprived wards.
Furthermore, these high concentrations of
poverty have persisted within some
neighbourhoods for many years.
Tackling this is has never been more important
to us. Raising aspirations for children, young
people and their families, is good not only for
them, but is also important for the borough.
We know that the relationship between
economic growth and poverty is two-way.

•	Raises incomes, increasing spend and
demand in the local economy, directly
benefiting local businesses;

We know that we have had some successes in
the past but we recognise that our approach
has not delivered the significant level of
change that is needed. We know that we need
to do things differently this time, if we want to
make lasting change.
This Strategy therefore sets out our new
approach; a radical and ambitious framework
of targeted activity to – once and for all - tackle
the root causes of poverty, as well as to
mitigate the impacts on families.
I encourage you to read this strategy and to
get involved in ensuring that we take every
step we are able to tackle child poverty and
improve the life chances of children in Wirral.

If we reduce poverty, it will help us to achieve
our ambitions for growth, bringing significant
economic and financial benefits to the
borough and our residents. Reducing poverty:

Councillor Tony Smith

4

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2.0 INTRODUCTION

As Chair of the Improving Life Chances Steering
Group, I was delighted when child poverty/
improving life chances was identified as one of
the Wirral Plan pledges.
The steering group has been meeting for a
number of years to tackle this, but we know that
a new and radical approach is required if we
are to really address the challenge and make an
impact.
Bev Morgan
Chief Executive,
Home start (Wirral), Steering Group Chair

6

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Our Ambition

How has this strategy been developed?

We will work in partnership with children, young
people and their families, residents and local
organisations to achieve the following:

This strategy has been developed in partnership
with local families and a range of public,
voluntary, community and faith sector
organisations. The voices of local families were
heard through focus groups and interviews.
Local organisations were involved through a
stakeholder event and a number of working
group meetings.

Our ambition is to ensure that no child in Wirral
lives in poverty. We will start by supporting
1000 Wirral families to move out of poverty by
2018. This would mean we could reduce child
poverty to 20.1% in those we currently know fall
into our definition of child poverty. In addition
to a range of activity across the borough, we
will pilot a radical new approach in our
communities, where there are particularly high
levels of poverty.
The Wirral Plan highlights that in order for the
plan to be delivered we must ensure that we
work with local residents to understand their
needs and use this to inform our work and
services. We must also provide leadership for
our communities and build on good practice,
both nationally and internationally, to drive our
work forward.

Who is the strategy for?
The strategy is for local children, young people
and their families and any organisations that
work with families in their communities. Our aim
is to ensure that our children have the best start
in life that enables the cycle of disadvantage to
be broken and life chances improved.

There was already a steering group in operation
before the conception of this plan as each local
authority was required to have a child poverty
strategy. This group was revised following the
launch of the Wirral Plan and the membership
extended.

Values and Principles
Our values and principles have been identified
by stakeholders as key to both the development
and the implementation of this strategy.
The strategy will be empowering and
informed through the voice of the community.
Strong leadership will ensure that the strategic
vision is communicated and that improving life
chances and tackling child poverty becomes
‘everyone’s business’.
We will work innovatively and learn from what
works on the ground, ensuring localism is at the
heart of our efforts.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3.0 What We Know

8

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Child Poverty – the national context
The Child Poverty Act 2010 requires the
Government to produce a national strategy
every three years to reach an overarching
target of eradicating child poverty by 2020.
The Act also conveys duties upon local
authorities to undertake a needs
assessment and to develop a child poverty
strategy in consultation with local families.
The National Child Poverty Strategy
2014-172 identifies key family characteristics
which make it harder for some families to
work their way out of poverty.
The five key factors are:
• Long-term worklessness
• Having low qualifications
• Raising children on your own
• Having 3 or more children to care for
• Experiencing ill health.
We also have good local information
that shows the factors which impact on
the likelihood of living in poverty as a
child include:

The regional context: Liverpool City Region
(LCR) Child Poverty and Life Chances
Strategy (2015-18)
Wirral is a key player in the Liverpool City
Region, and the strategic approach being
taken with partners is producing some
positive results in reducing levels of child
poverty across the City Region since the first
Strategy was published in 2011.
The refreshed LCR strategy sets out
proposals to maximise opportunities for
children and young people based on a dual
approach of improving life chances for
children and young people and maximising
family resources, and proposes a number of
ways to boost existing efforts by working
together on two aims and five priorities:
Aim 1 Ensure the best start in life for
children & young people:
• Birth and school readiness
•	School interventions, Pupil Premium
and NEETs
•	Health inequalities and lifestyle choices

• Income and material deprivation

Aim 2 Maximise family income:

• Worklessness

• Fair employment

• Unmanageable debt

• Transport and accessibility

• Poor housing

Wherever appropriate, Wirral’s approach,
priorities and actions will be aligned with the
LCR to achieve maximum impact on tackling
child poverty across the City Region.

• Parental skill level
• Access to quality education
• Family stability
• Parental health.

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What works?
There is extensive national and local
information and evidence of what works to
deliver better outcomes for families and
tackling poverty. We have built on this by
incorporating local knowledge and
consultation to develop a radical new
Community Pilot. We will pilot this
approach initially by targeting specific
neighbourhoods. Rigorous evaluation and
learning will capture best practice and roll
out the approach to effectively tackle
poverty.
Best practice suggests a number of critical
elements can deliver success, including:
•	The need for a range of techniques if
targeted parents are to be reached and
engaged, and the effectiveness of
outreach, including that delivered by
parents and advocates from or with
similar backgrounds to, targeted
communities;
•	The effectiveness of packages of support
for parents seeking to enter or re-enter
employment that are flexible, resourced,
and understand them as parents rather
than adults who may or may not have
children and caring responsibilities;
•	The need for flexible, accessible resources
that can provide immediate alleviation
from the impacts of poverty as well as
support progression to more sustainable
and long-term outcomes;
•	The importance of flexible coordinated
approaches that are parent-led and
identify the barriers to their and their

10

families’ progression to improved
outcomes;
•	Address the lack of confidence that many
parents have in accessing local provision,
and the need for supported signposting
that builds self-reliance;
•	The demand for money and debt advice
and the impact that this can make on
individual and family wellbeing;
•	The importance of skilled staff, able to
support parents and families from a range
of backgrounds in an appropriate way
through a persistent, relational and trust
building approach;
•	Community capacity building and coproduction approaches are well
supported by local stakeholders and can
have a transformational impact upon
those engaged in delivering provision in
their communities.

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Case Studies
School Community Hub
The school hubs provide support and a range
of activities for both children and their parents.
Some of the successes for parents have
included, gaining qualifications, such as GCSES;
going on to further education and securing
university places.
“I am a local mum, with 3 children attending
3 schools on the Woodchurch estate, nursery,
primary and high school. I have never been
employed due to health issues as I suffer with
anxiety. I was approached by a Community
Connector to ask would I like to come to a
coffee afternoon in the school, she explained
what I could access in the Community Hub.
I was a bit nervous but I went for the coffee
afternoon and was given a questionnaire on
what would help to improve my life. I disclosed
to the Connector that I have never held down a
secure job due to the fact I didn’t finish school
and have no formal qualification and this was
holding me back.

The connector had been in contact with the
local high school, follow the survey, which said
that they would be very willing to offer a year’s
course of GCSE English to any parent wishing
to improve their qualifications. I decided that I
would give it give it a go as the Connector said
she would come with us and do it herself.
I started to attend every Monday evening and
have done for the past year, and I am now
absolutely delighted to say that I am part of a
group of 10 who have just sat a GCSE exam
last week and this Thursday I will take my GCSE
Maths. At 39 I am now ready to start seeking
employment and now have the necessary
qualifications to start my application for
midwifery, a dream of mine since a young age.
Through the hub I have grown in confidence
and my self-esteem has rocketed.
I now promote the hub to others who lack the
confidence, and I say if I can do it, anyone can.
The hub has shown me that you should never
give up on your dream”.

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Case Studies
Involve Northwest
“When I was referred to ‘involve’ by the DWP,
I was so scared. However, the warmth and
enthusiasm of the x (member of involve team)
helped to reassure me that I was in the right
place. I also met y (another member of the
team) on the same day. It was her first day
at the office so I think we were both equally
nervous. From that day on I knew these were
the kind of positive people I needed to take
me forward.
That was January 2015. I had been unable to
work since 2001 due to a number of chronic
and painful health problems. I knew from early
on that my health wasn’t going to improve.
I had no support network, couldn’t see a future
for me and if felt as if my life was over.
I can’t deny that I was resistant to change.
It was overwhelming physically and mentally.
On occasions my health has prevented me
from participating more, but I feel so proud
of how far I’ve come.

12

My positive experiences with ‘’involve’ have
helped me re-connect with the world. I have
been able to focus on the qualities I possess,
re-gain my confidence and learn that it’s ok to
try new, different activities. I now know I have
value as a person. Although the prospect of
working again is a tiny dot on a distant horizon,
at least it is visible in my minds’ eye”.

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Case Studies

Help Offered

Wirral Fuel Debt Advice Service

The client engaged with the Wirral Fuel Debt
Advice Service to gain help with the fuel debt
she had accrued, however the client also
received extra help in the way of a Benefit
Maximisation check through the welfare rights
team at Wirral Council following a referral from
the Wirral Fuel Debt Advice Service. The client
was also referred to the British Gas Warm
Home Discount scheme and evaluated for
eligibility for energy efficiency measures
available under the Energy Company
Obligation.

Background
A client with fuel debt and health issues
presented herself to the Wirral Fuel Debt
Advice Service for help and support. The client
also has children and the eldest child suffers
from a rare illness which requires a lot of extra
laundry and therefore additional/ increased
use of hot water, washing machine and tumble
dryer. This, along with the need for additional
baths and showers for the child concerned,
subsequently increases the consumption of
gas and electricity generating higher fuel bills
resulting in debt.
The client herself suffers with Obsessive
Compulsive Disorder and uses more hot water
than one would normally expect when
undertaking every day chores such as washing
the dishes. The extra use of electrical
appliances and gas for heating purposes has
led to the point where the client can no longer
sustainably afford to keep paying the bills and
has generated a debt for both gas and
electricity. This debt has added to the already
high level of anxiety experienced by the client.
Elimination of these debts, along with the client
being placed into a sustainable position by the
Fuel Debt Advisor, would enable the client to
get back to a level playing field and into a
position where she can afford to pay for the
energy she uses. This would also contribute to
the reduction in stress levels enabling the
client to better manage the issues she deals
with on a daily basis.

Outcome
The Wirral Fuel Debt Advisor submitted grant
application for both gas and electricity. Both
applications were successful with more than
£2,330 of fuel debt cleared. The client is now
on an affordable, sustainable gas payment
plan and is also now in receipt of the £140
Warm Home Discount from her energy
supplier. The client has received notification of
her eligibility for extra benefits which will
increase her annual income by £5,000.
Through our Collective Switch project we will
keep the client informed when better energy
tariffs become available. She has received free
loft insulation, saving £285 for installation and
a further £135 per year on her heating bills.
The energy efficiency advice delivered by the
Fuel Debt Advisor will also contribute to more
effective use of household appliances resulting
in warmer home, reduced energy consumption
and lower fuel bills.

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Case Studies
Healthy Homes Case Study
Ms A was referred to the Healthy Homes Team
by her midwife. At the time of the referral, she
was due to give birth. Ms A’s midwife was
concerned about her worsening mental health,
exacerbated by her living conditions in her
private rented flat. One of the midwife’s main
concerns was around a new-born baby living in
a poorly heated property with no working
central heating or hot water.
Following the Healthy Homes intervention, the
landlord installed a new central heating boiler,
internal doors were planed so they could close
securely (reducing fire hazard), a hole above
the front door was repaired, single glazed
windows were replaced with new double
glazing and an accumulation of rubbish was
removed from the front of the property.

14

The flat had no smoke detectors and so a
referral was made to Merseyside Fire & Rescue
Service, who subsequently fitted three smoke
alarms.
The repairs were carried out and then Ms A
gave birth to a baby boy less than 2 weeks
after the boiler was installed.

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Snapshot Of Child Poverty In Wirral
•

•

•

21.5% of children live in low 		
income families, this is a 10.3% 		
improvement since 2011, but 		
there are still 14,945 children 		
affected by poverty in the 			
	Borough 1
There are significant differences in
the experience of child poverty 		
across the Borough. As an 			
example, the rate of child poverty 		
in Bidston & St James is over 43%, 		
compared to 4% in Heswall 1
Bidston & St James, Birkenhead and
Tranmere, Seacombe and Rock Ferry
wards account for over 45% of the
number of children and families
dependent on out of work benefits 1

•

46.1% of children live in low income
families in Bidston & St James, and
40.4% in Seacombe 1

•

10.6% of households in Wirral
experience fuel poverty 3

•

The estimated numbers of people
living in fuel poverty are 1,714
(19.5%) in Bidston & St James, and
1,400 families (20%) in Seacombe 3

•

69.5% of children on Wirral have a
good level of development at age 5.
For those children on free school
meals this level of development
drops to 54% 4

•

4,800 people used the Wirral
Foodbank between April and
September 2015, this included
1,676 children 5

•

Heath related worklessness is a
specific issue in parts of Wirral, and
current rates exceed the regional/
national averages with nearly
19,000 residents claiming either
Employment Support Allowance or
Incapacity Benefit 6

•

There are significant concentrations
within the Parliamentary
Constituency of Birkenhead and
mental health remains the primary
condition 6

Defining Child Poverty
There are 4 key definitions of child poverty
identified in the national strategy. For
simplicity we will work to the definition that
children are defined as living in relative
poverty if their household income is less
then 60% of the median national income
(the median income is the middle value
between the highest and lowest incomes in
the country). This is the most widely
accepted definition.

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4.0 Our Priorities

16

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Children who grow up in poverty all too
often become the parents of the next
generation of children living in poverty.
Breaking the cycle of disadvantage is
essential. In order to do this we must raise
both attainment and aspirations of our
children and young people.

We have had some successes in recent
years. But this has not had the impact
needed to significant and permanently
reduce levels of poverty. A radical new
approach is required.

We know that the drivers and outcomes of
poverty are complex, cyclical and selfperpetuating. Wirral’s understanding of the
issues, as well as results from the national
pilots7 have identified four key ‘building
blocks’ to tackle child poverty, these are:
•	Employment and skills; to ensure that
more families are in work that pays and
have the support they need to progress
•	Life chances and families; to ensure that
poverty in childhood does not translate
into poor experiences and outcomes
•	Financial resilience and support; needs to
be responsive to families’ situations
•	Place and delivery; highlights the
importance of the local context, local
services and the characteristics of the
local community

A co-ordinated and strategic approach
Given the multi-dimensional nature of child
and family poverty, we will take a new, more
strategic and coordinated approach. This
recognises many of the actions required to
tackle child poverty and improve life
chances cannot be addressed in isolation
and will be delivered through a number of
other strategies eg Children’s; Health;
Transport, Housing and Disability.8
In particular, it is essential that we integrate
this Strategy with Wirral’s Growth Plan,
which sets out ambitious aims for the
economic transformation of the Borough to
increase investment and enterprise; to link
skills with growth; and to reduce economic
inactivity. Improving and increasing the skills
of parents and young people will be
addressed within the emerging Skills Plan.
Job creation is a critical factor in linking
economic growth and poverty reduction,
and the quality of the jobs created matters
as well as the quantity. Poverty does not just
affect long-term unemployed people estimates suggesting that more than half
the people in poverty in the UK were part of
a working family.
Building on what we know locally and
feedback from our residents, we have
therefore developed a new Community
Pilot based on four high level priorities
to tackle the causes - as well as the impact
- of child and family poverty.

The first three building blocks above
underpin the priorities in this local strategy,
together with a place-based approach to
delivery. We will target a neighbourhoodsbased approach to the strategy because we
know that there are some significant
concentrations of child poverty located in
specific parts of the borough.
17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

PRIORITY 1:

PRIORITY 4:

Support people into sustainable
employment

Tackle the immediate impacts of poverty

For most people, employment can offer the
best route out of poverty. We will focus our
efforts on supporting parents into work.
But we also need to ensure that work pays as parents move into work, we need to ensure
that poverty has not simply moved from
workless to in work families.

Our strategy needs to tackle the immediate
consequences of poverty as well as the causes,
to ensure that those families in poverty or ‘just
coping’ have access to decent, suitable and
affordable accommodation, and have enough
to feed their families and heat their homes.

Community Pilots
PRIORITY 2:
Improve life chances for
children and young people
We know that work alone will not eradicate
child poverty. We will tackle the underlying
causes and factors associated with child
poverty – early years development, health,
education and skills – to help break the cycle
of poverty.

PRIORITY 3:
Help families to become financially
resilient
We will help ensure that work pays; as well
as support families to tackle problem debt;
to maximise their income; and to deal with
budgeting and financial independence

The above priorities will initially be delivered by
targeting two communities who are
experiencing significant income deprivation.
Through consultation and engagement, local
residents and partners will identify specific
neighbourhoods where we will target the Pilot
approach. Increasing parental employment
and employability will be at the heart of the
new model.
The approach will build on Wirral’s recent
development of Community Hubs, using an
asset based community development
approach within local neighbourhoods, in
order to:
• Increase family and children’s wellbeing;
•	Increase capacity in the community to tackle
poverty;
•	Greater awareness of support available to
parents in the local area;
•	Increase desire of parents to move into
work, and with a clear understanding of how
to pursue this goal;
•	Increase engagement of parents with
existing employment and enterprise;
•	Improve aspirations of children due to rising
parental aspirations.

18

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Building on the success of the Hubs, as well as
other multi-agency initiatives including the
Family Intervention Project and Health Related
Worklessness, we will bring together different
agencies and existing/new neighbourhood
based services for disadvantaged parents;
addressing gaps in services by linking up the
employability offer for parents with childcare
support, financial advice and other support
that families need.

Fig 1: Improving Life Chances Framework

To tackle child poverty in Wirral
we will collectively:
Support parents
into sustainable
employment

Improve life
chances for children
& young people

Help families to
become financially
resilient

Tackle the
immediate effects
of poverty

Raise parents’ skills
and employability;

Co-ordinate Early
Years support &
Focus on early
intervention;

Debt advice and
support;

Families have
access to decent
affordable housing;

Tackle in-work
poverty;
Access to flexible
and affordable
childcare;
Link transport to
employment

Tackle inequalities
in educational
attainment;
Reduce NEET

Increase take up
of affordable lending
& savings eg Credit
Union;
Co-ordinate Benefits
& financial advice;
Help to make work
pay eg Living Wage

Co-ordinate
approaches to
tackle food poverty;
Reduce fuel poverty
and support families
to best energy deals

19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.0 How we
will deliver
this strategy

20

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

The Improving Life Chances Strategy provides a clear framework for
partners to work collectively and make a real difference in each of the areas
outlined within the strategy.
We will initially pilot our approach by targeting defined communities through the
following actions:

Overarching actions:
Theme Lead: Public Health
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

1.  To organise and deliver an annual
Child Poverty conference to raise
awareness of issues affecting local
families, highlight local services and
provide a networking opportunity
to further develop opportunities
and share good practice

October 16

Improving Life
Chances Steering
Group

2. T
 o provide a comprehensive training
programme, both face to face and
e-learning

April 2016

Improving Life
Chances Steering
Group

3.  Develop intelligence and
performance to understand
local needs and what works
4a) E
 stablish project steering group
to develop and implement
Community Pilots

July 2016

Public Health
Intelligence Team

April 2016

4b) C
 o-design 2 Community Pilots
with local residents and partners

September 2016

4c) Implementation & delivery plan for
2 Community Pilots

September 2016

New project steering
group

The Implementation Plan will set
out specific actions and targets for
the following priorities

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

DETAILED ACTION PLAN

Priority One: Supporting parents into sustainable employment
Within each Community Pilot, we will:

By When

Lead Organisation

4. Increase local volunteering
opportunities within communities
to build skills and experience
through linking up with the asset
based community development
(ABCD) initiative.

September 2016

CAW and Public
Health

5. Embed employability programmes
and financial advice within primary
health services and early years’
intervention activities eg through
Community Hubs

September 2016

6. C
 o-ordinate and raise awareness
of accessible, flexible and affordable
childcare to enable parents to return
to and/or sustain employment.

September 2016

7. P
 rovide advice and information
on affordable transport schemes
to enable parents to access training
& employment

8. Ensure that Growth Plan priorities
deliver skills; job sustainability and
quality in order to provide a long
term solution to child and family
poverty

22

New Project
steering group

New Project
steering group

Travelwise

2020

Growth Board

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Priority Two: Improve life chances for children and young people
Within each Community Pilot, we will:

By When

Lead Organisation

9. D
 evelop a co-ordinated and
strategic programme for 0 -19
year olds, including the antenatal period to deliver the
Healthy Child Programme

October 2016

Public Health,
Children & Young
People’s Dept, CCG

10. C
 lose the inequalities gap in
attainment between young
people in receipt of free school
meals and their peers - see action
in Children’s strategy (9)

July 2017

School improvement
team

11. T
 o raise aspirations, engage
local employers and develop
opportunities for young people
through the Young Chamber - see
action in Children’s strategy (19)

September 2017

Chamber of
Commerce

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

DETAILED ACTION PLAN

Priority One: Supporting families to become financially resilient

24

Within each Community Pilot, we will:

By When

Lead Organisation

12. Embed local delivery of targeted
information, advice and support on
debt & financial inclusion

September 2016

New Project
Steering Group

13. D
 evelop plan to increase access to
(and take up of) affordable savings
and loans eg Credit Union

September 2016

New Project
steering group

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Priority Four: Tackling the immediate effects of poverty
Within each Community Pilot, we will:

By When

Lead Organisation

14. Develop a neighbourhood
approach to tackle food poverty

April 2017

Public Health

15. Through targeted work, increase
take-up of entitlements such as
free nursery places, free school
meals and energy efficiency
schemes

April 2017

New Project
Steering Group

16. E
 mbed a strategic and co-ordinated
approach to housing/advice/
information and support to lowincome families

September 2016

New Project
Steering Group

17. Implement a local plan with Healthy
Wirral to embed their prevention
and early intervention work

September 2016

New Project
Steering Group

25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.1 How will we
know if we are
getting it right

26

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

Through increasing awareness we will promote corporate and partnership
responsibility to ensure changes to services and policies for children, young
people and their families are impact assessed so that the unintended
consequences of changes can be mitigated.

Indicator

Current Performance

Priority One - Supporting parents into sustainable employment

Overall employment rate

70.4%

Priority Two - Improve life chances for children and young people

Percentage of children achieving
a good level of development in Foundation Stage Profiles

69.5%

The achievement gap between
pupils eligible for free school
meals and their peers achieving
5 or more good GCSEs (including English and maths)

32.2%

Percentage of 16-18 year olds
Not in Education, Employment
or Training (NEET)

4.3%

Priority Three - Supporting families to become financially resilient
Proportion of children in low
income families

21.5%

Priority Four - Tackling the immediate effects of poverty

Take up of 2 year old offer by eligible families as identified by DWP

66%

Percentage of households in fuel poverty in Wirral

10.6%

27

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.0 Conclusion

Child poverty and improving life
chances is crucial to tackling
inequalities in Wirral. For too long we
have had significant and persistent
concentrations of poverty in the
borough. We are committed to drive
forward a new approach to tackle this.

We recognise that this is not something that
can be achieved easily and that we cannot
underestimate the steps that people need to
move through to increase their life chances.
Breaking the cycle of disadvantage to improve
the life chances of children and young people
in Wirral requires clear leadership and the
strong joint commitment of agencies,
services, residents and communities.
We will harness our collective assets and
resources to ensure that we are able to
support as many people as possible to move
out of poverty.

28

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

7.0 Steering Group Members
• Home Start Wirral/Chair - Bev Morgan
• Cabinet Lead - Councillor Tony Smith
• Councillor Wendy Clements
• Councillor George Davies
•	Wirral Council - Fiona Johnstone, Julia Hassall, Deborah Gornik, Julie Graham,
Rebecca Mellor, John Highton, Jo Burrell
• Wirral Chamber of Commerce - Paula Bassnett
• Tranmere Community Project - Lynne Cullens
•

Jobcentre Plus - Deborah Veevers

• Birkenhead Foundation Years - Zoe Mumby
• Community Member - Mark Johnson

29

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

8.0 References
Wirral Council (2015): Wirral JSNA: Child Poverty;
http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/ChildPoverty.html accessed 3/3/2016

1

Department for Education (2014): National Child Poverty Strategy 2014-17;
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-poverty-strategy-2014-to-2017 accessed 3/3/2016
2

LG Inform (2015): % of households in fuel poverty in Wirral 2013;
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=2131&mod-area=E08000015&modgroup=AllLaInRegion_NorthWest&modify-report=Apply&mod-period=3 accessed 3/3/2016
3

Department for Education (2015): Early years foundation stage profile results: 2014 to 2015;
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2014-to-2015
accessed 3/3/2016
4

Wirral Foodbank (2015): News and Events; http://wirral.foodbank.org.uk/news-events accessed
3/3/2016
5

6

NOMIS (2015): Health related worklessness; http://www.nomisweb.co.uk accessed 3/3/2016

Department for Education (2010): Local authority child poverty innovation pilot evaluation:
Final synthesis report; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-child-povertyinnovation-pilot-evaluation-third-synthesis-report accessed 3/3/2016
7

Department for Work and Pensions (2015): Households below average income (HBAI)
statistics; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/households-below-average-income-hbai--2
accessed 3/3/2016

8

30

IMPROVING LIFE CHANCES

31

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
32

CABINET
21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES: CHILDREN,
YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES

COUNCILLOR TONY SMITH

Councillor Tony Smith, Cabinet Member - Children and Young People, said:
“Making sure all of our children and young people are able to set high goals for
themselves – and achieve them – is probably the most important responsibility of any
Council. This strategy is designed to make sure that we do just that, working with all of our
partners to use our resources, expertise and experience to improve the lives and
achievements of every child, young person and family in Wirral.
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledges:
Children are ready for school:
We must make sure that every child is equipped with the emotional, social and
developmental skills to be ready to start school and to learn. We will achieve this
through a range of early interventions, engagement and support for families within
our communities.
Young people are ready for work and adulthood:
Our children deserve to be educated in ‘good and outstanding’ schools.
We want to see continued improvements in literacy and numeracy skills with more
of our pupils achieving 5 good GCSEs including English and Maths, closing the gap
between the highest and lowest achievement across our schools.
Vulnerable children reach their full potential:
We want to see Wirral’s children thrive and be safe in their own families and
communities. Today, around 675 young people are living in care in Wirral. This is
significantly higher than local authorities with similar needs and context to Wirral.
We aim to reduce that number by 100 to bring Wirral in line with similar areas”.

REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve outcomes
for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Plan are
underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Children, Young People and Families strategy; a key
strategic document which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan People Priority:
“Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets a good
start in life and older residents are respected and valued”.
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION
Cabinet is requested to approve the Children, Young People and Families strategy which
is appended to this report.
SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1

The Children, Young People and Families strategy has been developed to deliver the
Wirral Plan pledge for children and young people to lead good and fulfilling lives,
where children have the opportunity to reach their full potential.
The strategy has been developed with children and young people themselves, along
with parents, partners and stakeholders to ensure that there has been extensive
engagement in the development of the strategy and its priority areas.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full Council on
the 13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners from the public,
private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020. Under the people theme
three pledges aim to enable children, young people and families to live well and thrive
in Wirral, and set out the following three commitments:


Children are ready for school:



Young people are ready for work and adulthood:



Vulnerable children reach their full potential:

The Children, Young People and Families strategy sets out the high quality, universal
offer we want to be available for all children and families in Wirral. It also describes
the whole-system focus on early intervention and prevention that the Council and its
partners have committed to develop, so we are better able to spot problems early,
intervene purposefully and so prevent the need for costly specialist interventions,
including children coming into care.
The strategy has been developed through a partnership that has directly engaged
children, young people and families, and includes a set of partnership actions to be
delivered over the course of the five year strategy. The strategy will be reviewed on
an annual basis with regular performance reporting taking place through appropriate
governance arrangements.
4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Wirral has a higher number of children in care compared to similar local authorities,
and a higher level of activity across the child protection system. This represents a
significant financial burden. We invest ten times more public resource into the support
of 675 children in our care than other children. The more children we can keep safe
and thriving in their families then the more resources are available to be invested into
other areas like prevention.
As projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial implications will be
identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to deliver
the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part of the project
plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Children, Young People and Families strategy will be co-ordinated in partnership
by existing staff resource. Any additional resource requirements will be identified as a
detailed delivery plan is developed.

7.0

RELEVANT

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Children Young People and Families strategy has been developed through a
partnership approach and has been subject to wider consultation with residents,
partners and other stakeholders through the development of the strategy.

A series of stakeholder events took place in 2015 and the feedback from these has
been used to inform the strategy.
9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014/families

REPORT AUTHOR:

Julia Hassall
(Director of Children’s Services)
telephone: (0151 666 4288
email: juliahassall@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Children, Young People and Families Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES: ENSURING
WIRRAL’S NEIGHBOURHOODS ARE SAFE

COUNCILLOR GEORGE
DAVIES
Councillor George Davies, Cabinet Member - Housing and Communities , said:
“Wirral residents have told us that being safe, and feeling safe, is the most important
factor contributing to their quality of life. We have listened, and in response have
developed this new strategy to make our communities even safer. We will do this
through a new approach to tackle anti-social behaviour, focussing our resources where
they will have the most impact and working in an even closer, more integrated way with
partners such as Merseyside Police.
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: Unfortunately, the actions of a small
minority can have a negative impact on the majority of residents. We are increasing our
efforts to quickly and effectively deal with anti-social behaviour, including street drinking
and neighbourhood noise issues.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve
outcomes for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the
Plan are underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key
strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe
strategy; a key strategic document which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan
Environment Priority:
“Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and an
excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone who lives here”.
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe
strategy which is appended to this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe strategy has been developed to
deliver the Wirral Plan pledge for Wirral to be a safe place to live, visit and work.
The strategy has been developed with residents, partners and stakeholders to
ensure that there has been extensive engagement in its development and its
priority areas.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full
Council on the 13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners
from the public, private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; one of the pledges
under the Environment theme is to for Wirral to tackle anti-social behaviour and
build and maintain safe communities and sets out the following commitment:
Over the next 5 years we will place a greater emphasis on activities which will
positively engage young people and communities to prevent anti-social
behaviour, and support people that have been affected.
The Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe strategy is the first of its kind for
Wirral and its purpose is to positively promote the building of stronger and more
confident communities where people feel safe.
The strategy has been developed through the Community Safety Partnership and
includes a set of partnership actions to be delivered over the course of the five
year strategy. The strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis with regular
performance reporting taking place through appropriate governance
arrangements.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Projections show that public sector agencies on Wirral will have fewer finances
available to continue delivering services as previously done so. The Ensuring
Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe Strategy will see the public, private and
voluntary sectors working ever more closely together to ensure the best
outcomes for the residents of Wirral from the available resources.
As projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial implications will be
identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to
deliver the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part
of the project plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe strategy will be co-ordinated in
partnership by existing staff resource. Any additional resource requirements will
be identified as a detailed delivery plan is developed.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe strategy has been developed
through the Community Safety Partnership and has been informed by the views
of residents, partners and other stakeholders through the opportunities of
meetings and stakeholder events and also the Wirral Residents Survey 2015.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments

REPORT AUTHOR:

Mark Camborne
(Head of Corporate & Community Safety)
telephone: (0151 606 2017)
email: markcamborne@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Ensuring Wirral’s
Neighbourhoods
are Safe
Wirral Council
March 2016

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

2

1.0 Foreword

4

2.0 Introduction	

6

3.0 What We Know	

10

4.0 Our Priorities	

14

4.1 Build, safer, stronger, more confident communities

15

4.2 Improve Community Safety by Tackling the Cause and Impact of crime and ASB	

17

4.3 Protecting Vulnerable People

19

4.4 Deliver greater integration with all relevant partner agencies

21

5.0 How we will deliver this strategy

24

5.1 Action Plan

25

5.1 Outcome Framework

29

6.0 Conclusion	

30

7.0 Steering Group Members	

31

8.0 References	

32

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

1.0 FOREWORD
Councillor George Davies
Cabinet Lead for Housing and Communities

‘Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe’
sets the direction for community safety,
in Wirral over the next five years.
Community Safety is essential to the quality
of life of people in Wirral. It embraces a range
of issues including anti-social behaviour,
re-offending, violent crime, violence against
women, and the protection of children and
adults. Community Safety is an outcome
rather than a service, although it is strongly
influenced by the quality of service delivery.
Community Safety relates to people’s sense
of personal security in the places where they
live, grow up in, work or where they spend
their leisure time.
It affects how people value their
neighbourhoods and what is considered to
make a neighbourhood a good or bad place
to live and grow up in. It builds on the positive
progress made in recent years in reducing
crime and anti-social behaviour, both by
continuing to focus on what works, as well as
a stronger emphasis on the guiding principle
that prevention is better than cure.
Success in building safer neighbourhoods
is beyond the ability of the police or the
Council alone, and requires an even greater
partnership approach within and across
all partner agencies and communities.
Community safety is about building
community confidence and ensuring local
solutions to local issues of concern.

A revised Community Safety Partnership will
be central to delivering community safety
locally, and will work with communities to
deliver local solutions, to make people feel
safer and ensure that the voices of local
people on community safety are heard.
At the end of the 5 years I want everyone
in Wirral to experience:
•	Safer communities, with lower levels of
crime and anti-social behaviour;
•	Shared communities, where each person’s
rights are respected in a shared and
cohesive community; and
•	Confident communities, where people feel
safe and have confidence in the agencies
that serve them.

I encourage you to read this
strategy and to get involved in
helping us ensure Wirral’s
Neighbourhoods are Safe.

Councillor George Davies
4

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2.0 INTRODUCTION

As a member of Wirral’s Partnership Board,
I was really pleased to be asked to be the
partner lead in the development of a strategy
which will contribute to safer communities in
Wirral. This is one of twenty pledges set out
in the five year Wirral Plan, and as a senior
manager at Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service,
I fully endorse a strategy that focuses on how
we can all work more closely than we do now
in making sure that the local communities
and neighbourhoods in Wirral are safe places
to live, work and visit.

Gary Oakford, Senior Manager
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service

6

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

Over the last two years public services
have seen unprecedented change. In 2012
the introduction of the first elected Police
and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside
has fundamentally changed how policing
and community safety services are
commissioned and governed.
Ensuring Wirral’s neighbourhoods are safe
remains a priority for Wirral and we, the
Community Safety Partnership, set out our
ambitions for the next 5 years to address local
issues whilst recognising the influence of wider
transformational change that will impact on our
capacity to achieve further reductions in crime
and disorder.
It is the responsibility of all of us who live and
work in Wirral to play our part in making our
neighbourhoods safer. The success of this
strategy relies on us working together to achieve
further improvements in community safety.
Our Ambition
This strategy brings together the priorities and
resources of a multi-agency partnership that
includes Wirral Council, Merseyside Police,
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service, Offender
Management Services in Wirral, Health and
Public Health Service, Voluntary and Community
organisations and the Local Safeguarding
Children and Adults Boards where their work
relates to safety.

As well as a focus on the volume and high profile
crimes such as burglary and vehicle crime, this
strategy recognises that, for the community as a
whole, there are even more significant issues
including terrorism and radicalisation, the
potential for child sexual exploitation, gangs and
anti-social behaviour. To help prevent high
profile, community changing events, as well as
addressing more everyday crime, Wirral needs
to be a strong, united community and, therefore,
this strategy is underpinned by work to enhance
neighbourhood working, community cohesion
and support.
It is our ambition as set out in the Wirral Plan to
work in partnership with all organisations, local
residents and others to ensure that:
Wirral has an attractive and
sustainable environment, where good
health and an excellent quality of life
is enjoyed by everyone who lives here.
Over the next 5 years we will increase
our efforts to deal quickly and
effectively with anti-social behaviour,
including street drinking and
neighbourhood noise issues. We will
place a greater emphasis on activities
which will positively engage both
young people and communities to
prevent anti-social behaviour, and
support those who have been affected.

Our approach aims to combine appropriate
enforcement action with preventative and
educational work. We must also understand
why people commit crimes in the first place –
and will focus on tackling the root causes.
We want all people to be able to realise their
aspirations, playing a positive role in a
community that they feel they are genuinely
part of. And we want all people to understand
that getting involved in crime, or behaviour that
leads to crime is unacceptable.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

The key to achieve this vision is to
deliver a Community Safety Partnership
strategy with clear priorities which
will provide the direction for all
activity over the next 5 years:
Our Strategic Priorities:
• B
 uild stronger and more confident
communities where people feel safe:
• Improve Community Safety by tackling
the cause and impact of crime and
anti-social behaviour;
• Protect the most vulnerable people in
our communities;
• Deliver greater integration of all partner
agencies to achieve a Safer Wirral.

8

Who is the strategy for?
This strategy is aimed at all Wirral residents,
businesses and public services who operate in
and out of Wirral. The strategy does not
stand-alone. It is aligned to other plans, in
particular the police and Crime Commissioner’s
Merseyside Police and Crime Plan. By aligning
with this and other Wirral 2020 strategies, such
as the Ageing Well strategy, the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy, the Children and Adult’s
Safeguarding Strategies, the Growth Strategy
and the Children’s and Young Peoples strategy,
we can integrate and co-ordinate resources
much more effectively to protect and support
all our communities.
The Community Safety Partnership comprises
public and private agencies each with their own
part to play in reducing crime and disorder and
making our neighbourhoods safer, cleaner and
greener. This strategy provides a framework for
the many activities that the partnership will
deliver to sustain crime and disorder reductions
in the Borough and improve community
cohesion? Wirral’s Community Safety Partnership
operates under the title of ‘Safer Wirral’.

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

Figure 1 – Community Safety Partnership Structure 2016

Wirral Partnership

Health &
Wellbeing Board
Children &
Families
Partnerships

Safer Wirral Partnership Board

Economic
Partnership

Scrutiny
Committee

Chair: Cabinet Member – Neighbourhoods, Housing & Engagement

Merseyside
Criminal Justice
Board
*Safeguarding
Adults Board
*Local
Safeguarding
Children’s Board
Youth Offending
Service
Strategic Housing
Partnership
Family
Intervention
Wirral Chamber
of Commerce

Anti Social
Behaviour
Management
Group
Chair:
Merseyside
Police

Hate Crime
Group
Chair:
Community
Rep e.g.
(Wirral Change
Multi Cultural
Centre or
Anthony Walker
Foundation)

Reducing
Re-Offending
Group
Chair:
National
Probation
Service or
Merseyside
Police

Domestic Abuse
& Harmful
Practices
Steering Group

Wirral
Resilience
Action
Group

Chair:
Head of
Corporate &
Community
Safety

Chair:
MFRS

Wirral
Domestic Abuse
Alliance

MARAC
Steering
Group

Drug &
Alcohol
Harm
Reduction
Group
Chair:
Public
Health

Constituency
Committees
Merseyside
Protecting
Vulnerable People
Board
Merseyside Road
Safety
Partnership

IOM Strategy
Group
(Merseyside
Police)

Key
Reporting Relationship
Working Relationship
*The Domestic Abuse & Harmful Practices Sub Group will also report directly to both Safe Guarding Boards

The Community Safety Partnership will begin
to forge stronger links to the local safeguarding
boards to ensure that clear actions are
incorporated in all respective delivery plans.
We recognise that areas of high deprivation
suffer a disproportionately high amount of
crime and disorder, and are statistically more
vulnerable to a breakdown of community
cohesion. This strategy is based upon strong
evidence; crime data and analysis and will be
informed by what Wirral residents1 have
identified as issues and priorities for their
neighbourhoods. We will deliver localised
activity to improve the quality of life in these
neighbourhoods.

We also know that lower crime rates and
improved perceptions and fear of crime
encourage businesses to invest in the
Borough and the Community Safety
Partnership therefore has a key role in
supporting economic growth.
How has this strategy been developed?
In developing this strategy, we have consulted
with the people of Wirral via the Wirral
Residents Survey. Community Safety Partners
have also attended Constituency and other
public forums to understand what are the
concerns of the residents of Wirral. These
priorities will be addressed by the delivery
plans of this strategy.

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3.0 What We Know

10

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

1 in 2

56%

of residents feel

dog fouling and

violent crimes are alcohol-related2

45%

1 in 2

of residents feel

littering are

assaults that lead to admission
to A&E are alcohol-related3

big problems in the borough 1

57% of respondents said that

crime & antisocial behaviour
should be Wirral’s most important
priority and is the 4th highest area
in need of improvement (37%)1

On average recorded Crime in
England and Wales fell by

4.9% year on
year for 10 years
between 2002/3
However, between 2013/14 and 2014/15
there was an increase of

2.1%

4

During 2014/15 there were

19,061 crimes in Wirral or

34%

of residents feel

‘groups hanging
around the street’
is a big problem

1

59.5 crimes per
1,000 population

Wirral is below the average for England and Wales
which is

62.5 per thousand population, and
77 per thousand population5

Merseyside which is

Over the 11 years to March 2015 there has been a

10% decrease
in the total number
of crimes in Wirral 5

We have taken account of these views in setting this strategy and we will continue to seek
community views throughout the life of this strategy.

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Case Studies
Wirral Anti-Social Behaviour
Team (WASBT)
Maureen, aged 61, an owner occupier
experiencing anti-social behaviour (ASB) from
private rented tenant contacted the WASBT
following years of alleged ASB (including
shouting, banging, using foul language and
being abusive) from her next door neighbour
Tracey, a single mum with 4 children aged
from 4 -14 years, who was privately renting
the property. Maureen had tried, without
success, to resolve matters herself with
Tracey, the Landlord and Merseyside Police.
WASBT investigated this on behalf of
Maureen, and discovered that Tracey and her
children were in need of family support.
Tracey was finding it difficult to cope and
admitted that family situations became
extremely volatile in a short space of time,
involving arguing, shouting, fighting and
damage to the property during the family
outbursts. School attendance of the children
was poor and Tracey’s tenancy was at risk due
to rent arrears.
WASBT made a referral to the Intensive Family
Intervention Programme (IFIP), as they felt
that Tracey would benefit from parenting
support and an ADHD awareness course; and
that the children needed alternative activities/
intervention for their behaviour.
A case worker was allocated to look at the
whole family including boundaries, morning
and evening routines and mechanisms to deal
with anger. Tracey was keen to turn her life
around for herself and her family and was
willing to engage fully to prevent the need of
enforcement action. Together
WASBT/IFIP where able to identify flash points
within the family and target areas for support.
WASBT made a referral for 1-2-1 support work
for the 3 eldest boys which took place within
the school.

12

Tracey worked with WASBT to change her
behaviour and made changes, including
turning a room downstairs into a bedroom, to
give the family the space they needed to take
time out from each other. The complaints of
ASB significantly reduced, to Maureen’s delight.
Tracey decided to have a fresh start and move
house, and due to the massive improvements
made, was able to secure a property/tenancy
with a Registered Provider. Tracey has
maintained this tenancy and recently won a
good neighbour award.
WASBT worked with the private Landlord
to minimise any further repetition of
ASB to ensure that Maureen had the
respite she needed.
New Brighton Problem Solving Group
(PSG)
New Brighton attracts visitors of all ages to
Wirral, and many young people travel to New
Brighton, most cause no issues and are in the
area to enjoy the facilities. However, during
the summer of 2015, a small minority of
young people caused nuisance and
annoyance in and around Marine Point and
the surrounding parks and open spaces.
Their behaviour had a detrimental impact on
local businesses, residents, visitors, security
staff, Merseyrail staff and Arriva bus
operatives. The problems ranged from
underage drinking, fighting, verbal abuse,
trespassing, criminal damage, arson and
threats.
Wirral Anti-social Behaviour Team (WASBT)
co-ordinated a strategic approach, with
Partners, to tackle these issues. This included:
•	Engaging with young people travelling into
New Brighton, checking tickets and issuing
Fixed Penalty Notices where appropriate
•	High visibility Policing, giving advice
regarding behaviour and directing young
people towards activities put on by the
Council’s Sports Development Unit

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

•	Targeting specific groups in the parks and
open spaces, providing advice on keeping
safe and area activities
•	Merseyside Police giving individuals
causing problems directions to leave the
area and not to return within 24hrs or
face being arrested
•	Putting in place a Public Spaces Protection
Order around the boating lakes to prevent
anti-social behaviour (ASB) and provide
another avenue of enforcement
•	Providing reassurance to victims of crime
and anti-social behaviour
•	WASBT and Police carrying out home
visits to individuals causing issues in the
area to issue a warning
•	Managing areas used by the young people
to congregate in
•	Providing crime prevention advice to local
businesses to prevent future issues
This led to a massive reduction in ASB in
the New Brighton area and on public
transport. There was a reduction in calls to
the Police and Merseyrail staff stated that
they felt safer.
These results were also fed back into
the Marine Point Problem Solving
Group and the Wallasey Constituency
Meeting. Another PSG is planned for
March 2016 to implement an early
prevention plan for summer 2016.

Case Study ‘Restorative Justice’
Bob, aged 60, works in a local Community
Centre that was experiencing anti-social
behaviour by a 10 year old boy called Ian.
Ian lived near the centre and repeatedly
committed acts of anti-social behaviour in
and around the centre. Although he had
been temporarily barred from the centre
on several occasions, his behaviour did not
improve. Bob reported Ian’s behaviour to
Wirral Anti-Social Behaviour Team who
made a referral to the Wirral
Neighbourhood Justice Scheme.
Neighbourhood Justice Volunteers met
with Bob and Ian separately and then
arranged a face to face meeting between
them. Bob told Ian how his behaviour had
affected him and others. Ian became upset
when he realised how he had made people
feel and apologised to Bob. At the end of
the meeting Ian signed an agreement
regarding his future behaviour.
Bob said that he was very satisfied
with the Restorative Justice process,
which he thought was very
professional, “I also thought it may have a
negative outcome but firmly believe after the
meeting that it was a success. In certain cases
I would strongly recommend this course of
action”. Ian has not caused any problems
at the centre since the meeting.

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4.0 Our Priorities

14

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

4.1 Build Stronger and more confident
communities where people feel safe
Why is it a Priority?
You have told us that you want us to make
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour a
priority and residents have a right to expect
us to respond effectively and quickly.
Involving the community is integral in tackling
these issues, and working with local agencies
will help them take successful action against
crime and anti-social behaviour. We will work
with our residents to support strong, active
and inclusive communities, who are informed
and involved in decision-making which will
enable us to improve our services and create
safer neighbourhoods.
You have told us that there is little for your
children and the youths to do and this can
lead to anti-social behaviour as gangs of
youths congregate at certain places across
the Borough. We have listened and we are
delivering a £6million project called The Hive,
which will be Wirral’s first youth zone. There
have been dramatic reductions in levels of
anti-social behaviour in similar locations
across the country where Youth Zones have
been created.

How are we going to get there?
•	We will work with constituencies using
community engagement to improve
our approach to tackling crime and
anti-social behaviour
•	We will complete Wirral’s first Youth Zone
‘The Hive’ for the boroughs young people age
8-19 and up to 25 for those with disabilities
•	We will strengthen communications through
social media to improve public perceptions
of crime
•	We will deliver targeted interventions to raise
awareness of hate crime and encourage
people to report incidents of crime and/or
anti-social behaviour
•	We will develop plans with probation, youth
offending services and the voluntary sector
to provide opportunities for offenders to
undertake environmental improvement
opportunities in their communities
•	We will run targeted, high visibility
multi-agency operations against relevant
crimes across all communities
How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	A reduction in reports of anti-social
behaviour to Merseyside Police

It is clearly evident that reported crime and
anti-social behaviour have continually fallen
across the Wirral over the past 11 years.
However the public perception of crime on
Wirral remains high and 66% of you have also
told us that Feeling Safe is your number one
priority to your quality of life.

•	People will tell us that they feel safer in their
neighbourhoods

We know communities who feel informed about
efforts to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour
are more likely to feel safer and become
involved.

• Reduction in crimes recorded by the police

•	Evaluation of the effectiveness of support
programmes for victims of crime
•	A reduction in repeat victims of anti-social
behaviour

We will continue to work towards reducing the
actual levels of crime and anti-social behaviour,
but as importantly we will be reviewing how we
communicate to you about what we are doing
in your area. We need to understand why some
residents may not feel safe, and seek ways to
ensure that this perception changes.
We will increase awareness and information
about what opportunities are available to
encourage residents to participate in tackling
crime and disorder.

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What’s already happening in Wirral?

Constituency Committees

There is already a wide range of examples of
community engagement initiatives across Wirral
as well as methods of methods available to
report anti-social behaviour and informing
residents of our action. Some examples of work
that already supports our objectives are:

There are four Constituency Committees
within Wirral:
•Birkenhead
•Wallasey
•Wirral South
•Wirral West

Publicising enforcement activity
Activity taken against the perpetrators of crime
and anti-social behaviour is often publicised
by issuing press releases and in some
circumstances through localised leafleting to
residents and businesses directly in the
affected neighbourhood. The purpose of this
is to act as a deterrent to other potential
perpetrators; demonstrate to residents that
their concerns have been responded to;
increase confidence in agencies’ abilities to
tackle crime and ASB and enable relevant court
orders to be effectively ‘policed’ by the public
to allow the prompt reporting of any breaches.
As a partnership we will always undertake a
risk assessment before any advertising of any
individual names.
Providing information and key messages
to the public
Each Neighbourhood Police Inspector circulates
a newsletter every month about activity in their
respective neighbourhood and includes work
coordinated to tackle anti-social behaviour. The
press is regularly used as a vehicle to deliver
information to the public around ASB. More
recently we have used social media to deliver
messages to both adults and young people.

16

These committees have an advisory role
and act as a voice for each of the four local
community areas. They inform communities
about what’s happening in the local area,
forthcoming events, funding opportunities
and consultation events.
Volunteering Opportunities
There are a number of voluntary schemes
where local residents can come together with
the support of local partners, to build safe
and friendly communities. They include,
Neighbourhood Watch, the Neighbourhood
Justice Scheme, Crime Panel Volunteers and
Constituency Volunteers.

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

4.2 Improve Community Safety by
tackling the cause and impact of crime and
anti-social behaviour
Why is it a Priority?
Through the residents survey you have told us
that you want Wirral to be a place where you can
live safely and free from crime and anti-social
behaviour. This is particularly prevalent in the
Birkenhead and Wallasey constituency areas.
The term anti-social behaviour is broad and is
used to describe the everyday incidents of crime,
nuisance and disorder that can have a
detrimental effect on people’s quality of life and
makes victims feel helpless in their own
communities. We will place prevention at the
heart of our work to tackle crime and anti social
behaviour. Building on the excellent work
undertaken by the Sports Development Team,
Youth Services and the plethora of voluntary and
3rd sector activities and clubs, we will continue
to review the universal offer available to the
communities of Wirral to ensure that they
provide real opportunities especially to the
younger people, who might otherwise congregate
together in the streets and neighbourhoods.
Crime causes damage - be that physical,
economic or social. The damage caused to each
individual and to the wider community by crime
is unacceptable. Crime causes fear which
reduces confidence and resilience in
communities. By tackling the causes and impact
of crime we will improve the lives of victims,
their families and the communities in which
they live. By reducing the fear of crime and
anti-social behaviour we help build strong,
resilient communities, in which people can
thrive and reach their potential.
We understand the significant role that drugs
and alcohol contribute to criminal behaviour.
We will work with colleagues across the
Partnership to review the preventative
programmes and ensure they are fit for
purpose. Where drugs and alcohol are having a
community impact, we will do more to combat
this and where necessary take appropriate
action against criminals.

We will also work collectively to tackle
environmental crime and anti-social behaviour
by looking at how we as a Partnership can
affect behaviour change – e.g. so that people
do not drop litter, there is no fly-tipping and dog
owners do clean-up their dogs mess. We will
work with our colleagues involved in the Early
Years strategy to ensure that our young people
are aware of what opportunities and resources
are available so that hanging around on street
corners becomes less of an attraction to them.
How are we going to get there?
•	We will undertake further insight and
engagement activity within Birkenhead and
Wallasey Constituencies to greater understand
the perceptions of crime in these areas
•	We will deliver a plan to changing the
behaviour and culture of children and young
people in regards to crime and anti-social
behaviour using both early intervention
and enforcement.
•	We will deliver a plan that encourages
businesses and the voluntary sector to report
incidents of crime and anti-social behaviour
and to become a part of the solution to tackle
its causes.
•	We will review the range of diversionary
activities currently available to ensure they
provide the most effective outcomes for all
young people.
•	We will promote initiatives, such as Wirral’s
Neighbourhood Justice Scheme, to resolve
crime and anti-social behaviour.
•	We will review the current programmes which
are tackling the use of drugs and alcohol
across the Borough.
How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	A reduction in reports of anti-social
behaviour to Merseyside Police
•	People will tell us that they feel safer in their
neighbourhoods
•	A reduction in repeat victims of anti-social
behaviour
•	An increase in Fixed Penalty Notices for Dog
Fouling and Littering

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What’s already happening in Wirral?
There is already a wide range of services and
initiatives across Wirral which are dedicated to
tackling anti-social behaviour including:
Respect Consortium
Wirral Council and eighteen Registered
Providers (RP’s) of social housing form the
Respect Consortium for Wirral. Partners meet
quarterly to share good practice to ensure they
deliver continuous improved services aimed at
tackling anti-social behaviour and promote a
principle of respect.
Neighbourhood Justice Scheme
This is a scheme to tackle anti-social behaviour
and low level crime in Wirral. It is managed by
Wirral Council, coordinated by Merseyside
Police and is referred into by all of our partners.
The Neighbourhood Justice Scheme brings
together the person(s) who has caused the
harm and the person(s) affected in a safe
environment to reach an agreed outcome. This
encourages the perpetrator to acknowledge the
impact of their actions on others. It also gives
them the opportunity to make good the harm
caused. A restorative justice approach has been
proven to reduce the risk of further offences
being committed and to stop any conflict from
escalating further.

18

Noise nuisance
The Pollution Control Section (based within
Environmental Health) responds to complaints
regarding statutory noise nuisances this includes
noise from barking dogs, DIY, loud music and
commercial/industrial activities. Complainants
will be asked to keep a log of the incidents of
noise nuisance and provide back to the team for
investigation. Intervention and enforcement
action can be taken to abate noise nuisances
where required which includes the seizure of
noise making equipment and prosecution.
Wirral Control Room
Wirral Council operates a 24/7 all year Out-ofHours service which acts as the first point of
contact for environmental and structural
damage emergencies as well as providing an
alarm and security service to all council
buildings and a number of Wirral schools.
This does not replace Merseyside Police
999 emergency response.
Wirral Community Patrol
This service operates 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week to provide security, key holding and
response patrols to schools, public buildings
and parks. The team also respond to incidents
of ASB and support the Council’s emergency
planning response.

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

4.3 Protecting the most vulnerable
people in our communities
Why is it a Priority?
Vulnerable individuals should be able to have
complete confidence in reporting to any agency
issues that make them feel unsafe in their
neighbourhood and to receive the best support
for their needs. We understand that protecting
vulnerable people should be everybody’s
business. It a complex and sensitive area and
to achieve this it is likely we will need to increase
resources, as well as deliver greater integration
with partners.
We will pay particular attention to our children
and young people as Child Sexual Exploitation
continues to be a challenge. We will tackle hate
crime, domestic abuse and other offences
committed against vulnerable adults and
children and we will support victims from the
earliest opportunity as this is paramount to how
they cope and recover. We will work with all our
communities to ensure we protect those who
are vulnerable to radicalisation and work with
the schools and colleges to prevent people
from being drawn into terrorism. We also know
from the residents survey that Social Isolation
is a major contributory factor in feeling safe.
As such we will work with partners and
communities through the Ageing Well strategy
to address social isolation and to Make
Safeguarding Personal.
We know that some people are more likely to
become either perpetrators and/or victims of
crime and that those already involved in criminal
behaviour often become the perpetrators of
further crime against vulnerable people such as
hate crimes and domestic abuse.
We also know that there is strong evidence to
support that intervention at the earliest
opportunity is key to preventing crime and
criminal behaviour. Early intervention and
prevention will be a fundamental principle
running through our approach.

This strategy commits us to protecting
vulnerable people including the identification,
protection and support of those people who are
at risk of becoming victims on the basis of
prejudice. There are many definitions of
vulnerable person but in this strategy we mean
the term in its widest possible sense to include
anyone of any age, disability, gender, sexual
orientation, race, religion or other protected
characteristic who is or may be unable to take
care of him or herself, or unable to protect him
or herself against significant harm or
exploitation.
How are we going to get there?
•	We will work with vulnerable groups such as
the elderly and people with learning disabilities
to understand their particular needs and to
address their issues
•	We will ensure that vulnerable people affected
by crime and disorder feel confident to report
issues and are at the heart of
our response
•	We will ensure that vulnerable people do
not become repeat victims of crime by
implementing the right support at the earliest
opportunity, and are aware of all support
available to assist them to cope and recover
•	We will develop our Partnership responses
to protect and support victims of domestic
abuse and harmful practices and put victims
at the heart of our response to anti-social
behaviour
•	We will create better networks to deliver
interventions which break the cycle of criminal
behaviours at the earliest opportunity to
Wirral’s most vulnerable families
•	We will strive to eradicate all criminal
behaviour and attitudes relating to hate,
in whatever form it presents itself

19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

How we will measure if we’re getting
it right?
•	A reduction in the percentage of repeat
incidents of hate crime
•	Evaluation of the effectiveness of support
programmes for victims of crime

What’s already happening in Wirral?
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
(MAPPA)
MAPPA is a multi-agency group to minimise
the potential harm though the successful
management of the high risk violent and
sexual offenders.
Alleygating
Wirral has over 1000 Alleygates which are
designed to prevent burglary in areas where
there are alleyways which were used by
criminals to burgle and use as escape routes.
The Council stopped funding new schemes in
2008 but continue to provide maintenance and
repair budget to ensure the gates are kept in
good working order.
Wirral Family Safety Unit
Wirral Family Safety Unit (FSU) is a team of
qualified Independent Domestic Violence
Advocates (IDVAs) which act independently of
the Police and provide advice and support to
victims of domestic abuse.
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC)
A MARAC is a meeting where information is
shared on the highest risk domestic abuse
cases between representatives of local police,
health, child protection, housing practitioners,
Independent Domestic Violence Advocates
(IDVAs) and other specialists from the statutory
and voluntary sectors.

20

Catch 22
Catch 22 provides assertive support with
sanctions and possible enforcement action
to increase a family’s motivation to change
their behaviour. Specifically focussing on
anti-social behaviour, substance misuse
and domestic abuse.
Multisystemic Therapy
Wirral’s Multisystemic Therapy (MST) team
works with families and communities to
address the causes of serious anti-social
behaviour in young people aged 11-16. Working
to support families in finding ways to improve
the young person’s chances for the future.
Family Intervention Project (FIP)
Vulnerable Families identified as having
complex needs including crime or anti-social
behaviour, (as well as health, truancy
unemployment and other social issues), are
referred to the service. With the permission
of the family, a key worker will arrange to
meet with them to talk about their support
needs and coordinates work that ensures that
these families receive the right support at the
right time.

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

4.4 Deliver greater integration with all
relevant partner agencies to achieve a
Safer Wirral
Why is it a Priority?
We know that there is already good joined up
working across partners to improve community
safety. As the amount of financial resource
reduces across the public sector it is even more
vital to explore how best we can collectively use
these resources.
We will therefore build on the range of existing
partnership activity set out below to bring key
services together into one Strategic Hub through
more formal integration and new delivery
models for community safety. Models where the
Police have clear operational control for all the
community safety resources, so that they can
respond more quickly and more appropriately to
areas of need.
We will continue to seek opportunities to
collaborate even further with neighbouring
districts and other potential partners, to
ensure that we maximise the potential of all
available resources.
How are we going to get there?
•	We will deliver an integration plan for
community safety services
•	We will commission effective and efficient
services that will deliver our community safety
priorities and ensure that resources are
targeted towards areas of most need
•	We will review the anti-social behaviour and
crime reporting processes to ensure that they
are fit for purpose
•	We will review how we promote action taken
to combat crime and anti-social behaviour to
continue to raise awareness of safer
neighbourhoods and improve residents
perceptions
•	We will work with the Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner and our neighbouring
districts and agencies to identify future
opportunities for delivering services across
a City Region footprint

How we will measure if we’re getting
it right:
•	People will tell us that they feel safer in their
neighbourhoods
• Reduction in crimes recorded by the police
What is already happening in Wirral?
There is already a significant amount of multiagency and integrated work occurring across
Wirral. Some examples of this are:
Community Safety Partnership
Wirral Community Safety Partnership is made up
of local agencies who work together to ensure
safer neighbourhoods across Wirral. They
include Wirral Council, Police and Crime
Commissioner’s Office, Merseyside Police,
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, Merseyside
Fire and Rescue Service, National Probation
Service, and the Merseyside Community
Rehabilitation Company, Merseytravel
(Travelsafe), Community Action Wirral, Crown
Prosecution Service, Magistrates Court Service,
Youth Offending Service, Chamber of Commerce,
Clinical Commissioning Group and Older
Peoples Parliament.
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
The MASH brings all the agencies who are
involved in safeguarding children and adults
together under one roof with the goals of
improving relationships and providing a
confidential information sharing service,
which enables all the organisations to work
closer together to give vulnerable people a
better service.
Wirral Anti-Social Behaviour Team (WASBT)
WASBT is a multi-disciplinary team with officers
from Wirral Council, Merseyside Police and
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service. The team is
dedicated to investigating Wirral’s most serious
cases of anti-social behaviour. The team has at
its disposal a range of enforcement powers including Injunction, Criminal Behaviour Orders,
Public Spaces Protection Orders, Community
Protection Warnings and Notices, as well as early
intervention tools including Warnings,
Acceptable Behaviour Contracts and Restorative
Practise; whilst ensuring support is identified
and offered to both perpetrator and victim.

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Integrated Offender Management (IOM)
Integrated Offender Management combines
the Police, Probation and Drug Support Agencies
to manage those offenders causing the greatest
blight to Wirral communities. The ethos of the
initiative stems from the statistic that 10% of
offenders commit 90% of crime. The most
prolific priority offenders are supported in
desisting from their criminal behaviour
through education, employment and drug
and alcohol issues.
Multi Agency Action Group (MAAG)
The purpose of MAAG is to enable partnership
action to be taken against those young
individuals/groups identified as causing the
greatest harm to communities and to society in
general.

22

Data Intelligence Team (DIT):
DIT supports the approach to tackling anti-social
behaviour by co-ordinating all intelligence and
performance analysis across Wirral’s Community
Safety Partnership (CSP). The team combines
data from agencies within Wirral CSP to produce
a holistic view of crime and disorder hotspot
locations and vulnerable/repeat victims
across Wirral.
ASB Governance Group
A multi-agency ASB Governance Group meets
on a monthly basis to develop and implement
action plans to tackle ASB in ‘hot spot’ locations
across Wirral. These hot spots are identified
through analysis provided by Wirral Councils
Data Intelligence Team. This partnership meeting
also provides a response to any emerging issues
that are identified by agencies and focuses upon
repeat victims.

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.0 How we will deliver this strategy

This strategy will provide a clear framework
for partners to work collectively and make a
real difference against each of the strategic
priorities outlined within the strategy.
The following actions will be delivered over the
lifetime of this strategy with detailed project
plans to be developed. To ensure there is
regular review and monitoring of progress the
strategy will be a responsibility of the Safer Wirral
Partnership. There will be further engagement
and consultation with residents, partner
organisations and other stakeholders as we
develop the more detailed action plans.
An annual review of the strategy will take
place assessing the progress against each
of the actions.

24

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

5.1 Action Plan
1.	Build safer, stronger, more confident communities where people feel safe
Theme Lead: Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

We will work with constituencies using community
engagement to improve our approach to tackling
crime and anti-social behaviour.

December 2016

Wirral Council

We will strengthen communications through social
media to improve public perceptions of crime

March 2017

Community Safety
Partnership

We will deliver targeted interventions to raise
awareness of hate crime and encourage people to
report incidents of crime and anti-social behaviour

March 2017

Safer Wirral
Partnership

We will develop plans with probation, youth
offending services and the voluntary sector to
provide opportunities for offenders to undertake
environmental improvement opportunities in their
communities.

March 2017

National Probation
Service / Merseyside
Community
Rehabilitation
Company / Youth
Offending Services

We will run targeted, high visibility multi-agency
operations against relevant crimes across all
communities

2016-2020

Merseyside Police

Completed
Summer 2016
Opens Dec 2016

Wirral Council

We will create a £6 million youth zone called The
Hive, which when operational will offer a significant
level of diversionary activity and reduce ASB.

25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2. Improve Community Safety by Tackling the Cause and Impact of crime and ASB
Theme Lead: Merseyside Police
Action

26

By When

Lead Organisation

We will review the range of diversionary activities
currently available to ensure they provide the most
effective outcomes for all young people.

March 2018

We will undertake further insight and engagement
activity within Birkenhead and Wallasey
Constituencies to greater understand the
perceptions of crime in these areas

Sept 2016

Wirral Council

We will deliver a plan to change the behaviour and
culture of children and young people in regards to
crime and anti-social behaviour using both early
intervention and enforcement

December 2016

Wirral Council

We will work with the Chamber of Commerce, Wirral
businesses and the 3rd sector to review how we
promote action taken to combat crime and antisocial behaviour to continue to raise awareness of
safer neighbourhoods and improve people’s
perceptions of feeling unsafe

March 2018

Wirral Council /
Chamber of
Commerce/ Wirral
Council

We will promote the use of initiatives such as Wirral’s
Neighbourhood Justice Scheme, to resolve anti-social
behaviour.

March 2017

Wirral Council

We will ensure that the work of the Alcohol Harm &
Reduction Strategy is aligned to reducing the levels
of crime and ASB associated with the misuse of
these substances.

Spring 2016

Public Health /
Merseyside Police

Wirral Council

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

3. Protecting the most vulnerable people in our communities
Theme Lead: Wirral Council
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

We will work with vulnerable groups such as the
elderly and people with learning disabilities to
understand their particular needs and to address
their issues

March 2017

Ageing Well
Steering Group

We will ensure that vulnerable people affected by
hate related crime and disorder feel confident to
report issues and are at the heart of our response.

2019

Merseyside Police

We will ensure that vulnerable people do not become
repeat victims of crime by implementing the right
support at the earliest opportunity, and are aware of
all support available to assist them to cope and
recover

Summer 2017

Community Safety
Partnership

We will develop our Partnership responses to protect
and support victims of domestic abuse and harmful
practices and put victims and the protection of
children at the heart of our response

March 2017

Domestic Abuse &
Harmful Practices
Steering Group

We will create better networks to deliver
interventions which break the cycle of criminal
behaviours at the earliest opportunity to Wirral’s
most vulnerable families.

March 2017

Wirral Council

On-going to 2020

Local
Safeguarding
Board’s /
Community Safety
Partnership

We will protect very vulnerable children, young
people and adults by building on the work and
priorities of the LSB’s.
•	Ensure work is co-ordinated across all agencies
to safeguard children and adults
•	To support the Making Safeguarding
Personal Campaign

27

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4. Deliver greater integration with all relevant partner agencies to achieve a Safer Wirral
Theme Lead: Merseyside Police
Action
We will form a working group to deliver an
integration plan for community safety services
across the Wirral Partnership.
We will commission effective and efficient services
that will deliver our community safety priorities and
ensure that all of our resources are targeted towards
areas of most need
We will review the anti-social behaviour and crime
reporting processes to ensure they are fit for
purpose
We will continue to work with the Merseyside Police
& Crime Commissioner and our neighbouring
Councils to identify future opportunities for
delivering services on a City region footprint.

28

By When

Lead Organisation

Scoping document
By Sept 2016

Wirral Council

March 2017

Wirral Council

Sept 2016

Community Safety
Partnership

March 2018

Office of the
Police & Crime
Commissioner /
Wirral Council

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

5.2 How Will We Know if We are
Getting it Right?

We will know how we will have
achieved these outcomes through:

By presenting this strategy we are
pledging that by 2020 we will have a
Wirral which is free from crime and
anti-social behaviour, where Wirral
residents can live side by side without
the any fear of feeling unsafe. We will
be able to demonstrate that the
strategy is making a difference by the
following outcome measures:

•	A reduction in reports of crime
and anti-social behaviour to
Merseyside Police

•	Fewer incidents of anti-social behaviour
• Decrease in number of repeat offenders
• Decrease in number of repeat victims
•	People will feel safer in their
neighbourhoods

•	People will tell us that they feel safer
in their neighbourhoods
•	A reduction in repeat incidents of
hate crime
•	A reduction in repeat victims of
anti-social behaviour
•	An increase in Fixed Penalty Notices
for Dog Fouling and Littering
•	Evaluation of the effectiveness of
support programmes for victims
of crime

29

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.0 Conclusion

The key to delivering this strategy is
effective partnership working. No one
agency can deliver all the activities that
will ensure we achieve our objectives.
Through partnership events and stakeholder
consultation, we have engaged with residents
and listened to their feedback to help develop
this action plan.
We will continue to work in even greater
collaborative ways to ensure that everyone
knows Wirral has:
•	Safer communities, with lower levels of crime
and anti-social behaviour;
•	Shared communities, where each person’s
rights are respected in a shared and cohesive
community; and
•	Confident communities, where people feel
safe and have confidence in the agencies that
serve them

30

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

7.0 Steering Group Members

31

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

8.0 References

1 Wirral Council (2015): Wirral Residents Survey 2015; https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/
wirral-plan-2020-vision/wirral-resident-survey-2015 accessed 10/3/2016
2 Institute of Alcohol studies (2015): UK alcohol-related crime statistics; http://www.ias.org.uk/
Alcohol-knowledge-centre/Crime-and-social-impacts/Factsheets/UK-alcohol-related-crimestatistics.aspx accessed 3/3/2016
3 JMU Centre for Public Health (2015): Injury Surveillance in the North West of England;
http://www.cph.org.uk/monitoringreports/tiig/merseyside/Arrowe%20Park%20Monthly%20
Bulletin%20apr14%20to%20mar15.pdf accessed 3/3/2016
4 ONS (2015): Crime and Justice; http://www.ons.gov.uk/search?q=crime accessed 3/3/2016
5 Wirral Council (2015): Wirral JSNA: Crime and Disorder Summary (October 2015);
http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/JSNA2015/CSP%20JSNA%20Summary%2007%20
01%2015%20v4%20now%20Sept%2015.pdf accessed 3/3/2016

32

Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe

33

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
34

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES: ZERO
TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE
COUNCILLOR GEORGE
DAVIES
Councillor George Davies, Cabinet Member - Housing and Communities , said:
“Wirral’s repeat rate of high risk domestic abuse is well below the national average, and
fortunately, people are also now more likely to report abuse, which indicates increased
confidence in services. However, Merseyside Police deal with around 97 reported
domestic abuse incidents every day so there is still much work to be done. We know it
remains a largely hidden problem and that domestic abuse has a lasting effect on
families and particularly on children into later life, which is why working towards zero
tolerance is so important and why having a long-term strategy in place to eradicate
domestic abuse in Wirral is so vital.”
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: Our focus will remain on prevention
and early intervention and we will continue to facilitate an integrated response and
effective court system to deal with cases quickly and effectively.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve
outcomes for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the
Plan are underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key
strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy; a key
strategic document which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan People
Priority:
“Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets a good
start in life and older residents are respected and valued”.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy which
is appended to this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy has been developed to deliver
the Wirral Plan pledge to protect the vulnerable.
The strategy has been developed with residents, partners and stakeholders to
ensure that there has been extensive engagement in its development and its
priority areas.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full
Council on the 13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners
from the public, private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; one of the pledges
under the People theme is to for Wirral to have a Zero Tolerance to Domestic
Abuse and sets out the following commitment:
Our focus will remain on prevention and early intervention and we will continue to
facilitate an integrated response and effective court system to deal with cases
quickly and effectively.
The Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy is the first of its kind for Wirral
and its purpose is to eradicate any domestic abuse from occurring and to change
the culture of Wirral residents to a point where anyone will feel confident to
challenge this type of behaviour.
The strategy has been developed through a partnership group and includes a set
of actions to be delivered over the course of the five year strategy. The strategy
will be reviewed on an annual basis with regular performance reporting taking
place through appropriate governance arrangements.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Estimated costs of public services to support victims of domestic abuse and the
resultant lost economic output of victims equates to £15.8 billion each year in the
UK.
One of the key tasks of this strategy is to examine what the annual spend is on
Wirral and as projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial
implications will be identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to
deliver the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part
of the project plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy will be co-ordinated in
partnership by existing staff resource. Any additional resource requirements will
be identified as a detailed delivery plan is developed.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse strategy has been developed through a
partnership group and has been informed by the views of survivors and
perpetrators of domestic abuse and partners and other stakeholders through the
opportunities of meetings and stakeholder events and also a specific strategic
needs analysis.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments

REPORT AUTHOR:

Mark Camborne
(Head of Corporate & Community Safety)
telephone: (0151 606 2017)
email: markcamborne@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

ZERO TOLERANCE
TO DOMESTIC ABUSE
Wirral Council
March 2016

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

2

1.0 FOREWORD

4

2.0 INTRODUCTION

6

3.0 OUR AMBITION

8

4.0 WHO IS THIS STRATEGY FOR?

10

5.0 WHAT WE KNOW

12

5.1 National and Local Knowledge

14

6.0 OUR PRIORITIES

18

6.1 Prevention - and Early Intervention

19

6.2 Provision – Children and Young People at the Heart of our Domestic Abuse Response

20

6.3 Partnership – A Strong Community Coordinated Response

21

6.4 Perpetrators – Make Victims Safer and Reduce Re-offending

22

7.0 HOW WE WILL DELIVER THIS STRATEGY

24

7.1 Action Plan

25

7.2 How Will We Know if We are Getting it Right?

29

8.0 CONCLUSION

30

9.0 STEERING GROUP MEMBERS

31

10.0 REFERENCES

32

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

1.0 FOREWORD

Councillor George Davies Cabinet Lead for Housing and Communities
Prevention of violence and abuse is a critical
element in tackling many other issues as it
impacts on mental wellbeing, physical health
and quality of life. Violence is contagious.
Exposure to violence and abuse, especially as
a child, makes individuals more likely to be
involved in this behaviour in later life.
We want a Wirral that is free from all forms of
violence and abuse and a culture of
empowerment for those who have
experienced abuse. We want to raise
awareness of the health, psychological and
social implications of domestic abuse and
make sure that individuals know how and
where they can get help.
This strategy will be the starting point for a
new approach to tackling domestic abuse.
We will ensure that domestic abuse is never
tolerated or accepted, where victims are
protected and supported and are able to live
in safety in their own homes where possible.

I am proud to present this strategy that
outlines our ambition to collectively break the
cycle of domestic abuse within our
communities. It will influence many other
areas such as community safety and
safeguarding ensuring that tackling domestic
violence is included as a priority in the work of
many different groups.

I hope everyone takes the time
to read this strategy, to raise
awareness of what domestic
abuse is and what to do about it,
and to get involved in making
Wirral a place that has a zero
tolerance to domestic abuse
in all its forms.

Domestic Abuse is a complex issue with many
people involved in tackling it. This strategy
outlines completely new ways of working,
with integration across all partners sharing
resources to collectively tackle domestic
abuse through a single team.

Councillor George Davies

4

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

We will
Our
aimwork
is to break
in partnership
the cycleto
of
“domestic
ensure that
abuse
nowithin
older person
families:
feels

reduce
isolated
incidents
and lonely
of abuse,
in Wirral
support
			
victims
through
andcreating
pursue better
perpatrators.
neighbourhood connections and 		
networks for those affected by
social isolation

“

“

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2.0 INTRODUCTION

Merseyside Police deal with around 97 reported
domestic abuse incidents every day. As a member
of Wirral’s Partnership Board, I was really pleased
to be asked to be the partner lead in the
development of a strategy which will contribute
to tackling domestic abuse in Wirral.

Partner Delivery Lead:
Chief Superintendent John Martin,
Wirral Area Commander

6

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

The police service’s approach to domestic abuse
has continued to improve and it is now more
victim-focussed than ever. We understand that
we need to make victims feel confident that if
they report any form of domestic abuse to us
that we will take them seriously and keep them
safe. However we believe that domestic abuse is
still a vastly under-reported crime and victims
understandably worry that making a complaint
could make the situation worse for them rather
than better.
The number of women (and to a lesser extent
men) killed or seriously injured by their partners
every year in the UK is a testament to the fact
that abuse and violence in the home can
escalate to the most serious extremes if no-one
intervenes. We are working to raise awareness
with professionals on what the signs of domestic
abuse can be and how they can flag up concerns
to the police and to let victims know that a range
of help is available twenty-four hours a day
through local and national charities.
Our priority will always be protecting the victim
from the violence and abuse, both in the short
and long term. New legislation allows us to
remove perpetrators from the home to give the
victim space to decide what they want to do
next, as well as disclose a person’s violent past
to their new partner if we or other agencies fear
they could be at risk themselves.
Changing perceptions of what domestic abuse is
and how it can be stopped takes time and raising
public awareness is key. I am confident that
working towards this pledge will see a significant
reduction in repeat incidents of domestic abuse
by 2020.

The current government
definition of domestic abuse is:

“Any incident or pattern of
controlling, coercive, threatening
behaviour, violence or abuse
between those aged 16 or over
who are, or have been, intimate
partners or family members
regardless of gender or sexuality”.
Controlling behaviour is a range of
acts designed to make a person
dependant by isolating them from
sources of support, depriving them of
the means needed for independence,
resistance and escape, and regulating
their everyday behaviour.
Coercive behaviour is an act or
pattern of acts of assault, threats,
humiliation and intimidation or other
abuse that is used to harm, punish
or frighten their victim.
This definition also includes so called
“honour” based violence, female
genital mutilation and forced
marriage, and is clear that victims
are not confined to one gender or
ethnic group.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3.0 OUR AMBITION

8

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

Our Wirral Plan message is loud and
clear – we will have zero tolerance to
domestic violence.
We want to stop violence and improve the
health and wellbeing of individuals and families
who experience domestic abuse. We want to
see local residents and communities free from
violence by decreasing the social tolerance and
acceptance of domestic abuse.
To do this we need to adopt a whole family
approach informed by what domestic abuse
victims tell us what works well. We will introduce
more preventative and early intervention
measures, create an environment that supports
disclosure and ensures perpetrators are
effectively dealt with. This new approach has
a clear aim to break the cycle of domestic
abuse in our communities.

To achieve these objectives we need a strong,
coordinated, community response and we aim
to achieve this by working towards the
development of a new Wirral Domestic Abuse
Alliance model. This Alliance will be made up of
specialist services, partner agencies and
community representatives working to respond
in a coordinated way. It will provide a single
point of contact for advice and referral, as well
as joint training to professionals.
Progress and delivery of this strategy will be
monitored not only by the by the Wirral
Community Safety Partnership but also the
respective Wirral’s Local Safeguarding Boards
and will be overseen by the wider Wirral
Partnership.

Figure 1: Wirral Domestic Abuse Alliance

Wirral Partnership
Wirral Community Safety Partnership
Merseyside
Criminal
Justice Board

WIRRAL DOMESTIC ABUSE ALLIANCE

Wirral Domestic Abuse & Harmful Practices Steering Group

Local
Safeguarding
Boards

MAPPA

MARAC

DA
Champions

Task & Finish
Groups

WIRRAL DOMESTIC ABUSE ALLIANCE

MAPPA: Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangement
MARAC: Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference
DA: Domestic Abuse

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

4.0 WHO IS THIS
STRATEGY FOR?

10

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

This strategy is for all people on Wirral who are
affected by domestic abuse including victims,
witnesses, families, friends and perpetrators.
It is also for communities, business leaders and
professionals to lead an appropriate and joined up
response to those affected by domestic abuse as
we know that no single agency can address this
complex issue in isolation.
This strategy provides the current picture of
need in Wirral informed by insight provided by
victims of domestic abuse and what we know
works well to tackle the issues presented. It
outlines clear actions to be delivered to effect
significant change and how we will measure its
impact through a range of key measures.

The clear purpose of this strategy is to set out
our strategic approach and make the most
effective use of our collective resources in
order to make Wirral a safer and happier place
to live, visit and work.

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.0 WHAT WE KNOW

12

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

DOMESTIC ABUSE

1.4M WOMEN AND
700,000 MEN
SUFFERED SOME FORM OF DOMESTIC ABUSE
IN ENGLAND AND WALES 2013 – 20141

DURING 2014/15 THERE WERE

740 HIGH RISK
REFERRALS
TO WIRRAL MULTI AGENCY RISK ASSESSMENT
CONFERENCE, AN 18% INCREASE FROM 634

OVER 100,000
PEOPLE
IN THE UK ARE CONSIDERED TO BE AT HIGH RISK
OF BEING MURDERED OR SERIOUSLY INJURED,
AS A RESULT OF DOMESTIC ABUSE2

130,000 CHILDREN
RE ESTIMATED TO LIVE IN HOMES WHERE HIGH-RISK

IN 2013/145

DURING 2014

THE WIRRAL REPEAT
VICTIMISATION
RATE WAS 16%
COMPARING WITH A MERSEYSIDE RATE OF 20%, AND
A NATIONAL RATE OF 24%6

DOMESTIC ABUSE IS PREVALENT2

ESTIMATED COSTS OF PUBLIC SERVICES TO SUPPORT
VICTIMS OF ABUSE AND THE RESULTANT LOST
ECONOMIC OUTPUT OF VICTIMS EQUATES TO

£15.8 BILLION
EACH YEAR IN
THE UK
3

THE COSTS TO HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SERVICES,
HOUSING, CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES AND CIVIL
LEGAL COSTS ARE THOUGHT TO ADD A FURTHER

£3.9 BILLION
TO THE ANNUAL
COSTS
3

757 CASES OF
DOMESTIC ABUSE
WERE DISCUSSED AT WIRRAL MULTI AGENCY RISK
ASSESSMENT CONFERENCE7 (JUNE 2014-MAY 2015).
FEMALE VICTIMS WERE INVOLVED IN

737 (97.4%)
OF THE CASES DISCUSSED

7 VICTIMS

(0.01% OF TOTAL CASES) BELONGED
TO THE LGBTI GROUP.

34 CASES (4.5%)
INVOLVED A VICTIM WITH A DISABILITY.

25 CASES (3.3%)

INVOLVED A VICTIM FROM THE BME GROUPS.
DURING 2014/15 THERE WERE

1,856 DOMESTIC
ABUSE OFFENCES
IN WIRRAL AND 8,384 IN MERSEYSIDE. THIS WAS

26 CASES (3.4%)

INVOLVED YOUNG PEOPLE AGED 16-17 YEARS.
IN 17 CASES (2.2%) THE YOUNG PERSON
WAS THE VICTIM AND IN 9 CASES (1.2%)
THE YOUNG PERSON WAS THE PERPETRATOR.

A YEAR ON YEAR INCREASE OF 58% IN WIRRAL
FROM 1,173 IN 2013/14 AND 52% IN MERSEYSIDE
FROM 5,174 RESPECTIVELY4

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

5.1 National and Local Knowledge
In order to focus our efforts to make
the most difference we will build on
existing national and local intelligence
and listen to victims, practitioners
and perpetrators.
Domestic abuse can happen to anyone at any
age; both victims and abusers come from all
backgrounds and social classes and have
different occupations, income, gender and
sexuality. However, research tells us that it is
predominantly experienced by women and
carried out by men.
Women with disabilities are nearly twice as
likely to experience domestic abuse as
non-disabled women8,9. Women victims also
suffer more severe forms of domestic abuse,
violence and control and are more likely to be
seriously injured or killed by their partner
or ex-partner10.
Domestic abuse is linked to a range of
personal, social and economic factors that can
contribute to the likelihood of it occurring.
There are strong links between substance
misuse, particularly in respect of alcohol with
research indicating that alcohol was an
exacerbating factor in as many as 73% of cases
of domestic violence11. Evidence suggests that
incidents of domestic abuse increases with
deprivation12 and that the risk of abuse is
heightened at specific times such as around
the ending of a relationship13,14.
It is important to acknowledge that domestic
abuse also includes the psychological damage
caused by abusive, controlling behaviours15,16.
The ethnic minority population can be faced
with additional harmful practices including
honour-based violence, Female Genital
Mutilation (FGM) and forced marriage17.

14

In terms of reporting domestic abuse, research
indicates that women experience barriers to
disclosing domestic abuse, such as fear of not
being taken seriously, or of further reprisals or
of social services involvement where children
are involved. As such, there is likely to be
significant under reporting of domestic abuse
incidents within this group18.
Through discussion with victims we examined
domestic abuse specifically on the Wirral19.
Women told us that they recognised their
status as a victim of domestic abuse but this
recognition occurred at different points in their
journey. The reasons for seeking support were
varied and included, children and family, fear
for their lives, the inability to ‘take it anymore’
and a desire to re-build their self-confidence.
When seeking support they had mainly
approached voluntary sector organisations
although the police and social services were
also mentioned.
Their views on the level of support received in
Wirral varied from very helpful to unsupported.
Half of the women claimed a greater
awareness of local provision to support victims
would be helpful. The other half suggested that
more understanding and empathy from
professionals would improve current provision.
In terms of the perpetrators of abuse, selfreported feedback20 from those attending a
Wirral programme to address their abusive
behaviour identified a number of underlying
issues that contributed to their relationship
problems. These included substance misuse,
stress and worry, managing emotions and
communication problems. Following the
programme all attendees reported increases in
their ability to control emotions, confidence to
learn from their past experiences and make
positive changes for the future, to resolve
problems and conflict effectively and to
express themselves clearly and calmly.

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

In order to better understand domestic
abuse on the Wirral from all viewpoints,
local practitioners were also asked for their
opinions21. They felt that the public were
generally aware about domestic abuse,
although many felt that more could be done
to raise public awareness and that only a
minority believed that victims and perpetrators
would know where to access appropriate
support. Over half of the participants believed
that local provision was not sufficient for
demand. A considerable number of
participants made specific comments on the
lack of early intervention/prevention support
currently for ‘low to medium risk’ victims and
not a single participant felt provision for
children affected by abuse or perpetrators
currently meets demand.

To increase the
awareness of domestic
abuse and the effect it
can have on children,
Wirrals Community Safety
Partnership commissioned
the following adverts onto
2 designated Wirral Fire
Engines as part of the
Be a Lover and Not a
Fighter campaign.

Responses as to how the local system
could be improved included:
• Greater public awareness through
local media.
• A local support network.
• The presence of an Independent Domestic
Violence Advocate in the local Accident and
Emergency Department.
• The better identification of abuse through
routine enquiry supported by increased
access to domestic abuse training for staff.
• Improved multi-agency working and greater
investment in service provision.
• Improved strategic coordination to link the
Adult Safeguarding and Community Safety
Partnership Boards.
• A long-term strategic plan to avoid hasty,
ill-informed commissioning decisions.
• The provision of more therapeutic services
for victims and children, including working
with young people in relation to healthy
relationships.

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Case Studies
Jade’s story
He was great at first, couldn’t do
enough for me. He always wanted to
know where I was and wanted to be
with me all the time.
It was lovely at the beginning but started to
worry me because of how he would be if I
wanted to go out with my friends without him.
He changed, became moody and angry and
then one night out of the blue he punched
me, hard. He told me he was so sorry, he
loved me and it was because he loved me so
much that he wanted me all to himself.
I believed him. It felt good to be told that I was
loved so much. I stopped going out without
him as I didn’t want him to get mad again.
He checked my phone all the time and rang
me at least 30 times a day to see how I was
or as I know now, to see where I was.
I was at school. I was 16 and he was 18.
I did not know this was abuse until he
hit me the second time and my mum
saw the mark. She called the police.
I thought it was because he cared.
I thought it was okay for him to want
me all to himself. I thought I knew
what I was doing. I was wrong.
The Police put me in touch with the Family
Safety Unit and I met with a woman there.
She helped me to understand what he was
doing was wrong. He was controlling me and
hurting me. That was not love. That was abuse.
I am safe now. I do not let boys tell me what
I can do, who I can see and what I can wear.
I do not need someone to control me.
I know what love is and it is not being scared
of the person who tells you they love you.
Louise’s Story
We grew up together, went to school
together and ended up together. I knew
his family and he knew mine. We all lived
in the same area. We had our first baby
when I was 17. We got a flat together and
then he started drinking, soon drinking
every day.

16

He blamed the baby crying and us having no
money on me. I used to try to calm him down,
keep him quiet so the neighbours didn’t hear
or the baby would wake up. This went on for
years. I learned to live with it. He wasn’t
always bad. When he was nice to me life was
good.
It just didn’t last for long. I put up with his
tempers; he would push me around,
throw things.
The police came out a few times as the
neighbours called them. I pretended
everything was okay, said it was just silly
arguments. I don’t think they believed me
though. He got arrested a couple of times but
there was no way I could make a statement.
I told the social workers the same. He would
move to his mums for a few weeks when they
came to the house. I told them it was over
and wished it was but I knew he would come
back. He would come banging on the door at
night when he was out of his head. I let him in
to stop the neighbours getting annoyed and
so that children would not wake up. I knew it
was wrong but at least I didn’t have to
manage the kids on my own and his family
would be a nightmare if I said anything. He
had been in my life since I was little. I could
not think how it would be without him.
I had the third baby when he tried to strangle
me. He was on a bender. My son was there.
He was 5 years old. He was watching. He was
screaming. I started to black out. That’s when
I knew he could kill me. The police came that
night, I made a statement. I was so scared.
He got bail. That’s when the real hard
work started.
His family & friends tried to get me to drop
the charges, the kids wanted to see him and I
missed him. One more chance he said, give
me one more chance. It was easier to let him
back than keep him away.
Luckily I got the right help at the right time.
The police put me in contact with the Family
Safety Unit. They understood. They knew why
“I didn’t just leave”. I made the decision to put
my children first.

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

I worked with social services and the school
and my health visitor instead of fobbing them
off. I began to understand this was not about
me or what I had done. This was about him
and what he was choosing to do to us.
He kept ringing me or posting messages on
Facebook about missing me and the kids. I
admit I did struggle not to get back with him
but I knew if I took him back my kids would
end up seeing me dead.
We have been apart for over a year now. He
sees the kids at his mums. I know he is getting
support from his probation officer and is on a
course to help him with his abuse and
drinking. I wish I had done it years ago but
you need the right help at the right time. I feel
safer and my children are happier. My son still
talks about that night every now and again
but at least I know he will never have to see
anything like it again. He gets help at the
Leapfrog programme and I am making new
friends at Tomorrow’s Women. There is help
and support available. It’s not easy to leave
but I know I made the right decision.
Helen’s story
I am 67. My husband died 8 years ago.
I lived with my 38 year old daughter,
Susan. I have bad arthritis and need
help around the house and someone to
do my shopping. Susan was my carer
but she used to drink and has suffered
from depression.
It felt like it was me who was caring for her
most of the time. She stopped being nice to
me when I wouldn’t give her money for her
drink. She would shout and push me and
then just take the money anyway. I felt guilty
as I knew she was not well. She would drink
from breakfast to bedtime and used to pass
out sometimes in the kitchen, I used to worry
she would set the house on fire as she
smoked when she was drunk. I was ashamed.

One day Susan pushed me too hard. I fell
over and really hurt my knee. My GP came
out and I just broke down and hold him
everything. He asked me if I would speak
to the police, I said I didn’t want to get
Susan into trouble but I knew I couldn’t
carry on much longer.
He arranged me for me to meet someone
from the Family Safety Unit. They met me at
the surgery and gave me lots of advice about
what I could do to get help. I think I always
knew deep down that she was not going to
stop drinking and hurting me just because I
wanted her to. I knew I had to be a tough
and ask her to leave and look for somewhere
else to stay.
They encouraged me to tell other members
of the family what was going on and not to
be ashamed. They also gave me ideas on how
to stay safe in the house and arranged for the
Fire Brigade to come to the house and check
it for safety. My family were shocked but they
made it clear to Susan that it had to stop and
she had to sort her drinking out.
I felt more confident and able to ring the
police when she was really bad. I hated doing
it, I felt sorry for her and I blamed myself as I
was her mum so I must have done something
wrong for her to be like this. Eventually her
drinking got so bad she got taken into
hospital. I decided then it had to stop. I got
the locks changed and told her she could
not come back.
She was offered support for her drinking and
went to stay with her cousin. That did not
work out and she is now living in the town
centre in a hostel. Susan has been off the
drink for a while. She does not need to live
with me and I feel much better living on my
own. I could not have done this without the
help from everyone. No one should be
scared of their own flesh and blood.

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.0 OUR PRIORITIES

18

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

In developing this strategy, we have
ensured that the voice of victims have
identified the priorities of the strategy.
We have listened to what they tell us works and
what could be improved. We have also learnt
from perpetrators what has helped them to
work to resolve their problems and behaviour.
We have people working with both victims and
perpetrators to understand the issue
from all viewpoints. This insight has been
combined with key information and best
practice research to develop priorities targeted
to affect significant change.
The strategy has been developed in
partnership with the Domestic Abuse Sub
Group that reports to the Joint Local
Safeguarding Boards. The Group is attended by
a wide range of representatives including
Tomorrows Women Wirral, Wirral University
Teaching Hospital, Primary and Secondary
School advisors, Merseyside Police, Merseyside
Fire & Rescue Services, The Family Safety Unit,
Strategic Housing, Magenta Living, Wirral
Community Trust, National Probation Service,
Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company
and Wirral Council.
The four identified priorities are:
Prevention – and early intervention
Provision – children and young people at
the heart of our domestic abuse response
Partnerships – a strong coordinated
community response
Perpetrators – make victims safer and
reduce reoffending

6.1 Prevention - and Early Intervention
Why is it a Priority?
Intervention especially in early childhood can
prevent individuals developing a propensity
for violence and abuse and also improve
educational outcomes, employment prospects
and long-term health outcomes. The Early Help
and Prevention Strategy 2015-2017 will play a
critical part in breaking the cycle of domestic
abuse by focusing on the children and young
people. Helping those who experience and
perpetrate domestic abuse, and the
professionals they may come into contact with,
to identify the need to seek help as soon as
possible is a priority in ensuring that support is
offered at the earliest possible opportunity.
How are we going to get there?
•	We will commission a joint response focused
on prevention and early intervention. This
includes support to children and adults after
violence or abuse has ceased, to prevent
recurrence of abuse or repeat behaviour
(breaking cycles of abuse) and to address the
longer-term harm caused. It also covers
community involvement ensuring our diverse
communities and vulnerable community
groups are engaged and supported.
•	We will design a service delivery model that is
responsive to the level of risk.
•	We will develop strong volunteer involvement
and peer support – Domestic Abuse
Champion network;
•	We will deliver a coordinated education and
public awareness campaign that clearly
articulates Wirral’s position of having a Zero
Tolerance towards any Domestic Abuse;
•	Ensure that professionals are trained in
identifying domestic abuse and the
consequences of abuse.
How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	Number of domestic abuse Wirral MARAC
cases per 10,000 adult females.
•	Children and young people experiencing
domestic abuse (Wirral MARAC cases).
•	A reduction in the number of repeat victims
of domestic abuse.
•	Improved understanding through training
sessions.
•	Number of children and YP being supported
through early intervention.
19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.2 Provision – Children and Young
People at the Heart of our Domestic
Abuse Response
Why is it a Priority?
It is vital to ensure that victims of domestic
abuse, in all its forms receive a prompt and
appropriate service to support them and meet
their needs. The analysis of current provision
for domestic abuse is that high risk victims are
extremely well catered for on Wirral, it is
necessary to build up the provision for the
standard to medium level cases to ensure all
victims receive the right type of support.

•	Review the current domestic abuse
accommodation offer on Wirral to ensure it is
focussed on helping victims stay in their own
property and meets projected needs.
•	Identify intervention programmes that
mitigate the risk of children becoming future
victims/perpetrators of domestic abuse and/
or harmful practices.

Based on the strong links between domestic
abuse, substance misuse and mental health,
the local partnership will build on the strengths
of existing joint working. To support this effort,
domestic abuse will be further embedded as a
cross-cutting theme of all local strategies in
respect of children and families, substance
misuse, mental health and crime reduction.

•	Investigate the deployment of Domestic
Abuse advisors to engage potential domestic
abuse victims presenting at Accident and
Emergency.

We will ensure that priority is given to helping
the victims of domestic abuse remain in their
familiar home environments. A key principle will
be that wherever possible (and always in high
risk situations) we will seek to remove the
perpetrator from the household, situation,
allowing couples, families, children and
individuals to move forward with the least
amount of disruption to their life.

•	Number of domestic abuse Wirral MARAC
cases per 10,000 adult females

We also know that identifying hidden victims
of domestic abuse who are otherwise unknown
to services is a gap. One approach is for
domestic abuse advisors to be based in
hospitals as a means of reaching hidden victims
of domestic abuse. Victims presenting at
hospitals suffer more severe abuse, are not
likely to be engaged with any other services
and are more likely to still be living with the
perpetrator. (SafeLives 2015)5.

20

How are we going to get there?
•	Aim to “get it right first time” by providing
support and clear referral pathways for
victims, professionals, friends and families.

How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	Children and young people experiencing
domestic abuse (Wirral MARAC cases)

•	Increase in the number of people reporting
DA across the DA Alliance spectrum

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

6.3 Partnership – A Strong Community
Coordinated Response
Why is it a Priority?
Wirral has many organisations and individuals
deeply committed to supporting victims,
tackling the issues of domestic abuse and
helping those affected. As a partnership we
need to better understand what agencies and
groups are operating in Wirral. It is clear from
the needs analysis that there is a gap in
provision particularly for people at a ‘medium’
level risk of abuse. If we are able to target
resources more effectively then additional
people could be supported before the abuse
becomes a high risk case with associated
dangers.
Joint working arrangements including colocation and integrated working within the
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
have delivered some significant benefits –
information sharing, integrated risk
management, multi-agency working, local
systems and processes for safeguarding
children with clear pathways to support and
integral to the partnership response to
violence and abuse.
This strategy will also support the incredible
amount of work already underway by the local
safeguarding boards. It will include the Making
Safeguarding Personal programme which is
being driven by the Safeguarding Adults
Programme Board.

How are we going to get there?
•	Undertake further insight work to establish
the domestic abuse provision in Wirral.
•	Work with all partners to develop
proposals for fully integrating resources
to tackle domestic abuse through a
single team – co-located at the MASH.
•	Establish a clear joint commissioning
approach for delivering comprehensive
interventions across the spectrum of
domestic abuse services.
•	Identify ways of creating neighbourhoods
where people feel safe and are safe by
utilising perception indicators and feedback
from service user focus groups.
How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	Evaluating the services we provide to ensure
that they are as effective as possible and
provide the best possible value for money
•	Measuring the number of children affected by
domestic abuse who have accessed support
programmes.
•	Improved understanding through training
sessions e.g. Freedom Programme, etc.

It is vital that all people working with children
and young people know how to identify
domestic abuse and how to respond
appropriately. We need to address the
emotional, psychological and physical harm to
children and young people of violence and
abuse and match responses to the child’s age.
Interventions that aim to strengthen the
relationship between a child and a non-abusing
parent, such as effective parenting and family
recovery programmes are effective in reducing
harm. Our interventions need to reach young
people including those experiencing violence
and abuse in their own relationships.

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

6.4 Perpetrators – Make Victims Safer
and Reduce Re-offending
Why is it a Priority?
‘What to do’ with domestic abuse perpetrators
continues to be a contested area in policy,
practice and academia. On the one hand, there
are repeated calls for interventions that call the
perpetrator to account, whilst on the other a
deep scepticism about both routes for doing so
– domestic abuse perpetrator programmes or
criminal justice sanctions. What is clear on
Wirral is that there is a need of a balanced
approach for both.
Engaging perpetrators in programmes designed
to reduce the risk of harm posed and future
offending can have a positive impact on many
lives. There are currently two adult perpetrator
programmes in Wirral; one imposed on
perpetrators through court proceedings
(Building Better Relationships) and one aimed
at supporting males who struggle with
relationships and are in danger of being
convicted of domestic abuse (the HELP
programme).

•	Build on the successful IOM model for
managing a domestic abuse cohort.
•	Lobby the Ministry of Justice to identify a
specific ‘Domestic Abuse’ clause to section 39
Common Assault.
•	We will work with the Courts to ensure that
they deal efficiently and effectively with ant
Domestic Abuse perpetrators
How we will measure if we’re getting it right?
•	A decrease in incidents of repeat Domestic
Abuse (Wirral MARAC cases)
•	Number of perpetrators identified and
referred into behaviour change programmes
(both via agencies and self-referrals)
•	Effective completion of behaviour change
programmes.

We will review these programmes to evaluate
how to increase their effectiveness.

•	Feedback on the effectiveness of perpetrator
intervention and support programmes.

There are opportunities for using effective
programmes used in other areas to tackle
domestic abuse. The Wirral Integrated Offender
Management (IOM) Unit is a specialist multiagency team that provides intensive support
and challenge to offenders to help them
address and reduce their behaviour and is
known to have made a significant contribution
to the reduction of acquisitive crime and
violence in Wirral. Plans have been developed
to use the same supportive approach to
manage a cohort of domestic abuse
perpetrators with an aim to achieve similar
reductions in offending behaviour.

•	Numbers and proportion of successful
prosecutions.

It is often the case that perpetrators of
domestic abuse are charged with Common
Assault. There is a campaign growing nationally
to seek a specific clause to see the description
as Common Assault (Domestic Abuse). It is
thought that this would act as a greater
deterrent as future employment and other
opportunities could be curtailed as a result of
having to declare that you have been found
guilty of domestic abuse.

22

How are we going to get there?
•	Work with our colleagues across the
Liverpool City region to evaluate the
effectiveness of the perpetrator programmes
currently available.

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

There is one universal truth,
“applicable
to all countries, cultures
and communities: violence against
women is never acceptable, never
excusable, never tolerable!
Secretary-General Ban Ki-Moon

“

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

7.0 HOW WE WILL
DELIVER THIS STRATEGY

24

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

7.1 Action Plan
1. Prevention – and Early Intervention
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

September 2016

Wirral Domestic
Abuse Alliance

Design a service delivery model which is responsive
to the level of risk:
•	Identify sustainable alternative solutions to the
gaps in service provision as a result of the closure
of the Zero Centre
•	Collaborate with Liverpool City Region colleagues
to identify any shared service potential

March 2017

Wirral Domestic
Abuse Alliance

Encourage businesses to adopt a domestic abuse
pledge and become Domestic Abuse Champions

March 2017

Wirral Domestic
Abuse Alliance

Deliver coordinated training, education and
public awareness strategy to ensure that everyone
is aware of Wirral’s Zero tolerance to all forms of
Domestic Abuse.

April 2016

Wirral Council

Commission a co-ordinated agency, community
and voluntary sector response based on
prevention and early intervention.
• Link with Early Help and Prevention Strategy
•	Link with Local Safeguarding Boards to ensure
relevant work programmes and initiatives are
considered in the delivery of this strategy e.g.
Making Safeguarding Personal
• Create a Domestic Abuse Champion Network

25

2. Provision – Children and Young People at Heart of our Domestic Abuse Response
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

Prioritise the marketing of a clear referral pathway
for all victims, professionals, agencies, friends
and families.

March 2017

Wirral Council

Identify initiatives to strengthen work already
being undertaken to deliver interventions which
mitigate the risks of children becoming future
victims/perpetrators.

March 2020

Wirral Domestic
Abuse Alliance

Investigate the deployment of Domestic Abuse
advisors to engage domestic abuse victims
presenting at accident and emergency

TBC

Undertake a review of Supported Accommodation
for victims of Domestic Abuse to ensure that it is able
to respond to individual needs.

26

March 2020

WUTH

Wirral Council
Housing Authority

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

3. Partnership – A Strong Community Coordinated Response
Action

By When

Lead Organisation

Develop the Domestic abuse and Harmful Practices
Steering Group to deliver effective leadership and a
clear strategic vision to tackle domestic abuse locally.

April 2016

Wirral Council /
Wirral Clinical
Commissioning
Group / Police

Work with all partners to develop proposals for fully
integrating resources to tackle domestic abuse
through a single team – co-located at the MultiAgency Safeguarding Hub.

September 2017

Merseyside Police

Establish a clear joint commissioning approach for
delivering comprehensive interventions across the
spectrum of domestic abuse services.

March 2017

Wirral Council

Identify ways of creating neighbourhoods where
people feel safe and are safe

March 2017

Community Safety
Partnership

Complete a programme of research to map the
domestic abuse provision in Wirral
• Link to Needs Assessment
• Capture harder to reach groups
• Link into Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Analysis

September 2016

Public Health

27

4. Perpetrators – Make Victims Safer and Reduce Re-offending
Action

28

By When

Lead Organisation

Work with colleagues across the Liverpool City
Region to evaluate the effectiveness of perpetrator
programmes currently on offer.

March 2017

Office of Police &
Crime Commissioner
/ Wirral Council

Build on the Integrated Offender Management
Model to manage a cohort of Domestic Abuse
perpetrators and evaluate the effectiveness of
this intervention.

March 2020

Pledge
Champions and
Cabinet Member

Lobby central government to bring about a specific
‘Domestic Abuse’ clause to the Common Assault
crime category.

March 2020

Pledge
Champions and
Cabinet Member

Work with the MJCB and the Courts to ensure that
high risk perpetrators are dealt with swiftly and
appropriately.

March 2020

Merseyside Police /
NPS

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

7.2 How Will We Know if We are
Getting it Right?

We will demonstrate that the
strategy is making a difference by
the following outcome measures:
•	Wirral victims of domestic abuse are
protected and can live in safety,
preferably within their own homes.
•	Fewer children and young people
experience domestic abuse.
•	Perpetrators of domestic abuse do
not repeat their abusive behaviour.
We will know how we will have
achieved these outcomes though:
•	Number of domestic abuse Wirral
MARAC cases per 10,000 adult females.
•	Children and young people experience
high risk domestic abuse (Wirral
MARAC cases).
•	Increase in the number of reported of
domestic abuse cases from male and
other minority groups.

•	Number of perpetrators of domestic
abuse identified and referred into
behaviour change programmes (both
via agencies and self-referrals).
•	Effective completion of behaviour
change programmes e.g. Freedom
Programme.
•	Feedback on the effectiveness of
perpetrator intervention and support
programmes.
•	A reduction in the number of victims
requiring relocation – both adults and
young persons.

As awareness of domestic abuse
and how to get help is raised,
we may see an increase in the
number of first time reports
during the initial phase of the
strategy implementation.

•	A decrease in the percentage of
incidents of repeat Domestic Abuse
(Wirral MARAC cases).
•	Numbers and proportion of successful
domestic abuse prosecutions.
•	Evaluating the services we provide to
ensure that they are as effective as
possible and provide the best possible
value for money.

29

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

8.0 CONCLUSION

People who have experienced domestic
abuse have told us about the huge
impact it has on their lives.
Factors such as family, finance and housing make it
difficult to escape domestic abuse; victims are
often unable to talk about domestic abuse, even
with health and care professionals, due to stigma
and shame. Tackling the issue before behaviour
escalates and becomes more severe can make the
system easier and less fearful to navigate.
In this strategy we have set out our approach to
working with victims and survivors, children and
young people and perpetrators of domestic abuse
as well as training and awareness raising and
future development. It promotes the need for
communities, statutory and voluntary sectors to
work together effectively, alongside service users.
Domestic Abuse is unacceptable and has to stop.
This strategy is our commitment to realising that
ambition and ensuring that everyone in Wirral has
a Zero Tolerance towards Domestic Abuse.

30

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

9.0 STEERING GROUP MEMBERS

The strategy has been developed in
partnership with the Domestic Abuse Sub
Group that reports to the Joint Local
Safeguarding Boards. This Group will oversee
the delivery of the strategy and produce an
annual review outlining the progress made in
achieving the identified outcomes.

Logos pasted from word doc

31

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

10.0 REFERENCES

1 	Office of National Statistics (2015). Crime Statistics, Focus on Violent Crime and Sexual
Offences, 2013/14 http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_394470.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
2 	SafeLives [CAADA] (2015a). Getting it right first time: policy report. Bristol: SafeLives.
http://www.safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Getting%20it%20right%20first%20
time%20-%20complete%20report.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
3 	HM Government (2015). A Call to End Violence Against Women and Girls: Progress Report
2010-15. London: HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/409510/VAWG_Progress_Report_2010-2015.pdf accessed 6th
July 2015.
4 	Merseyside Police (2015). The Delphi System.
5 	 SafeLives [CAADA] (2015).
6 	 SafeLives [CAADA] (2015).
7 	 SafeLives [CAADA] (2015).
8 S
 mith, K., Osborne, S., Lau, I. and Britton, A. (2012). Homicides, Firearm Offences and Intimate
Violence 2010/11: Supplementary Volume 2 to Crime in England and Wales 2010/11
(2nd Edition). London: Home Office.
9 Office of National Statistics (2015). Crime Statistics, Focus on Violent Crime and Sexual 		
Offences, 2013/14 [online]. http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_394470.pdf accessed
6th July 2015.
10 Walby, S. (2004). The Cost of Domestic Violence. London: Women and Equality Unit.
http://www.devon.gov.uk/cost_of_dv_report_sept04.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.

		

11 Institute of Alcohol Studies (2014) Alcohol, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Assault [online] 		
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/IAS%20report%20Alcohol%20domestic%20abuse%20and%20
sexual%20assault.pdf accessed 1st March 2016
12 Office of National Statistics (2014a). Crime Statistics, Focus on Violent Crime and Sexual 		
Offences, 2012/13: Chapter 4 – Intimate Personal Violence and Partner Abuse [online]. 		
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_352362.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
13 Richards, L. (2004) Getting away with it: a strategic overview of domestic violence, sexual 		
assault and serious incident analysis. London: Metropolitan Police Service http://www.		
dashriskchecklist.co.uk/uploads/Getting%20Away%20with%20It.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
14 Smith, K., Coleman, K., Eder, S. and Hall, P. (2011). Homicides, Firearm Offences and Intimate
Violence 2009/10: Supplementary Volume 2 to Crime in England and Wales 2009/10
(2nd Edition). London: Home Office. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/		
uploads/attachment_data/file/116512/hosb0111.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
15 Stark, E. (2007). Coercive control: how men entrap women in personal life. Oxford:
Oxford University Press.

32

		

ZERO TOLERANCE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

16 Pain, R. (2012). Everyday Terrorism: How Fear Works in Domestic Abuse. Durham: Centre for
Social Justice and Community Action, Durham University. https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/
beacon/EverydayTerrorism.pdf accessed 6th July 2015.
17 Iranian and Kurdish Women’s Right Organisation (2015). About us. http://ikwro.org.uk/aboutus/ accessed 10th July 2015.
18 Rose, D., Trevillion, K., Woodall, A., Morgan, C., Feder, G. and Howard, L. (2011). Barriers and
facilitators of disclosures of domestic violence by mental health service users: qualitative 		
study. The British Journal of Psychiatry, Vol. 198, No. 3, pp. 189-194. http://bjp.rcpsych.org/
content/198/3/189 accessed 6th July 2015.
19 Wirral Council (2015) Wirral Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment.
20 Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company (2015) HELP Programme survey
http://www.merseysidecrc.co.uk/help-programme
21 Wirral Council (2016) Domestic Abuse Practitioners Survey.

33

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
34

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION
UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
LEISURE STRATEGY

COUNCILLOR CHRIS MEADEN
Councillor Chris Meaden Cabinet Member - Leisure and Culture, said:
“Wirral is a fantastic place for people to live, work and enjoy their leisure time. I am
extremely proud of the diverse opportunities available in our borough and I am delighted
to introduce this five-year leisure strategy developed in collaboration with a range of
partner organisations.
This leisure strategy is designed to help us deliver our ambition to secure a range of
quality and diverse leisure activities for our residents and visitors to enjoy for many years
to come.
In the Wirral Plan we set out the following pledge: We will encourage more people to enjoy
the wide range of leisure, culture and sporting opportunities on offer across Wirral. We will
listen to residents’ ideas and requests, and by 2020, will have increased access to events
and activities to all our residents, regardless of age or income.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve
outcomes for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in
the Plan are underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key
strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Leisure Strategy; a key strategic document
which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan Environment Priority:
“Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and an
excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone who lives here”
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Leisure Strategy which is appended to this report

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The Leisure Strategy has been developed to deliver the Wirral Plan pledge to encourage
more residents and visitors to enjoy leisure and culture opportunities on offer across the
borough.
The strategy has been developed with residents, partners and stakeholders to ensure
that there has been extensive engagement in the development of the strategy and it
priority areas.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full Council on
13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners from the public private
and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; the first of the pledges under
the environment theme is to ensure access to leisure and culture opportunities for all
and sets out the following commitment:
“We will encourage more people to enjoy the wide range of leisure, culture and sporting
opportunities on offer across Wirral. We will listen to residents’ ideas and requests, and
by 2020, will have increased access to events and activities to all our residents,
regardless of age or income.”
To deliver this pledge there will be a leisure strategy and a separate culture strategy to
deliver our ambitions.
Both strategies will complement each other and will also link to the other Wirral Plan
pledges such as Tourism, Healthier Lives and the Growth Plan.
The Leisure strategy is the first of its kind for Wirral and its purpose is to ensure that all
Wirral residents and visitors are aware of the diverse, inclusive and accessible range of
leisure opportunities which are fit for purpose and sustainable for the future.
The strategy has been developed through a partnership steering group chaired by the
Council’s Strategic Director of Families and Wellbeing and includes a set of partnership
actions to be delivered over the course of the five year strategy. The strategy will be
reviewed on an annual basis with regular performance reporting taking place through
appropriate governance arrangements.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

As projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial implications will
be identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to deliver
the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part of the project
plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Leisure Strategy will be co-ordinated in partnership by existing staff resource.
Any additional resource requirements will be identified as a detailed deliver plan is
developed.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Leisure Strategy has been developed through a partnership steering group and
has been subject to wider consultation with residents, partners and other
stakeholders.
A stakeholder event took place on 27th January 2016 and feedback from the event
was used to inform the final draft of the strategy.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments

REPORT AUTHOR:

Clare Fish
(Strategic Director of Families and Wellbeing)
telephone: (0151 6918306)
email: clarefish@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral’s Leisure Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.

REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

WIRRAL’S LEISURE
STRATEGY

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

CONTENTS

Foreword

4

INTRODUCTION TO THE STRATEGY

6

FANTASTIC WAYS TO ENJOY LEISURE TIME IN WIRRAL

8

WHAT WE KNOW ABOUT OUR RESIDENTS AND VISITORS

10

OUR PRIORITIES		

2

1. Promote and celebrate Wirral’s parks, coast and countryside for leisure activities

13

2. Encourage people to take part in sports, leisure and social activities

16

3. Increase pride in Wirral’s communities and encourage more residents to volunteer

19

How we will deliver the strategy

22

Action PlanS

24

Conclusion

27

References

28

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

FOREWORD

Councillor Chris Meaden
Cabinet Member – Leisure and Culture
I am delighted to introduce this five-year leisure
strategy developed in collaboration with a
range of partner organisations.
Wirral is a fantastic place for people to live, work
and enjoy their leisure time. As the Cabinet
member responsible for leisure, sport and
culture, I am extremely proud of the diverse
opportunities available in our borough.
Where-else in the UK can you take a leisurely
walk to a place as special as Hilbre Island to
watch grey seals, rare coastal birds and other
wildlife and then, just a short journey away, visit
the world’s first public park in Birkenhead, the
inspiration for the world-famous Central Park in
New York?
As a peninsula, our coastline is a remarkable
asset. New Brighton has the longest
promenade in the country and Wirral has some
of the UK’s most beautiful beaches, including
the only three in the North West to receive the
highest recommended rating in the Good
Beach Guide. Our parks and countryside also
continue to impress, with many awarded
nationally-acclaimed ‘Green Flag’ status – the
result of a huge effort from many residents
including local community organisations,
volunteers and our friends groups.
Our ambition through this strategy is to
leverage these natural assets, encourage more
people to get involved in a wider array of
leisure activities , and, in doing so, build on the
community and volunteer spirit that contributes
so much to Wirral.
We want to support our residents in staying
active and healthy through taking part in
leisure, sport and social activities. We are proud
that many of the ways our residents choose to
4

spend their leisure time are accessible for all
regardless of income, age or ability. However,
we know some residents face real obstacles to
taking part in leisure activities including health
conditions, or just a lack of confidence or
encouragement to get involved. This strategy
will also look at ways to tackle these barriers
and encourage more people to participate in
leisure to improve their overall health and
wellbeing.
The financial challenges the public sector faces
are well documented and the Council and our
partners will have significantly less money to
spend by the end of this five-year strategy. This
means it is more important than ever to work in
partnership with the public, private, voluntary
and community sectors to deliver the ambitions
set out in this strategy.
The Council’s role in relation to leisure will
therefore, in future, be one that enables and
secures the provision of leisure facilities within
the borough rather than being a direct
provider. It is essential that we focus our
limited resources on delivering the best
possible outcomes for our residents across all
the Wirral Plan pledges. We will therefore have
to look at ways we can reduce our expenditure,
whilst at the same time exploring opportunities
to deliver our services differently and in
partnership with others to ensure our priorities
within this plan are achieved.
I encourage you to take the time to read this
leisure strategy and I look forward to working
with you to deliver its ambition to secure a
range of quality and diverse leisure activities for
our residents and visitors to enjoy for many
years to come.

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

“ Get your walking boots out - 		
Wirral Way is a great way to 		
blow away the cobwebs”
Sue and Brian from Derbyshire, November 2015

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

INTRODUCTION

The Wirral Plan sets out a commitment to
work together over the next five years and
beyond to achieve the outcomes in the 20 Pledges
for 2020; one of which includes encouraging more
Wirral residents and visitors to enjoy our leisure,
culture and sporting opportunities more often.
Our Wirral Plan pledge states:
We will encourage more people to enjoy the
wide range of leisure, culture and sporting
opportunities on offer across Wirral. We will
listen to residents’ ideas and requests, and
by 2020, will have increased access to events
and activities to all our residents, regardless
of age or income.

6

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

In order to achieve this pledge we are working
with a wide range of partners and stakeholders
to review private and public leisure provision in
Wirral, to make it fit for today and the future.
The leisure strategy will contribute to all 20
Wirral Plan pledges and will specifically link
across to our strategies for health, culture and
tourism. This will ensure they complement each
other and provide the ambition and aims to
achieve and deliver our agreed outcomes.
The purpose of the strategy
We recognise that leisure means different
things to different people. Leisure time is
about having fun and enjoying free time away
from work and other tasks; it can be spent
enjoying quality time with family and friends at
one of our many parks or beaches, playing a
game of golf, going to a local football match, or
simply attending a social event.
There are a range of organisations that provide
leisure services and facilities across Wirral. The
aim of this strategy is to ensure that all Wirral
residents and visitors are aware of the diverse,
inclusive and accessible range of leisure
opportunities which are fit for purpose and
sustainable for the future.
There are many reasons why people participate
in leisure; some people get involved to improve
their health and fitness, others enjoy the fun
and social aspects of their leisure choices.
Whatever the motivation, we know how
important leisure activities are to our residents
and we understand the positive contribution
these activities have on our mental and
physical health and wellbeing. We want to
inspire people to be more active and to
increase pride in our local communities and
neighbourhoods.
We also know how important leisure is to
supporting the local economy, creating jobs
and making Wirral a great place to live and visit.

Our leisure priorities for Wirral over the
next 5 years
This leisure strategy has been developed based
on an understanding of what our local
residents have told us is important to them
through a range of research and insight work.
The Wirral Resident Survey and Wirral Visitor
Research Study helped us identify the leisure
opportunities which make Wirral a great place
for residents and tourists to enjoy, and to
enable us to explore how we can improve our
leisure offer in the future.
In addition, we have carried out detailed
research and analysed key statistics and data
from a range of sources, including Sport
England and Active Lives, to ensure our
priorities for leisure in Wirral are supported by
a strong evidence base. The strategy supports
the new national government strategy ‘Sporting
Future: A New Strategy for an Active Nation’
which focuses on five key outcomes: physical
wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual
development, social and community
development and economic development.
The priorities to be delivered through this
strategy and associated plans are:
• Promote and celebrate Wirral’s parks, 		
coast and countryside for leisure 		
activities.
• Encourage people to take part in 		
sports, leisure and social activities.
• Increase pride in Wirral’s communities 		
and encourage more residents to 		
volunteer.
In order to deliver the priorities outlined above,
we are committed to working with a broad
range of partners in the public, private,
voluntary and community sectors to ensure the
borough’s leisure and sporting opportunities
are accessible and fit for purpose.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

FANTASTIC WAYS
TO ENJOY LEISURE
TIME IN WIRRAL

8

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

WIRRAL PENINSULA

T
Th
The
Hive
Hi

Motorway
Roads
Rail route
Train Station
Mersey Tunnel
Ferry Service
Country Park
Park
Visitor Centre
Suggested Viewpoint
Recommended
Birdwatching Spot

9

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

WHAT WE KNOW
ABOUT OUR
RESIDENTS
AND VISITORS…

10

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

PARKS, COASTS AND COUNTRYSIDE:

67%

OF RESIDENTS SAID THEY
USE PARKS AND GREEN
SPACES AT LEAST
ONCE A MONTH. 1

90%

SAID THEY USED
PARKS AND GREEN
SPACES WITHIN THE
LAST YEAR.1

68%

OF VISITORS HIGHLIGHTED
THE BOROUGH’S NATURAL ASSETS
AS THE REASON THEY VIEWED
THE WIRRAL AS A BETTER THAN
AVERAGE LOCATION TO VISIT. 2

SPORT, LEISURE AND SOCIAL ACTIVITIES:

59%

OF ADULTS IN WIRRAL ARE
CLASSIFIED AS ACTIVE - SLIGHTLY
HIGHER THAN THE NATIONAL
AVERAGE (57%) 3

38%

OF ADULTS (14+) PARTICIPATE IN
SPORT ONCE A WEEK, HIGHER THAN
BOTH THE REGIONAL (36%) AND
NATIONAL (36%) AVERAGE. 4

VOLUNTEERING/COMMUNITY PRIDE:

63%

OF RESIDENTS
FEEL STRONGLY THAT
THEY BELONG TO THEIR
LOCAL AREA.1

48%

OF RESIDENTS SAID THEY
WOULD VOLUNTEER MORE
IF INFORMATION ABOUT
VOLUNTEERING WAS AVAILABLE.1

For more information please see Wirral JSNA: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/

11

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

OUR PRIORITIES

12

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

1. Promote and celebrate Wirral’s 		
parks, coast and countryside 			
for leisure activities
Wirral has a range of fantastic
natural leisure assets, many of
which can be enjoyed for free. Wirral
has 25 miles of stunning coastline
and over 1,500 hectares of parks and
open spaces which provide endless
leisure opportunities for walking,
cycling and enjoying time with
friends and family.
The Wirral Way runs along the west Wirral
coastline and provides 12 miles of
uninterrupted pathway in a quiet and tranquil
setting; similarly the Wirral Circular Trail is a 35
mile signposted walking and cycling route that
takes you on a tour of the borough’s glorious
coastline and open spaces, providing
residents and visitors with a great choice of
natural leisure assets to enjoy.
Our parks, beaches and open spaces have
won national awards and are home to many
kinds of plants and wildlife. Hilbre Island
attracts many visitors throughout the year to
enjoy the beautiful scenery and views across
the River Dee, and to experience watching grey
seals and a variety of coastal birds in their
natural environment.
Wirral is also fortunate to be surrounded on
three sides by water providing excellent
opportunities for fishing, sailing and other
watersports. We have two marine lakes - at
West Kirby and New Brighton - both of which
are popular for a range of leisure pursuits such
as windsurfing, kayaking and boating.

opened in 1847 and the inspiration for the
creation of Central Park in New York City. A
variety of events and local activities are held in
our parks and open spaces including festivals
and concerts. We also have a range of
community gardens and open spaces that are
maintained by local community groups, such
as the New Ferry Butterfly Park which is an
urban nature reserve.
It is important that we build on the fantastic
leisure offer we currently have in Wirral and
our priority over the next five years is to
further enhance these assets and to market,
promote and celebrate leisure in Wirral and
attract more visitors from outside the area.
What do we already know?
• Two thirds of residents use parks, beaches 		
and open spaces for walking and exercise, 		
one in five use them for cycling and one in 		
ten use parks for playing sport.5
• Relaxation is one of the main reasons given
for using parks and open spaces.5
• The coast, countryside and quality food are
the most important considerations for 		
planning short breaks to the Wirral.2
What will we do over the next five years?
• We will maximise the potential of our parks,
beaches and open spaces through 			
developing our country parks as national 		
tourist attractions and create more 			
opportunities for camping and caravanning
facilities.
• We will increase the number and variety of 		
events held in Wirral including festivals and
local activities to all our residents, 			
regardless of age or income.

We also have assets of historic importance
such as Birkenhead Park, the world’s first
public park, designed by Joseph Paxton,

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

• We will promote our tourist attractions like 		
New Brighton, Hilbre Island and Birkenhead
Park and develop our watersport offer to 		
attract regional, national and international 		
visitors to Wirral.
How will we measure if we’re getting this
right?
• Increase the number of residents who 		
regularly use the boroughs parks and open
spaces (Source: Residents’ Survey).
• Increase the value of Visitor spend in Wirral
to £450 million by 2020 (Source: 			
Scarborough Tourism Economy Activity 		
Monitor ‘STEAM’ Report).
• Increase the number of visitors to Wirral to 		
9.1 million by 2020 (Source: STEAM Report).
• Increase the number of events in Wirral’s 		
parks, beaches and open spaces (APSE 		
Parks Performance Review).
• Increase the number of national quality 		
awards for Wirral’s parks, coastal sites and 		
open spaces (Source: Green Flag and Blue 		
Flag awards).

Case Study
In 2014, National Citizen Service (NCS)
worked in partnership with Wirral
Council Coastal Rangers to reopen the
old campsite facility at Thurstaston to
provide accommodation for young
people to camp in Wirral Country Park
and experience nature and wildlife. The
120 young people engaged in activities
such as ‘Forest Schools’ led by the
Rangers and recognised qualifications
including first aid and food safety.
In summer 2015, 190 young people,
attended the NCS programme. The
young people now aim to gather funding
to get a working kitchen/ washing area
so growing numbers can be
accommodated. A further 200 young
people are expected to join the
programme in summer 2016.

Case Study
The Wirral Walking Festival is a series
of exciting and varied walks in the parks,
open countryside, coast and heritage
sites in Wirral throughout May each year.
This annual event is aimed at introducing
people to parts of Wirral that they have
never visited and will ‘showcase’ the
Wirral Peninsula as one of the most
diverse and interesting places in the
country to live and visit. Many of the
walks are accessible for those with
limited mobility.

14

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

“ The perfect walk for fresh air
and sea views.”
Marine Lake, West Kirby, Visitor from Chester, September 2015

15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2. Encourage people to take part in
sports, leisure, social and 		
physical activities
The health and wellbeing of our
residents is important to us all. In
Wirral, almost 58% of adults (16+)
are classified as active which is
slightly higher than the national
(56%) and regional averages (53%),
but this is a figure we want to
increase due to the benefits that
taking part in leisure activities have
on a person’s health and wellbeing. 1

These benefits include reducing the
likelihood of obesity, increasing life
expectancy and improving mental health
through reducing depression and alleviating
anxiety. We want to encourage more people
to take responsibility for their own physical
and mental health and taking part in more
sports, leisure, social and physical activities
is an important part of that ambition.
There are a range of community, private and
public sector leisure offers currently
available to residents, including sports
centres and fitness suites, community gyms
and local sports teams, in addition to local
walking, running and cycling groups. We also
have exercise facilities within many of our
parks and an extensive range of local groups
in Wirral who provide community-led
activities, enabling residents to take part in
an array of leisure activities including awardwinning football, athletics, cricket and rugby
clubs. We will ensure that all local residents,
including those who are disabled or
disadvantaged, are able to access leisure
opportunities.

16

An active community creates a good
environment for local residents to support
healthy behaviours and reduces health
inequalities. Every young person in Wirral
should be able to access and participate in
sporting or leisure activities, which has been
linked to improving educational attainment
and reducing anti-social behaviour. Sport
also helps create a sense of belonging and
social inclusion through bringing people
from all backgrounds together to enjoy a
competitive activity, or just for fun.
Based on what our residents have told us,
we recognise that for some people, there
are a number of obstacles which prevent
them from enjoying leisure activities. For
example, many residents feel socially
isolated and would like to participate in
some form of leisure, however they do not
have the confidence, or are unsure of how
to make the ‘first step’. We want to
encourage our residents to support their
family members, friends and neighbours to
help them participate in leisure pursuits.
This could include assisting them in their
search for an appropriate leisure activity, or
providing them with moral support by
accompanying them to a fitness class, or
social group.
We will also work to ensure the cost of
leisure activities in Wirral does not act as a
barrier to our residents and want to
promote leisure opportunities for all of our
residents regardless of age, ability, or
income.
Our priority is to work in partnership with
local groups and organisations to encourage
our residents to make beneficial changes to
their lifestyles, such as walking or cycling to
work or engaging in social activities to tackle
isolation. We will also encourage individuals
and families to make leisure a part of their
daily routine and encourage participation in
leisure and sport from an earlier age.

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

What do we already know?
• 66% of residents are satisfied with local 		
sports provision in comparison to 62 % of 		
people in the North West and 62% of people
in England.7
• 61% of residents claim feeling healthy is one 		
of the most important factors contributing to
their quality of life.1
What will we do over the next five years?
• We will develop an ‘Active Wirral’ campaign to
encourage people to participate in sports 		
and physical activity.
• We will work with partners to develop 		
creative ways to support people to access 		
leisure activities.
• We will work with local schools and colleges 		
to encourage participation in leisure and 		
sport from an earlier age.
• We will increase access to physical and 		
sporting activities for more of our residents.
• We will work with partners to further 		
develop our cycling and walking networks 		
and cycle hire hubs.
• We will promote the health, economic and 		
environmental benefits of walking and 		
cycling through marketing campaigns, local 		
businesses and educational institutions.
• We will review the private and public leisure 		
provision in Wirral to make it affordable and 		
fit for the future needs of our residents.
How will we measure if we’re getting this
right?
• Increase the number of adults cycling to 		
work (Source: Travel surveys with local 		
businesses).

16

• Increase the number of people who are 		
cycling in Wirral (Source: Automatic cycle 		
counters figures)
• Increase the number of adults (14+) who 		
participate in sport at least once a week 		
(Source: Active Lives Survey - Sports England).
• Increase the use of outdoor space for 		
exercise / health reasons (Source: Public 		
Health Outcomes Framework).
Case Study
Birkenhead Parkrun is a 5km run,
which takes place every Saturday at
9:00am in Birkenhead Park. The Parkrun
can be completed at any running pace
and is suitable for both novice runners,
as well as for more advanced runners.
Anyone is welcome to register to Parkrun
and it is free to join. Birkenhead Parkrun
is organised entirely by volunteers, who
welcome runners for a post-parkrun
coffee at the Birkenhead Park Visitors
Centre.

Case Study
October 2015 saw a host of CycloCross
races take place on the playing fields
behind the Oval Leisure Centre,
Bebington. The day was organised by
local cycling club, Port Sunlight Wheelers,
as part of the North West CycloCross
League. This was the first time a league
race had taken place on Wirral, and if the
success of the day is anything to go by,
there will be more races coming our way
in the future! Over 400 people of all ages
competed on the day in a number of
races organised on the 2km long course.

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

18

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

3. Increase pride in Wirral’s 			
communities and encourage 			
more residents to volunteer
In Wirral, we are fortunate to have
a vibrant network of volunteers,
active community groups and
organisations who are passionate
about participating in their local
neighbourhoods and play a vital role
in helping us improve and promote
our leisure offer.
We have strong and well-established friends
groups, who have a key role in promoting and
maintaining our parks and assisting with a
variety of conservation tasks. Many friends
of parks groups in Wirral also help organise
events, lead guided walks and raise funds to
ensure the parks are maintained to the highest
standard.
We want to continue to build on these
networks and groups and inspire more of our
residents to volunteer. To do this, we seek to
further instil community pride and will provide
residents with the opportunity to choose from
a variety of volunteering options from parks
and gardens, to volunteering in a range of
different sporting and social clubs.
Volunteering provides opportunities for
personal development and offers a chance
to gain experience and skills which could help
access employment.
We want to encourage more residents to get
involved in local events which bring
communities together and to encourage our
residents to participate in all forms of leisure
and social activities. More locally-led leisure
activities can help tackle loneliness and social
isolation which particularly impacts our older

residents. We believe access to more leisure
opportunities provided locally will help us
support some of our most vulnerable
residents to become more involved in their
communities.
Our priority is to support more people to
volunteer and to encourage local groups and
organisations to continue to make a positive
contribution in their local area. We want to
support more locally-led leisure activities and
provide support and motivation to enable
more residents to access leisure activities
across the borough.
What do we already know?
• 48% of residents said they would volunteer
if more information about the things they 		
could do was available.1
• 17% of Wirral residents volunteer at least 		
one hour a week to support sport – slightly 		
higher than the regional (13%) and national 		
(13%) statistics.7
What will we do over the next five years?
• We will work with local groups and 			
communities to encourage more people to 		
volunteer in Wirral.
• We will explore opportunities to enable 		
local groups and communities to manage 		
and run local leisure assets and activities in
their neighbourhoods.
How will we measure if we’re getting
this right?
• Increase the number of residents who say 		
they volunteer and / or support community
groups (Source: Residents’ Survey).
• Increase the number of successful asset 		
transfers to local communities.

19

		
THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

“

					

20

Volunteering brings benefits to 		
both society at large and the 			
individual volunteer. It makes 			
important contributions, 				
economically as well as socially.
It contributes to a more cohesive
society by building trust and
reciprocity among citizens”
United Nations

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

16

Case Study

Case Study

Stuart Smith, Wirral Sports Forum’s
Young Volunteer of the Year 2015,
received the exciting news that due to
his outstanding and ongoing
commitment to sport, he has been
asked to take on a Young Advisors role
at the next Olympic Games in Rio de
Janeiro, Brazil in 2016.

Heswall Hall is a shining example of
how a vibrant, engaged and dynamic
Wirral community can transform an
asset. The Hall was transferred to
Heswall Community Trust in September
2011 and, while still owned by Wirral
Council, the Trust wholly manages its
operation, maintenance and finances.

It could all have been so different. It was
only a couple of years ago that Stuart
had fallen in with the wrong crowd and
was finding it difficult to stay out of
trouble. The change started when he
was referred to Wirral Positive Futures
scheme whose aim is to use sport to
improve behaviour, attitudes and
outlook on life in order to improve
lifestyles and ultimately achieve better
futures. Stuart says “I feel better than
ever, I am self-motivated to do things
and I have a positive outlook on life”.

The Hall is once again a prized
community asset with pre-school play
schemes, lunch clubs and tea dances
among a huge variety of services and
activities on offer every week.

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

How we will deliver this strategy

The delivery of this leisure strategy
will be in partnership with local
residents and community groups, as
well as public, private and voluntary
sector organisations. The strategy
will also support the key outcomes
outlined in the national government
strategy ‘Sporting Future: A New
Strategy for an Active Nation’.
We will deliver the ambitions
outlined through the following
action plan and other key strategies
and plans which focus on culture,
tourism, parks and open spaces,
volunteering and health and
wellbeing.

The agreed actions will be delivered over the
lifetime of this strategy with detailed project
plans to be developed to ensure there is
regular review and monitoring of the actions.
There will also be further engagement and
consultation with residents, partner
organisations and other stakeholders as we
develop more detailed action plans.
An annual report will be prepared which will
outline progress of the actions and
demonstrate the outcomes that have been
achieved through the delivery of the strategy.

22

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

“ Without Birkenhead Park 			
there would be no Central 		
Park... without Central Park 		
there would be no New York”
	Doug Blonsky, President and CEO of Central Park Conservancy

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

ACTION PLANS
1.

Promote and celebrate Wirral’s parks, coast and countryside for leisure activities

1.

Promote and celebrate Wirral’s parks, coast and countryside for leisure activities
Theme Lead: Age UK Wirral
What do we need to do?

By when

Implement promotion and develop effective marketing
campaigns for Wirral’s parks, coast and countryside.

March 2016

Wirral Council
Marketing Team

Prepare a master plan for each of Wirral’s country
parks to optimise their potential.

September
2016

Wirral Council Parks
and Countryside Team

Create and publicise a calendar of local events and
activities.

April 2016

Wirral Council
Marketing Team

Increase the number of events in Wirral’s parks.

April 2017

Wirral Council Parks
and Countryside Team

Develop commercial opportunities for people to enjoy
parks and open spaces, through:
• Creating additional camping and caravanning sites
in Wirral
• Develop a Footgolf course at Arrowe Country Park
and the Warren.

April 2017

Wirral Council Parks
and Countryside
Team

March 2016

Wirral Council

Improve signage to Wirral’s parks, countryside and
open spaces to 20 sites.

April 2018

Wirral Council Parks
and Countryside
Team

Ensure the training offer for the leisure and tourism
sectors supports the priorities for business growth
and development.

March 2017

Wirral Metropolitan
College

Maximise work related opportunities to engage students
of all ages in the leisure and tourism sectors, progress
them into apprenticeships, jobs and ensure
opportunities for continuous professional development.

March 2017

Wirral Metropolitan
College

Ongoing

Wirral Council in
partnership with
local schools

Work
commences
in April 2016.
Target
completion
date April 2017

Wirral Council

June 2016

Wirral Council

Provide more opportunities for young people to
benefit from being outdoors , for example, continue
to run Forest Schools with Wirral pupils.
Refurbish on-shore facilities at Marine Lake,
West Kirby.

24

Lead organisation

Improve watersports offer at New Brighton through
identifying future viable activities.

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

2.

Encourage people to take part in sports, leisure, social and physical activities

What do we need to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Explore further opportunities for using technology
and social media campaigns to encourage
participation in sport and physical activity.

June 2016

Wirral Council
Marketing Team

Implement Liquid Logic Marketplace to capture
local activities.

April 2016

Wirral Council

Develop, promote and support good referral
pathways between GPs and the network of sports,
leisure, social and physical activities available in Wirral,
particularly those activities provided by the extensive
voluntary sector.

June 2016

Wirral Health
Partners

Host an annual marketplace event to showcase
leisure opportunities in Wirral.

July 2016

Wirral Partnership

Implement a ‘buddy scheme’ to support people to
access leisure activities and explore opportunities to
develop a coaching programme.

September
2016

Wirral Council

Complete review of Wirral’s leisure and golf facilities to
ensure they are sustainable and fit for the future.

June 2016

Wirral Council

Develop and implement Green Routes to improve
access to services and opportunities.

Ongoing

Merseytravel /
Wirral Council

Ensure that new developments include walking and
cycling routes link to existing communities and
key destinations.

Ongoing

Merseytravel /
Wirral Council

Explore funding opportunities for a prioritised
programme of infrastructure projects to encourage
the use of active modes e.g. Sustainable Transport
Enhancements Package (STEP programme).

April 2017

Merseytravel /
Wirral Council

Encourage more people to cycle through the following
actions:
• Cycle hire scheme
• Increased number of secure cycle parking spaces
• Improved signage at stations to key attractions
• Support Bikeability training in schools by 2020
• Work in partnership to support contribution and
delivery of new community cycle hubs across Wirral.

April 2017

Merseytravel /
Wirral Council

Ongoing

Wirral Council in
partnership with
local schools

Deliver the national curriculum standard for school
swimming sessions.

21
25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What do we need to do?
Deliver a range of successful sporting initiatives
across the borough including:
• Streetgames programmes for young people
• Mobile sports outreach units
• ‘Positive Futures’ programme
• ‘Sportivate’ programme to 14-25 year olds.
• ‘Satellite Clubs’ programme for 14-25 year olds.
Open Wirral’s first Youth Zone ‘The Hive’ for the
borough’s young people aged 8-19 and up to 25 for
those with disabilities.

Develop disability sport programmes in line with the
new government strategy of ‘Sporting Future – a New
Strategy for an Active Nation’

By when

Lead organisation

Ongoing

Wirral Council

Complete
summer 2016.
Open
December
2016

Onside

Ongoing

Wirral Council

3. Increase pride in Wirral’s communities and encourage more residents to volunteer

What do we need to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Develop a partnership approach to volunteering
across the public, private, community and voluntary
sector in Wirral.
• Research best practice in other areas
• Develop a Wirral Partnership strategy for
volunteering
• Create more local volunteering opportunities to
support leisure and social activities in Wirral
• Agree a public sector workforce volunteering
programme

March 2017

Wirral Partnership

Actively work with local groups to enable them to run
and manage leisure activities and facilities in Wirral
and access funding opportunities.

March 2017

Wirral Partnership

June 2016

Wirral Partnership

In line with
national
programme

Wirral Council

Encourage private sector businesses to sign-up to
workforce volunteering programmes.
Increase the number of places on National Citizens
Service programme available to Wirral’s young people
aged 16 to 17.

26

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

Conclusion

In developing this strategy we have
listened to what our residents and
visitors have told us to identify the
priorities for the leisure strategy and
what we will focus on for the next
five years.
We will work collaboratively with our partners
and stakeholders, to deliver our ambition for
more people to enjoy the wide range of leisure,
social, physical and sporting opportunities
available across Wirral; and to encourage and
provide opportunities for more people to
volunteer in Wirral.

27

					

				

Ageing Well In Wirral

References

Wirral Council (2015): Wirral Residents Survey 2015; https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/wirral-plan2020-vision/wirral-resident-survey-2015 accessed 15/2/2016

1

Wirral Council (2011): Wirral Visitor Research Study 2011; taken from Wirral Parks and Open Spaces
Strategy 2014 – 2024, https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20
events/parks%20and%20open%20spaces/Wirral%20Parks%20and%20Open%20Spaces%20
Strategy%202014-2024.pdf accessed 15/2/2016
2

Public Health England (2015): Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2.13i - Percentage of physically active
and inactive adults - active adults 2014- http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomesframework#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/101/are/E08000015/iid/90275/age/164/sex/4
accessed 15/2/2016
3

Sport England (2015a): Active People Interactive- All Sports; http://activepeople.sportengland.org/
Result#Id=90292&OutputType=1 accessed 15/2/2016
4

5

Wirral Council (2012): Parks Survey 2012; www.wirral.gov.uk

Sport England (2015b): Active People Interactive- All physical activities; http://activepeople.sportengland.
org/Result#Id=90290&OutputType=1

6

Sport England (2015c): Local Sport Profile: Wirral - KPI6 - Very/fairly satisfied with local sports provision;
http://localsportprofile.sportengland.org/ProfileReport.aspx?g=00CB&t=P&s=P01,P02,P03,P04,P05,P06,
P07,P19,P20,P28,P21,P22,P23,P24,P25,P27 accessed 15/2/2016
7

For more information please see Wirral JSNA: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/
For more information on all aspects of travel and transport, please see Liverpool City Region ‘A Transport
Plan for Growth’ http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery.

28

WIRRAL’S LEISURE STRATEGY

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

CABINET
MONDAY 21 MARCH 2016
WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION UNDERPINNING STRATEGIES:
CULTURE STRATEGY

COUNCILLOR CHRIS MEADEN
Councillor Chris Meaden, Cabinet Member – Leisure & Culture, said:
“Events, arts, culture and heritage are intrinsic parts of what makes Wirral such a fantastic
place to live and visit. World-famous museums and galleries, thriving arts festivals and
theatres, and energetic and creative residents combine to form a borough with an
incredible heritage and a bright future.
I am proud to present Wirral’s Culture Strategy which is the overarching vision for how
everyone in this borough can work together to build on the cultural assets we have and
allow every resident to enjoy them.”
In the Wirral plan we set out the following pledge: We will encourage more people to
enjoy the wide range of leisure, culture and sporting opportunities on offer across Wirral.
We will listen to residents’ ideas and requests, and by 2020, will have increased access
to events and activities to all our residents, regardless of age or income.”
REPORT SUMMARY
The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out a shared partnership vision to improve outcomes
for Wirral residents. Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Plan are
underpinned through the development and implementation of a set of key strategies.
This report provides Cabinet with the Culture strategy; a key strategic document
which articulates ambitions related to the Wirral Plan Environment Priority:
“Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and an
excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone who lives here”
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is therefore a key decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to approve the Culture Strategy which is appended to this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The Culture Strategy has been developed to deliver the Wirral Plan pledge to
encourage more residents and visitors to enjoy leisure and culture opportunities on
offer across the borough.
The strategy has been developed with residents, partners and stakeholders to
ensure that there has been extensive engagement in the development of the
strategy and it priority areas.
2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

No other options have been considered.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

A five year Wirral Plan received unanimous approval at the meeting of full Council
on 13th July 2015 and has been adopted by all strategic partners from the public
private and third sectors.
The plan contains twenty pledges to be achieved by 2020; the first of the
pledges under the environment theme is to ensure access to leisure and culture
opportunities for all and sets out the following commitment:
“We will encourage more people to enjoy the wide range of leisure, culture and
sporting opportunities on offer across Wirral. We will listen to residents’ ideas and
requests, and by 2020, will have increased access to events and activities to all our
residents, regardless of age or income.”
To deliver this pledge there will be a leisure strategy and a separate culture strategy
to deliver our ambitions.
Both strategies will complement each other and will also link to the other Wirral Plan
pledges such as Tourism, Healthier Lives and the Growth Plan.
The purpose of the Culture Strategy is to ensure that all Wirral residents and visitors
can access great cultural opportunities; support and promote new and existing
talented Wirral artists; enable our local creative businesses and cultural
organisations to thrive; and to build on some of the fantastic assets that currently
exist within Wirral.
The strategy has been developed through a partnership steering group chaired by
the Council’s Strategic Director of Families and Wellbeing and includes a set of
partnership actions to be delivered over the course of the five year strategy. The
strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis with regular performance reporting
taking place through appropriate governance arrangements.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

As projects to deliver the strategy are developed the financial implications will
be identified as part of the project plan.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. As projects to deliver
the strategy are developed the legal implications will be identified as part of the
project plan.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

The Culture Strategy will be co-ordinated in partnership by existing staff resource.
Any additional resource requirements will be identified as a detailed delivery plan is
developed.

7.0

RELEVANT

7.1

The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan
developments to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating
actions are put in place as appropriate.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Culture Strategy has been developed through a partnership steering group and
has been subject to wider consultation with residents, partners and other
stakeholders.
A stakeholder event took place on 2nd February 2016 and the feedback from the
event was used to inform the development of the strategy.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and the impact
assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments

REPORT AUTHOR:

Clare Fish
(Strategic Director of Families and Wellbeing)
telephone: (0151 691 8306)
email: clarefish@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral’s Culture Strategy
REFERENCE MATERIAL
All reference material is contained within the strategy appended to this report.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Not applicable

Date

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

WIRRAL’S CULTURE
STRATEGY

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
1

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CONTENTS

Foreword

4

Introduction	

6

What We Know ABOUT ARTS AND CULTURE IN WIRRAL

10

Our Priorities	

2

1. Develop creative partnerships and a cultural events programme to promote arts,
culture and heritage in Wirral

15

2. Increase resident and visitor participation in Wirral’s arts, culture and heritage
offer to promote its educational, social and wellbeing benefits

17

3. Promote Wirral on a global stage as part of the Liverpool City Region to attract
world class arts, culture and heritage events and exhibitions

19

4. Maximise the contribution of the arts, culture and heritage to the local economy

21

How we will Deliver This Strategy

24

Action PlanS

25

Conclusion	

28

References

29

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

3

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

FOREWORD

Councillor Chris Meaden, Cabinet Member
Leisure and Culture
Events, arts, culture and heritage are intrinsic
parts of what makes Wirral such a fantastic
place to live and visit. World-famous museums
and galleries, theatres, thriving arts and music
festivals, and energetic and creative residents
combine to form a borough with an incredible
heritage and a bright future.
As the Cabinet Member for Leisure and
Culture I am proud to present Wirral’s Culture
Strategy: developed in partnership, combining
the views and ambitions of everyone with an
interest in culture in Wirral, this strategy is the
overarching vision for how everyone in this
borough can work together to build on the
cultural assets we have and allow every
resident to enjoy them.
On any given day, a resident or visitor to Wirral
can enjoy a show at the Floral Pavilion; see
fascinating works of art at the Williamson Art
Gallery, the Priory or the Lady Lever Art
Gallery, stroll through historic locations like
Hamilton Square or Port Sunlight and take
part in an event in iconic Birkenhead Park, the
inspiration for Central Park in New York City.
We should be proud of our borough, and
through this strategy we will do all we can to
enable all of our residents to enjoy this unique
place. During a time when funding continues
to reduce and we need to target public money
carefully; we have to do more together, find
new ways of promoting arts and culture, of
getting residents more involved, and of
promoting Wirral on the world-stage as a
cultural attraction.

4

Culture is important to us all. Events and
attractions bring thousands of visitors to
Wirral every year; they build up our economy,
create jobs and it helps to show the country
and the world that Wirral is the vibrant and
dynamic place we all know it to be.
Creativity is key; we need to do things
differently, to find new ways to unlock the
potential in our communities, to make sure
public services and money are used to achieve
the priorities described in this document
and use imagination, new ideas and a spirit
of partnership to turn Wirral into a cultural
powerhouse.
I am proud of this strategy, particularly by
the spirit of partnership it creates. Visitors to
Wirral are universally delighted and inspired
by the culture they enjoy. This strategy will
build on that; making sure that Wirral
residents and visitors alike are able to benefit
from the stunning and unique cultural
opportunities we can offer.

Councillor Chris Meaden

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

5

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

INTRODUCTION

The Wirral Plan sets out a commitment to work
together over the next five years and beyond to
achieve the 20 Pledges.
Our Wirral Plan pledge states:
Leisure and Cultural Opportunities for All:
We will encourage more people to enjoy the
wide range of leisure, culture and sporting
opportunities on offer across Wirral. We will listen
to residents’ ideas and requests, and by 2020, will
have increased access to events and activities to
all our residents, regardless of age or income.
The culture strategy will contribute to all 20
Wirral Plan pledges and will specifically link across
to our strategies for leisure, tourism and growth.
This will ensure they complement each other and
provide the ambition and aims to achieve and
deliver our agreed outcomes.

6

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

What is culture?

Why is culture important in Wirral?

‘Art is about the discovery of the
unknown and the unimagined…’

We want Wirral to be an area where residents
both young and old continue to enjoy arts,
culture and heritage activities and events.
We also want to be a world-class tourist
destination, continuing to welcome visitors
from around the globe; a place where culture,
enterprise and opportunity thrives and a place
where people want to live, work, play, study
and do business.

Arts Council England 2013.

“Culture is the way of life, especially
the general customs and beliefs,
of a particular group of people at
a particular time.”
Cambridge English Dictionary.
Wirral’s Arts, Culture and Heritage Offer
Wirral is blessed with stunning natural splendour
and a rich heritage. There are a range of
beautiful parks, countryside and open spaces
together with a stunning coastline which
combine to create a uniquely charming part
of the world. The UNESCO World Heritage Site
may be located on the Liverpool Waterfront,
but the only way to truly enjoy it is from Wirral,
along with our hundreds of cultural attractions,
exhibitions and events.
We are proud of our culture, our history and
our present; including the Floral Pavilion, the
Williamson Art Gallery, the Priory, and Lady
Lever Art Gallery. Our heritage assets are
world class and attract visitors from across
the globe to Port Sunlight, the Priory Museum
and Birkenhead Park amongst other important
historic and conservation sites. In addition,
Wirral has an enviable musical heritage and a
thriving, creative new music culture.
Wirral is home to many distinct towns and
picturesque villages with thriving communities
who come together to deliver events such as
Wirral Festival of Firsts, Heswall Arts Festival,
Youth arts events in New Brighton, Transport
Exhibitions, and Heritage Open days; all
organised and run by local groups and
communities.

Enjoying culture can improve a person’s health
and wellbeing, it develops strong and cohesive
communities and it creates a fantastic place
to live and visit. Culture brings major economic
opportunities to an area through employment,
investment, skills and the development of
new businesses, particularly in the creative
industry sector.
Wirral is renowned for nurturing young and
new talent; many local people regularly achieve
regional, national and global success. We want
to continue to nurture this talent in our young
people through education and training so that
we can continue to create the stars of the future
in arts and culture. We also want to support local
businesses in the cultural industry to thrive.
Wirral’s place in the Liverpool City Region
and wider area
Securing a strong and diverse quality arts and
cultural offer in Wirral is important, but it is also
vital that we look beyond our own boundaries
and capitalise on the cultural opportunities
throughout the Liverpool City Region.
There is already a strong history of working
together with our City Region partners to deliver
fantastic events, which we want to build on
further. The Liverpool City Region devolution
process and new approaches from other
organisations mean that partners and key
organisations in arts, cultural and creative
industries must work together to achieve the
exciting and unique opportunities the devolution
deal presents.

7

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

National Government have indicated they are
committed to working with the City Region
to support a place-based strategy and our
plans to establish a Local Cultural Partnership.
In Wirral we want to work with all partners
in order to maximise the range and scope
of high-quality cultural opportunities that
residents and tourists can enjoy and take
part in at a community level, across Wirral
and the wider Liverpool City Region.
In the past few years, we have seen globallysignificant events and hundreds
of thousands of visitors to the City Region.
The Three Queens in May 2015 saw Cunard
returning to its spiritual home, following the
hugely successful Giants parade in Liverpool.
The Tall Ships Festival on the River Mersey and
the return of the Open Golf Championship to
Hoylake further cemented Wirral and the
Liverpool City Region’s position as a global
cultural hub.
There are also significant opportunities to
further develop our cultural links with Chester
and North Wales and we will continue to
explore ways to attract visitors to Wirral to
participate in arts, culture and heritage events
and activities.

8

The purpose of the strategy
Through this Strategy we have defined culture
as being about arts, about creativity, about
taking part and enjoyment. It is about using
culture to drive happiness for residents,
improving their quality of life and growing the
local economy.
We will work, with all stakeholders, on a clear
set of priorities to enhance Wirral’s cultural
offer and enable culture, arts and heritage to
enrich the lives of residents and visitors and
inspire people to participate.
The ambition of this strategy is to ensure that
all Wirral residents and visitors can access
great cultural opportunities; it aims to support
and promote new and existing talented Wirral
artists, enable our local creative businesses
and cultural organisations to thrive and to
build on some of the fantastic assets that
currently exist within Wirral.

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

Our culture priorities for Wirral over the
next 5 years
This strategy has been developed through
discussion and consultation with a range of
partners including local, regional and national
arts, culture and heritage organisations.
The strategy is also based on an
understanding of what our local residents and
visitors have told us is important to them
through the Wirral Resident Survey and Wirral
Visitor Research study. We are committed to
continuing to engage with a wide range of
stakeholders to enhance Wirral’s cultural offer
and to secure events and activities in Wirral for
our residents and visitors to enjoy.
There is a growing body of evidence which
demonstrates that a good cultural offer brings
economic, educational, social, wellbeing and
health benefits to a region and its people.

The priorities underpinning this cultural
strategy and associated plans are therefore as
follows:
•

Develop creative partnerships and a 		
cultural events programme to promote 		
arts, culture and heritage in Wirral.

•

Increase resident and visitor participation 		
in Wirral’s arts, culture and heritage offer 		
to promote its educational, social and 		
wellbeing benefits.

•

Promote Wirral on a global stage as part
of the Liverpool City Region to attract
world class arts, culture and heritage
events and exhibitions.

•

Maximise the contribution of the arts,
culture and heritage to the local economy.

To deliver the priorities outlined above we
will work with a broad range of partners and
professional in the public, private, voluntary
and community sectors, including National
Museums Liverpool and Culture Liverpool,
as well as Arts Council England and other
regional and national funding bodies to
achieve our ambitions.

9

What we know
about Arts and
Culture in Wirral…

10

The Black Pearl New Brighton: https://www.facebook.com/#!/TheBlackPearlNewBrighton/ - accessed 3/4/2016

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

WIRRAL PENINSULA

Marine Point
& Attractions

6

The Light Cinema

IRISH SEA / LIVERPOOL BAY

Seacombe
Ferry
Terminal

Black Pearl

8
Wallasey
Grove

5

Wirral
Transport
Museum

Wallasey
Village

Leasowe
Lighthouse

Bidston
Moss
Bidston

Leasowe

Moreton

Birkenhead
North
Birkenhead
Park

Meols
Manor Road

3

2

Green Lane
Birkenhead Park

Upton
See inset map

Oxton

Greasby
Off the
Ground Theatre

U-boat Story Pier Head
Ferry
Conway
Terminal
Park
Hamilton
Woodside
Square
Ferry Terminal
The
Wilfred
Owen Story
Birkenhead Priory
Birkenhead
Central

Rock
Ferry

4
Arrowe
Country
Park

Bebington

Thingwall
Storeton

7

Barnston
Pensby
Spital

W
irr
- Wal C
irr oun
al try
W P
ay ar

Heswall
Dales

1

Heswall

Brimstage Hall
& Craft Courtyard

k

Bromborough
Rake
Bromborough

Eastham
Rake

WIRRAL
Parkgate

Neston

CHESHIRE WEST
& CHESTER

Hooton

FESTIVALS
1

Heswall Arts Festival

5

text
text Brighton
Love New
Parade

2

Wirral Festival of Firsts

6

3

Festival of Transport

7

International
Guitar Festival
Port Sunlight
IRISH SEA
West Kirby
Wirral
Beer Festival

4

Hillbark Players - Open-air Shakespeare

8

Astral Coast Festival

Arrowe
Country
Park

Hoylake

11
Wirral
Archive Service

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Birkenhead Park Festival of Transport
The festival of Transport is held in Birkenhead
Park and is now in its 9th year. The festival is
run by volunteers and features steam engines,
vintage buses and classic cars as well as a
vintage fair, food and crafts, and live musicians.

Wirral Festival of Firsts
Wirral Festival of Firsts was first established in
2011 in Hoylake. The community based arts
festival brings together hundreds of artists,
performers and musicians to celebrate the
power and diversity of art and music in Wirral.

The Floral Pavilion Ambassadors
The Floral Pavilion Ambassador scheme
started in 2013 and now has over 150
volunteers aged 16 to 85. The scheme provides
an opportunity for members of the community
to feel integrated within the venue and to assist
with the venues operations.

12

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

					

We will work, with all
“stakeholders,
on a clear set of

priorities to enhance Wirral’s
cultural offer and enable culture,
arts and heritage to enrich the lives
of residents and visitors and inspire
people to participate.

“

13

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

OUR PRIORITIES

14

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

1. 	Develop creative partnerships
and a cultural events programme
to promote arts, culture and heritage
in Wirral

Wirral is well known for its vibrant
range of local organisations, groups
and individual artists who have put the
area on the map for its creativity and
inspiring events and activities.

Wirral is and always has been a place that has
nurtured world class talent and creativity,
including an endless and diverse list of writers,
poets, actors, dancers, musicians and
performers: Wilfred Owen, Glenda Jackson,
Alan Clarke, Daniel Craig, Andrea Buckley, John
Peel, The Coral, Orchestral Manoeuvres in the
Dark and Paul O’Grady to name but a few.
We want to continue to support the talented
individual artists and groups in Wirral and
enable them to reach their full potential in this
dynamic and competitive sector.
We will work in partnership to promote our
local arts and cultural organisations and
support them to grow and expand. We will
facilitate creative networks and hubs to enable
the sector to share best practice, raise their
profile and explore further opportunities to
build on the fantastic work that is already
happening in Wirral. We want to empower
and enable communities to lead events locally.

What will we do over the next five years?
•

We will establish a Wirral Culture
Partnership to generate ideas and
opportunities.

•

We will map existing arts, culture and
heritage activity in Wirral and develop
a marketing and communications
programme in partnership with the arts
and culture sector to promote activities
and events.

•

We will develop a specific plan in relation
to Wirral’s music offer.

•

We will explore opportunities to run
advice surgeries for small arts and cultural
organisations in Wirral.

How will we measure if we’re getting
this right?
• Annual survey of the effectiveness of the 		
Wirral Culture Partnership.
• Increase funding from funding organisations
including Arts Council England, Heritage 		
Lottery Fund and other sources.

We will work closely with key partners and
organisations to build action based
partnerships which will be key to helping arts
and cultural provision to grow and thrive.
Central to this will be our support to both the
grass roots creative and professional cultural
sectors which will be a crucial part of this work.
We will use our rivers, coast, parks and open
countryside to maximise opportunities for art
in the landscape and cultural events.
15

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

CASE STUDIES
Priory Education Programme
Placed Education is developing a unique
architecture and design workshop for pupils
from year 3-13 to explore the architecture
and heritage of the Priory – the oldest building
in Merseyside. In a pilot workshop run for
year 5 pupils at the Priory Primary School,
professional architects worked with staff
and pupils to develop skills and techniques
which complement the school curriculum
through design technology, art, geography
and history.
The Black Pearl
The Black Pearl, New Brighton and her
sister ship The Grace Darling, Hoylake, were
created in 2013 by local artists Frank Lund
and Major Mace. The ships, made mostly
from driftwood collected from Wirral’s
beaches, attract hundreds of children and
adults. The artists encourage community
participation in the projects and there is
now a growing band of driftwood dreamers
who give their time and skills to maintaining
the boats. Frank Lund commented “Maybe
it is “art” and maybe it isn’t. Whatever it is,
it is there to be experienced, to be lived with,
to be jumped on, interacted with, altered,
copied, rebuilt and, most of all, enjoyed!”.
Heritage Open Days
Wirral’s Heritage Open Days are organised
by volunteers from Wirral Heritage History and
Heritage Association, with support from the
Council and over 70 local groups. In 2015, 73
local history and heritage organisations came
together to organise 148 events over 9 days,
attracting more than 5,000 residents and
visitors. The range of activities included special
openings of historic buildings and churches,
walks, talks and family events.
16

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

2.	Increase resident and visitor
participation in Wirral’s arts,
culture and heritage offer to
promote its educational, social
and wellbeing benefits
Being involved in arts, creativity and
culture can help to transform people’s
lives. We will do more to engage with
our local residents and communities
and promote the educational, social
and wellbeing benefits that culture
can offer.
We will celebrate diverse cultural interests and
secure a wide range of cultural opportunities
for all our residents, visitors and families to
enjoy. We will ensure that arts and culture is
inclusive for all groups in Wirral; regardless of
age, income or background. We want to
inspire communities to deliver projects,
programmes, events and activities that can
further strengthen community cohesion and
civic pride.
In Wirral there are many community led arts
and cultural events and activities such as the
Festival of Firsts in Hoylake, Heswall Arts
Festival, Love New Brighton and many
more. There is also an abundance of local
youth arts and cultural events and activities,
history groups and Heritage Open days,
organised and run by local groups and
communities that we must continue to
promote and support. Participation in arts
and creative activity can help communities
to have pride and confidence in the places
where they live and celebrate what goes on
in local neighbourhoods. Our public spaces
and community assets, such as parks, schools,
community centres, libraries, theatres,
museums and galleries provide excellent

venues for people to enjoy and access arts and
cultural events and activities, and we need to
explore how we can maximise these
opportunities further.
Participation in arts and culture can have a
positive impact on a person’s health and
wellbeing. We will explore ways to enable
people to fully realise these health benefits as
an effective way of tackling health related
conditions, such as mental health and other
issues such as loneliness and social isolation.
We want to explore opportunities to use digital
and social media to encourage people to
participate in arts and culture, through actively
marketing and promoting the range of cultural
opportunities in Wirral.
We will work collectively to identify where there
are real gaps in provision to encourage more
engagement and involvement. We will also
work with families, children and young people
from an early age and our local schools to
encourage participation to enjoy a wide range
of arts and cultural activities.
What do we already know?
•

60% likelihood of reporting good health
having attended a cultural place or event
in the previous 12 months compared to
those who had not.1

•

63% of residents feel strongly that they
belong to their local area (Resident Survey
2015).2

•

Over 5,000 people attended Heritage
Open Days in Wirral in 2015 (Wirral History
& Heritage Association).3

•

30,000 youngsters attended the Floral
Pavilions Educational Programme of
Events in 2015.4

17

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What will we do over the next five years?
•

We will encourage our residents and
visitors to participate in a wide variety of
arts and cultural events and activities held
in Wirral’s communities.

•

We will work with families, youth
organisations and local schools to
encourage participation from a young age
in arts, culture and heritage activities.

How will we measure if we’re getting
this right?
•

Increase the number of arts and culture
events and activities in Wirral.

•

Increase the number of residents and
visitors participating in arts and culture.

CASE STUDIES
‘Living Memories’ reminiscence project

Love New Brighton Parade

The ‘Living Memories’ project, led by North
West Lodestar, worked with older members
of the local community to reminisce and
record their experiences and memories
through discussion, poetry, art, sharing
photographs, filming and crafts. Participants
created individual ‘Memory Boxes’ containing
photographs, small ornaments and personal
stories.

The first Love New Brighton Parade was
held in July 2015 organised by New Brighton
Community Centre and Brightside working
with over 200 local residents, schools,
businesses and artists. The parade attracted
over 2,000 local residents and visitors who
participated in the vibrant and colourful event
which celebrated the uniqueness of our
regenerated coastal town. Instrumental to the
management of the event was the involvement
of the Wallasey Young Creatives
Programme which provides local young
people with creative and event management
skills to deliver an outdoor production as well
as developing their leadership, confidence,
resilience and communication skills.

The project found that those who had been
involved felt they had improved their general
wellbeing and lessened their feelings of social
isolation.
Floral Pavilion Choir
The Choral Pavilion Choir started in 2011
with 12 members; the group has since
increased to over 120 members. The choir
aims to enable everyone to access music and
believes that singing can not only lift spirits,
but open up new doors in all aspects of life.
The choir have performed across the region,
including Vale Park, New Brighton and at the
annual River Festival at Liverpool Albert Dock.
The choir also performs for free at the Floral
Pavilion at the end of every term.

18

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

3.	Promote Wirral on a global stage as
part of the Liverpool City Region to
attract world class arts, culture and
heritage events and exhibitions

It is important for Wirral to have a
unique and compelling cultural identity
that complements and supports the
wider Liverpool City Region, in order
that it can take full advantage of the
fantastic range of arts, culture and
heritage events across a broad area.
In the last few years there has been global
attention on the region through major events
such as the The Giants, Three Queens and the
Tall Ships. These were prestigious cultural
events with a global-profile, and attracted
millions of local people and visitors. Visitors
have come from across the world with many
choosing to stay for several days and making a
significant contribution to the local economy.
Our aim is to work in partnership to ensure
that Wirral continues to embrace these
opportunities. Wirral is fantastically positioned
on the banks of the River Mersey and stunning
views across to Liverpool to take full advantage
of promoting itself as a destination of choice
for visitors to the region. We have the potential
in Wirral to attract visitors and to encourage
them to stay and explore what we have on
offer as well as the fantastic arts, culture and
heritage offer available on our doorstep in
Liverpool and Chester.
We know that there are huge tourism
opportunities that we can build on in Wirral.
There are many excellent beaches and parks
that can host more arts and culture events
and provide unique opportunities to develop
new cultural attractions and experiences like
sculpture parks, festivals and theatre, music
and dance events.

We will provide a place for new and emerging
talent in the arts, culture and music sectors,
and develop global links through initiatives like
Music Cities and live waterfront events.
Bringing world class events and exhibitions
to the region and to Wirral will be of huge
value to our residents and businesses.
We need to do more to ensure we are able
to take full advantage of these opportunities
and attract national and regional funding.
We are committed to working with our
Liverpool City Region partners as part of the
agreed devolution deal to develop plans to
place culture and creativity at the heart of its
strategy to accelerate economic growth,
improve skills and further develop its
distinctive visitor offer.
What do we already know?
•

70,000 visitors watched the Three Queens
event as part of the Mersey River Festival. 5

•

1 million visitors came to the region to
enjoy the Memories of August 1914 event
with around 300,000 from outside the
Liverpool City Region. The event boosted
the local economy by £46 million. 6

•

£735.8 million additional income was
generated across the city of Liverpool in
2008 when it was European Capital of
Culture.7

•

Music tourism numbers in the UK
increased by 34% between 2011 and 2014,
with 9.5 million people travelling to music
events in 2014.8

•

68% of UK businesses believed that the
European Capital of Culture had a positive
impact on Liverpool’s image.7

19

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What will we do over the next five years?
•

We will support the establishment of a
Cultural Partnership as part of the
Liverpool City Region devolution
agreement.

•

We will work in partnership with Culture
Liverpool and our Liverpool City Region
partners to maximise the opportunities to
attract visitors to Wirral to enjoy arts,
culture and heritage events.

•

How will we measure if we’re getting
this right?
• Increase the value of Visitor spend in Wirral 		
to £450 million by 2020.
(Scarborough Tourism Economy Activity 		
Monitor ‘STEAM’ Report)
• Increase the number of visitors to Wirral to 		
over 9 million by 2020.
(STEAM Report)

We will work with a range of funding
organisations to enable further investment
and funding opportunities.

CASE STUDIES
International Guitar Festival of
Great Britain
The Festival was established in 1988 and
continues to attract significant visitors to
Wirral to experience a world class event.
The annual festival provides a month of
great music that shows the versatility and
range of the guitar throughout the history
of every genre of music including, classical
music, jazz, folk, blues, rock’n’roll and rock.
Three Queens – Mersey River Festival
Cunard’s Three Queens – the Queen
Elizabeth, Queen Victoria, and Queen
Mary 2 took centre stage at the Mersey
River Festival in May 2015 to celebrate the
175th anniversary of the cruise line.
Thousands of residents and visitors on
both sides of the River Mersey lined the
coastline to welcome the iconic ships; those
who viewed the celebration from the Wirral
shores had the advantage of experiencing
stunning views across to the world famous
Liverpool skyline. The event received global
media attention and was made even more
memorable by the Red Arrows flypast to
honour this special occasion.
20

Port Sunlight
The historic village of Port Sunlight is a major
tourist destination attracting 300,000+ visitors
each year, both local and international. Port
Sunlight is a Designated Conservation Area
under the responsibility of Port Sunlight Village
Trust. Nearly every building is Grade II Listed,
and two sections of landscape are in Historic
England’s ‘Register of Historic Parks and
Gardens of special historic interest’. The Trust
employs 50 members of staff, 16 tour guides
and 60 volunteers.

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

4.	Maximise the contribution of
the arts, culture and heritage
to the local economy

Arts, culture and heritage can boost
local economies through attracting
visitors, developing local talent,
creating jobs and developing skills,
attracting and retaining businesses,
and revitalising places.
We want to work with our partners including
Arts Council England, Creative and Cultural
Skills, Wirral Chamber of Commerce and Wirral
Metropolitan College to support the Wirral
Partnership to maximise the contributions of
the arts and cultural sector to the local
economy. We need to explore new ways of
integrating the sector into the bigger picture
for economic growth and change for Wirral.

The digital production sector is a growing
one with tremendous potential in terms
of economic growth and employment
opportunities. We want to support creative
working in this sector and encourage our
young people to participate in the
opportunities that digital bring.
We also want to ensure that we fully explore
commercial opportunities and further develop
our cultural assets including the Floral Pavilion,
Williamson Art Gallery, Birkenhead Priory, Lady
Lever Art Gallery, and other assets including
Port Sunlight, Birkenhead Park, Country Parks
and beaches to maximise their potential. We
need to do more to celebrate and promote
Wirral’s distinctive appeal.
What do we already know?
•

In 2013 2.62m jobs were in the creative
economy accounting for 1 in every 12
jobs.9

Skills development within the sector is vital and
we must work with local schools, colleges and
specialist training providers to achieve
progression from training into employment
within the arts and cultural sector.

•

Largest sectors include IT, software and
computer services, advertising and
marketing, music, performing and visual
arts, publishing and Films, TV, Video,
Radio and Photography.9

Wirral has a vibrant creative sector of arts
businesses including digital companies,
independent producers, film, TV and radio
companies and many more. We want to
explore ways to grow this sector further and
attract new businesses and individuals to set
up in Wirral. We will identify new and emerging
talent within the music and cultural sectors
and develop this for the benefit of Wirral’s
economy.

•

139,000 people are employed in the
Cultural and Creative Industries and the
Arts across the North West and has the
second largest Creative Economy in the
UK, after London and the South East.7

•

£12.4 billion was the aggregate turnover
of businesses in the UK arts and culture
industry in 2011.9

•

Wirral’s Floral Pavilion attracted 200,000
visitors in 2015 and the Williamson
attracted 25,000 visitors.10

21

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

What will we do over the next five years?
•

We will develop creative and digital hubs
to support local groups, organisations and
individual artists.

•

We will develop the economic potential
of sites with significant heritage aspects
including Port Sunlight, Hamilton Square
and Birkenhead Park.

•

We will explore opportunities to develop
the Williamson Art Gallery and the Priory
Museum as workspaces for local artists and
groups.

How will we measure if we’re getting
this right?

22

•

Increase the number of businesses in
the creative sector.

•

Increase the value of the creative
economy in Wirral.

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

23

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

How we will deliver this strategy

The delivery of this culture strategy
will be in partnership with local
residents and community groups, as
well as public, private and voluntary
sector organisations.
We will deliver the ambitions
outlined within this strategy through
the following action plans and other
key strategies and plans which focus
on leisure, tourism, parks and open
spaces, volunteering, and health and
wellbeing.

We recognise in Wirral that we cannot deliver
this strategy without working closely with
regional and national organisations and we are
committed to working more effectively and
strategically with Arts Council England to
deliver the aims and ambitions set out in our
culture strategy.
The agreed actions will be delivered over the
lifetime of this strategy with detailed project
plans to be developed to ensure there is
regular review and monitoring of the actions.
There will also be further engagement and
consultation with residents, partner
organisations and other stakeholders as
we develop more detailed action plans.
An annual report will be prepared which
will outline progress of the actions and
demonstrate the outcomes that have been
achieved through the delivery of the strategy.

24

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

ACTION PLANS
1. 	Develop creative partnerships and a cultural events programme to promote arts,
culture and heritage in Wirral
What do we need to do?

By when

Lead organisation

Establish a Wirral Cultural Partnership which is sector
led and provides a forum for networking, new ideas
and future development of Wirral’s arts, culture and
heritage offer.

July 2016

Arts, Heritage and
Cultural
Organisations

Complete a Wirral audit of arts, heritage and cultural
events and activities that will inform a programme to
be delivered by local and community organisations in
constituencies over the next five years.

October
2016

Wirral Cultural
Partnership

October
2016

Wirral Cultural
Partnership
Funding Partners

Establish a knowledge and funding hub for small arts
and cultural organisations in Wirral.

2.

Increase resident and visitor participation in Wirral’s arts, culture and heritage 		
offer to promote its educational, social and wellbeing benefits
What do we need to do?

Establish a cultural ambassador programme for
Wirral.

By when
November
2016

Develop a calendar of events and activities and
publicise through a central website and explore the
use of technology and social media campaigns to
encourage resident and visitor participation in arts,
culture and heritage.

October
2016

Work with families, youth organisations and schools
to increase participation in cultural education from
an early age.

December
2016

Work with Conservation Areas Wirral and historic
groups to refresh the heritage strategy and agree a
specific programme of projects for the next 5 years.
Identify investment opportunities for community
arts and culture projects.

April 2017

April 2017

Lead organisation
Wirral Cultural
Partnership
Wirral Council
Marketing Team
Wirral Cultural
Partnership
Wirral Council
Wirral Schools
Youth
Organisations
Conservation Areas
Wirral
Wirral Council
Wirral Culture Team
Funding
Organisations
25

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

3.
		

Promote Wirral on an international stage as part of the Liverpool City Region to
attract world class arts, heritage and culture events and exhibitions
What do we need to do?

Develop Wirral’s unique marketing approach as a
cultural destination.

Support the establishment of a Liverpool City Region
Culture Partnership as part of the devolution
agreement.

June 2016

April 2016

Liverpool City
Region Combined
Authority

2016 – 2021

Work in partnership with Liverpool Film Office to
identify future potential filming opportunities in
Wirral.

September
2016

Conduct a comprehensive visitor research study.

Lead organisation
Wirral Council
Marketing Team
Wirral Cultural
Partnership

Work in partnership with Culture Liverpool to deliver
major cultural events over the next five years.
The 2016-17 programme will focus on the following
events:
• Tall Ships
• November 5th Firework Display
• Somme Remembrance

Deliver tourism marketing which promotes Wirral’s
visitor offer including culture:
• Discover Wirral (shorts breaks)
• Wonders of Wirral (day breaks)

26

By when

Culture Liverpool
Wirral Culture Team

Liverpool Film Office
Wirral Council

Spring 2016
Wirral Council Visitor
Summer 2016
Economy Team

April 2017

Wirral Council Visitor
Economy Team

Establish a Liverpool City Region theatre and
conference venue hub.

April 2017

Liverpool City
Region Partners

Explore opportunities to attract funding to develop an
iconic cultural visitor attraction.

April 2017

Wirral Culture Team

Explore potential bids to host exciting, groundbreaking arts and cultural events in Wirral.

April 2017

Wirral Culture Team

Work with world class Wirral artists to develop a high
quality, high profile-raising event that celebrates the
outstanding artists of Wirral.

April 2017

Wirral Culture Team

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

4.

Maximise the contribution of the arts, heritage and culture to the local economy

What do we need to do?
Undertake an economic impact assessment of the
arts, heritage and culture sector in Wirral to identify a
baseline position and explore future opportunities to
support and grow the sector.

By when

Lead organisation

December
2016

Wirral Council
Wirral Chamber of
Commerce
Wirral Cultural
Partnership

December
2016

Wirral Council
Asset Owners

November
2017

Wirral Council
Wirral Chamber of
Commerce
Creative Industries
Entrepreneurs

Explore potential opportunities for Wirral’s heritage
and conservation assets to support tourism and the
local economy.

March 2017

Wirral Council
Conservation Areas
Wirral
Historic England

Ensure the training offer for the arts, culture, heritage
and tourism sector supports the priorities for
business growth and development.

March 2017

Wirral
Metropolitan
College

March 2017

Wirral
Metropolitan
College

Explore future operating models for cultural assets in
Wirral to maximise their contribution to the local
economy.
Explore the opportunities for creativity activity hubs
to promote new and innovative creative industries
in Wirral with a specific focus on music, film and
creative arts.

Maximise work related opportunities to engage
students of all ages in the culture, arts and heritage
sector, progress them into apprenticeships, jobs and
ensure opportunities for continuous professional
development.

27

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Conclusion

In developing this strategy we have
listened to what our organisations,
residents and visitors have told us to
identify the priorities for the Culture
Strategy and what we will focus on
for the next five years.

We have a huge amount of talent in Wirral and
now we have an opportunity to harness this
talent, not just to boost the economy, but to
enrich and improve people’s lives. Working
hard with all key partners and stakeholders,
we are determined to ensure that residents
and visitors alike can look forward to a dynamic
and exciting future that puts arts, culture and
creativity at the heart of everything we do.

28

WIRRAL’S CULTURE STRATEGY

References

Arts Council England (2014): The value of Arts and Culture to People and Society;
http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/media/uploads/pdf/The-value-of-arts-and-culture-topeople-and-society-An-evidence-review-Mar-2014.pdf - accessed 4/3/2016

1

Wirral Council (2015): Resident Survey 2015; https://www.wirral.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/wirral-plan-2020-vision/wirral-resident-survey-2015 - accessed 4/3/2016

2

3

Wirral History & Heritage Association

4

Wirral Council 2015

5

Culture Liverpool (2015)

6

Culture Liverpool (2014)

7

UKTI report (2014)

UK Music (2015): Wish You Were Here Report 2015; http://www.ukmusic.org/assets/
general/WYWH_2015Report.pdf - accessed 1/3/2016

8

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2015): Creative Industries Economic
Estimates January 2015; https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/394668/Creative_Industries_Economic_Estimates_-_
January_2015.pdf - accessed 3/4/2015

9

10

Wirral Council Visitor Figures (2015)

29

search: Wirral 2020
@wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP
30

CABINET BRIEFING
Monday, 7 March 2016
HEALTH RELATED WORKLESSNESS

CLLR PAT HACKETT
Councillor Pat Hackett, Cabinet Member - Business and Tourism, said:
“A thriving economy brings huge benefits for the entire borough. People in work tend
to have better health, better housing and a better quality of life. We are determined to
do all we can to be innovative and imaginative, providing new solutions to help those
residents furthest away from work, including those with health conditions, access the
right support on their journey back into the employment market as we work towards
achieving our 20 Pledges”.
REPORT SUMMARY
This report updates Members on the progress and findings of Phase One of the Wirral
Health Related Worklessness Programme and seeks authority to commission activity to
progress Phase Two: Implementation.
The Health Related Worklessness Programme has been developed using the guiding
principles of the Wirral Plan and supports the aspirations of improving the health and
wellbeing of residents and their active engagement in the labour market, specifically:


PLEDGE 8: GREATER JOB OPPORTUNITIES IN WIRRAL
Growth Plan – ‘Wirral will be a place where employers want to invest, business
thrives and high quality jobs are provided and where all our residents are able to
contribute to and benefit from sustained prosperity and a good quality of life’.



PLEDGE 16: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVER HEALTHIER LIVES
Draft Healthier Lives Plan – ‘The Department of Health estimates that health
services, although important to our health and wellbeing, only contribute about
20% of our health status. The other 80% is determined by access to
employment and education opportunities, our income, good housing, education,
transport links and supportive social networks’.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough, with a specific focus on the
Parliamentary Constituency of Birkenhead.
This is a key decision requesting member approval for use of Council resources which
exceed £500,000.
RECOMMENDATION/S
Members are recommended to:
- Note the findings of the research phase of the Health Related Worklessness
Programme and approve the approach for progressing to implementation phase;
-

Authorise the use of the £1m Transformation Challenge Award to support the
workstream activities identified in the report;

-

Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive to finalise details of the commissioning
process and selection of suppliers in consultation with the Strategic Director
Families and Wellbeing regarding the use of Public Health Grant.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

Despite some success in reducing health related worklessness, Wirral has persistent
levels that far exceed regional and national averages. The guiding principles of the
Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision are embedded in the delivery model and the activities
proposed meet a number of aspirations of the Wirral Plan, specifically Pledge 8:
Greater Job Opportunities and Pledge 16: Wirral residents liver healthier lives.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The option to maintain the status quo in the delivery of employment and health
services for residents in receipt of health related benefits has been considered as part
of the case for change detailed in section 3 of this report. Health Related
Worklessness remains a persistent issue for Wirral, despite the scale of investment in
current public services.

2.2

A range of options for workstream activities have been considered as part of the
extensive engagement with residents, stakeholders and public sector commissioners
as detailed in this report. The activities proposed are a result of a comprehensive
appraisal exercise and provider capacity has been tested via a Market Engagement
event attended by over 40 potential suppliers as detailed in section 7 of this report.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

In 2014 Wirral Council embarked on the Health Related Worklessness Programme
with Wirral’s Public Service Board (PSB). This was identified as one of four
programmes as part of Wirral’s involvement in the Public Service Transformation
Network (PSTN) to understand how we may better target public sector resources in
Wirral.

3.1.1 The PSB endorsed a programme, with a focus on the parliamentary constituency of
Birkenhead, starting with detailed engagement and conversations with residents,
stakeholders and employers to explore how best to integrate and sequence a bespoke
package of support to reduce health related worklessness and importantly reduce the
cost to the public sector. Health related worklessness is defined as residents of
working age who are claiming welfare benefits as a result of their health ie:
Employment Support Allowance/Incapacity Benefit (ESA/IB).
3.2

CASE FOR CHANGE

3.2.1 Wirral has for many years sought to address health related worklessness and has had
success in doing so by reducing it at a rate that is double the national average.
However high levels remain, with rates that far exceed the regional/national averages,
and significant concentrations within the parliamentary constituency of Birkenhead.
Programme Baseline Data:
(Source: Department of Work & Pensions (DWP) Working-age Client Group August
2013)







Health related worklessness (18,750) accounts for 62% of all worklessness within the
borough; this represents almost 1 in 10 working age residents compared to a national
rate of 1 in 17;
7,700 constituency residents in Birkenhead claim the health related benefits of ESA/IB
accounting for 41% of the Wirral total; this represents 1 in every 7 working age
residents;
50% (3,885) of health related worklessness in the Birkenhead Constituency is
attributed to residents aged 25/49 with a significant working career remaining (635 are
aged 16/24);
Mental Health is the most common primary condition accounting for 50% of all claims,
and
Small area constituency data demonstrates further significant levels. For example,
36% of the working age population in the Vittoria Dock area are claiming health related
benefits; this represents over 1 in every 3 residents.

3.2.2 Costs to Public Sector
A financial case for change has been modelled on ‘New Economy: Supporting Public
Service Transformation: Cost Benefit Analysis Guidance for Local Partnerships’. Using
this model, the headline total estimated fiscal cost of 7,700 ESA/IB claimants in the
parliamentary constituency of Birkenhead is £69,758,150 per annum.
3.2.3 It is important to note that any reductions in numbers claiming health related benefits
are likely to provide the majority of fiscal savings to central government agencies,
namely DWP. However, there is a clear social and economic impact which justifies the
case for a concerted partnership approach. This supports us to fulfil the objectives of
the Wirral Plan in terms of improving the health and wellbeing of residents and their
active engagement in the labour market, specifically:
 PLEDGE 8: GREATER JOB OPPORTUNITIES IN WIRRAL
Growth Plan – ‘Wirral will be a place where employers want to invest, business thrives
and high quality jobs are provided and where all our residents are able to contribute to
and benefit from sustained prosperity and a good quality of life’.
 PLEDGE 16: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVER HEALTHIER LIVES
Draft Healthier Lives Plan – ‘The Department of Health estimates that health services,
although important to our health and wellbeing, only contribute about 20% of our
health status. The other 80% is determined by access to employment and education
opportunities, our income, good housing, education, transport links and supportive
social networks’.
3.3

ACTIVITY TO DATE

3.3.1 The Health Related Worklessness Programme is taking a phased approach: Phase
One: Research & Testing; Phase Two: Implementation of New Models/Expansion of
Test Activities; Phase Three: Longer Term System Change.
3.3.2 As part of Phase One, extensive engagement and research has been conducted with
a view to informing new models of delivery for Phase Two. Activity has been guided by
the Operating Principles of our Wirral Plan as outlined in report sections 3.3.3 to 3.3.6.
3.3.3 Organising Internally: As the agenda aims to meet the a number of aspirations within
the Wirral Plan, officers from the Investment Strategy and Public Health Teams have
worked collectively, sharing skills, knowledge and resources and bringing health and

employment networks together to work in partnership to develop and design solutions.
To assist in delivery, officers sought and secured resource opportunities to support our
outcomes including 30 days consultancy support from the Systems Leadership
Programme, DWP dedicated officer support; £100k to deliver pilot activity (DWP
Flexible Support Fund) and £1m for Phase 2 Commissioning (Department of
Communities & Local Government (DCLG) Transformation Challenge Award).
3.3.4 Leading Collectively: In order to agree a set of clear priorities for Phase Two,
significant robust insight has been gathered and analysed from various stakeholders.
Practitioner workshops were held with a range of health, employment and
voluntary/community organisations to share professional insight and experience,
examine issues and agree desired outcomes. Business perspectives were gathered
via an employer workshop hosted by Wirral Chamber and facilitated by Systems
Leadership identifying important insight into potential recruitment barriers for residents
with long term conditions and mental health issues. The Council’s Investment Strategy
and Public Health Teams jointly commissioned multi-method research agency ESRO
to carry out insight work, tasked with testing professional assumptions and engaging
residents first hand to detail their true experience of health and wellbeing services and
health related worklessness. 150 interviews were conducted with residents and
stakeholders, which included a range of in-depth ethnographies across the borough.
3.3.5 Empowering Locally: Engaging communities in the conversation has been an integral
part of work to date. Voluntary and community sector organisation Involve Northwest
delivered a small scale pilot project supporting 60 residents claiming ESA referred by
Jobcentre Plus, offering non-medical therapeutic interventions to improve wellbeing
and employability, such as creative arts, 1-2-1 mentoring and volunteering. This
project supplied additional insight and several participants also trained and
volunteered alongside ESRO in conducting ethnographic research interviews. To
support outcomes to be planned, agreed and delivered at a local level, Phase Two
delivery will be prioritised and influenced according to local need in consultation with
the relevant Neighbourhood Team.
3.3.6 Acting Regionally: As part of the Liverpool City Region devolution deal with
Government, officers are working with the Work and Health Unit at a City Region level
to co-design and co-commission the national successor to the Work Programme,
inputting research evidence and influencing longer term system change. As part of the
devolution deal, the Combined Authority will set out how they will join up local public
services in order to improve outcomes for this group, particularly how they will work
with the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG), the third sector and NHS England to
enable timely health based support. As one of NHS England’s 50 “Vanguard” areas,
this presents further opportunities for Wirral’s Health Related Worklessness
Programme to influence and ensure that residents get the best possible deal.
3.4

KEY FINDINGS

3.4.1 The diagram below provides a simple overview of the key issues identified by research
conducted as part of the Health Related Worklessness Programme. These issues
demonstrate the extent of failure of existing public sector investment.

3.4.2 Characteristics
One of the key findings from the ethnographic work undertaken in Wirral has been the
deep sense of isolation and loneliness that many residents in receipt of health related
benefits experience. Few had positive role models around health and fitness and
many had restricted social networks. There was a prevalence of low level mental
health problems with many experiencing inertia, fatigue and lack of hope, self-belief,
and confidence. When prompted, many struggled to identify hobbies or interests, there
was a strong tendency to be ‘illness-focussed’ and lack of aspiration to work was rife.
The researchers noted a widespread inability to visualise positive progression,
compounded by lack of resilience in the face of even minor setbacks.
3.4.3 Services
Despite the vast numbers of people with diagnosed and undiagnosed mental health
conditions and symptoms, very few were in contact with any mental health services.
Indeed, despite a diverse range of services (leisure, health, wellbeing and employment
support) observed by the research team on offer in communities, many respondents
were not accessing them and felt that there was “literally nothing to do” and nothing
that would help them improve their health and work prospects. Large proportions were
not in regular contact with any services. Researchers also found some issues with
current service delivery, observing activities aimed at the most basic level regardless
of ability of participants; providers creating a ‘handholding’ culture, leading to
dependency; and affirming negative views without challenging behaviour.
3.4.4 Job Opportunities
Contributing to a universal sense of hopelessness was a series of job myths such as
‘there are no jobs’ and, ‘there are too many people applying for every job’ leading to
many feeling it was not worth putting the effort into applications, attributing external
factors to lack of success. Employers however, spoke about difficulties in recruiting,
receiving hundreds of poorly written, non-specific CVs and were desperate for CVs
written with some care and attention. These myths, sometimes perpetuated by
professionals, can damage individuals’ sense of control over their aspirations, selfconfidence and motivation. There is evidence that some employers hold some
prejudices against those diagnosed with mental health conditions; support for
employers with adaptations for physical disabilities was considered more readily
accessible than for mental health conditions.

3.4.5 System Issues
Whilst many valued and successful services were highlighted by practitioners
throughout the research phase it is clear that this takes place despite of the ‘system’
which is not designed to support health and employment professions to work
collaboratively to meet shared outcomes. Communication between health and
employment professionals is extremely limited, with the ‘fit note’ forming the only
statutory dialogue between DWP and Health. Perverse incentives to improve wellbeing exist within the welfare system with individuals fearful that improvements may
count against them in assessments and result in reduced benefits. Equally, health
services are prioritised at the ‘crisis or episode-focussed’ point of a health condition –
this is particularly prevalent in the case of mental health. As a result those with mental
illness often have to reach a threshold of severity to access services; hence many
individuals do not perceive themselves in need of support, limiting improvements to
their condition over long periods. The disjoint between professions is compounded by
a focus on binary outcomes on either side. For example, there are only two outcomes
driving funding for employment services – find a job (success) or do not find a job and
remain on benefits (failure), with little or no reward for achieving progress measures
along the way, therefore disincentivising providers from working with those furthest
from the labour market.
3.4.6 As a result, many of our respondents are perpetually existing in a ‘grey area’, not sick
enough to be accessing mainstream health services, not close enough to the labour
market to be a viable prospect for mainstream employment services, and not
problematic enough to be on the radar of other services. There has been widespread
consensus on the findings across all professions and stakeholders and a strong desire
to effect a change of approach in Wirral; however it has been abundantly clear
throughout this research phase that mainstream public services have little impetus, be
that resource or authority, to take ownership of this ‘grey area’.
3.5

PHASE TWO IMPLEMENTATION PROPOSALS

3.5.1 Achieving strategic, large-scale change requires effort over a long time, requiring a
cultural shift in how the current system is working, and changes to many operational
aspects. With closer dialogue between healthcare and employment professionals, a
more complete ‘treatment’ solution for the individual can be established, looking at the
impact of healthcare decisions on an individual’s trajectory back to work. This will not
be achieved through one discrete programme. The Investment Team and Public
Health Teams have been working towards a collaborative commissioning exercise to
launch Phase Two: Implementation which can take account of this and resource pilot
activity targeting this ‘grey area’ to demonstrate how new models of delivery can effect
better outcomes. This involves the introduction of a ‘first steps’ programme for ESA
claimants to encourage greater engagement with, and effectiveness of, existing ‘next
step’ mainstream employment support services. The aim over the longer term is to
influence mainstream health and employment programmes, including DWP and CCG
commissioning.
3.5.2 Two design workshops took place in January with key health and employment
commissioners (DWP, Public Health, Liverpool City Region Team Employment & Skills
Team, CCG & Birkenhead Constituency Manager) to shape Phase Two activity,
followed by a ‘market engagement’ Supplier Event in February, held at the Floral

Pavilion and attended by over 40 delegates. The proposed workstreams combine a
mix of activity to develop longer term systems change, and shorter term projects to
maximise the use of existing health and employment provision and focusing on
improving delivery effectiveness for residents in the short term; detailed as follows:
AREA

OVERVIEW

NEXT STEPS

PERIOD

BUDGET

NUMBERS

Workstream 1:

VISION: A shared vision and
new way of working to
improve outcomes for those
affected by health related
worklessness
- To continue to work on
developing a shared narrative
and joined up way of working
across all services that are
involved in health related
worklessness;
- To provide relevant training
for professionals to better
understand health and
employment issues, including
Make Every Contact Count
(MECC);
- To monitor and evaluate
progress through ongoing
Action Research.
VISION: To engage the
disengaged; low level
community activation will
provide health benefits and
lead to greater readiness for
work.
– To set up a network of new
resource roles in the
community to tackle the issues
of social isolation.
- To provide outreach and 121
support for individuals within
their community;
- To encourage greater access
to existing services, social
groups and activities within the
community;
- To create structural enablers
in the community, such as
volunteer connector
recruitment.

Employ Lead
Officer to
Coordinate
Programme.
- Develop job
role;
- Agree
departmental
responsibilities;
- plan
programme of
supporting
activities,
including training
for professionals
and evaluation.

May 2016
to July
2018

£250,000

200+
Staff
trained

Commission
New Service.
- Develop brief;
- Commence
procurement
exercise;
- Appoint
Supplier.

July 2016
to June
2018 (to be
extended
dependent
on Public
Health
funding)

£850,000

1,885
residents
supported

Driving
Change –
Creating a
Shared
Narrative

Workstream 2:

Community
Connectors

Workstream 3:

‘Low Mood’
Therapeutic
/Recovery
Support

VISION: To increase
availability of non-medical
recovery services for low level
mental health conditions.
- To add to existing limited
service provision filling the gap
between formal mental health
services and universal services;
- To provide ‘gateway’ support
to improve selfconfidence/reduce
anxiety/improve self-esteem
and help people towards more
mainstream services.

Commission
New Service.
- Develop brief;
- Commence
procurement
exercise;
- Appoint
Supplier.

July 2016
to June
2018

£350,000

150
residents
supported

3.5.3 Measuring Progress
The various strands of research highlighted the perverse incentives associated with
commonly used performance measures and outcomes in existing commissioned
services for this client group. Common binary targets of ‘in work’ versus ‘out of work’
as measures of success or failure are not appropriate (as outlined in section 3.4.5 of
this report); a key reason why current services have not systematically led to
significant reductions in ESA figures over time. Instead, a new ESA progression
framework which offers an alternative way to measure a person’s progress and
development has been drafted to support this ‘first steps’ programme. With particular
relevance to ESA claimants, the framework draws upon a variety of recognised
performance frameworks (Outcomes STAR; WEMWBS; PHQ-9) and will enable
commissioners to measure individual project performance against participants’ steps
towards improved health and well-being, confidence/self-esteem, and securing
sustained employment.
4.0
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
4.1






The report seeks approval for a maximum of £1,450,000, of Council funding to be
utilised for Phase Two of the Health Related Worklessness Programme for a period
extending over three financial years with activity scheduled to commence May 2016.
The funds are held by Wirral Council as follows:
Investment Strategy Budget: £1,000,000 grant secured via a competitive bidding
process from DCLG Transformation Challenge Award specifically for delivery of a
Wirral Health Related Worklessness Programme via Grant Determination (2015/16)
No.31/2556;
Public Health Grant: £400,000 to be confirmed;
Public Health Vanguard Value Proposition: £50,000 to be confirmed.

4.2

Should the Vanguard Value Proposition be unsuccessful, the MECC activity will be
removed from Workstream 1 resulting in a reduced ‘training for professionals’ work
programme.

4.3

The Public Health Grant allocation is subject to current review, with funds anticipated
for release September 2016. Workstream 2, the Community Connectors Project, is
scaleable; as such, this proposed commission will be designed to take account of this.

4.4

Future sustainability will be dependent on successful evaluation which will be carried
out on an ongoing basis through the Action Research project which will include
performance and value for money analysis. The programme is in itself designed to
embed systems change within mainstream public sector delivery (eg: DWP, CCG),
therefore sustainability will be subject to adoption of new practices and new models of
delivery within mainstream provision. A further report will be brought back to Members
advising on progress.

4.3

Budget Detail:
Activity

Budget

Shared Narrative:
Job Role & Associated
Training Programme
& Evaluation Budget

Public Health

Sub-Total
Community
Connectors

Investment
Team: TCA
Public Health
Investment
Team: TCA

Sub-Total
Therapeutic/Recovery
Support
Sub-Total
TOTALS

Public Health
Investment
Team: TCA

Value (£)
50,000

Approx
Value per
annum (£)
£25,000

200,000

100,000

250,000
400,000

125,000
£200,000

450,000

225,000

850,000
0

425,000
0

350,000

175,000

350,000

175,000

1,450,000

725,000

Period

Status

01.05.16
to
31.07.18

Subject to Vanguard
Value Proposition
Secured

01.09.16
to
31.08.18
01.07.16
to
30.06.18

Annual Grant Allocation
to be confirmed

01.07.16
to
30.06.18

Secured

Secured

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

The proposed commissioning activity outlined in Section 3 of this report will be
procured in accordance with Wirral Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

5.2

The £1m Transformation Challenge Award was granted as a result of a competitive
bidding exercise to DCLG. Wirral Council was granted the award for delivery of the
Wirral Health Related Worklessness Programme by the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for local government (“the Parliamentary Under Secretary of
State”), in exercise of the powers conferred by section 31 of the Local Government Act
2003. The purpose of the grant is to provide support to local authorities in England
towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them. There are no further
terms and conditions of grant applied to this award.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

Phase One project activity within the Health Related Worklessness Programme has
been met to date by existing resources in the Investment Strategy and Public Health
Teams. In order to deliver Phase Two at pace, it is proposed to establish a new post

on a fixed term basis as part of the Workstream 1 activities identified in Section 3.5.2
of this report. Approval for the new post will be taken through the appropriate channels
and all costs will be met from the Wirral Health Related Worklessness Programme
budget as outlined in 4.3 of this report.
7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

There is always a risk of attracting suitable suppliers in any commissioning exercise.
This risk has been mitigated by engagement of key stakeholders throughout Phase
One and the delivery of a market engagement Supplier Day which attracted over 40
participants. This workshop provided the opportunity for potential suppliers to
understand the scope, challenges and desired outcomes for the services, shape the
proposals for new services, explore opportunities for innovation, develop new
partnerships and consider service delivery models with other suppliers.

7.2

There is a risk that the level of Public Health funding designated to support the
Community Connectors project will be reduced as a result of the current
commissioning review. Maximum impact will be achieved with the full funding
package; however the project is scaleable and remains viable at a reduced resource.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

The Health Related Worklessness Programme has embedded extensive engagement
with residents and consultation with a wide range of stakeholders throughout the
development phase as detailed in Section 3 of this report; timeline outlined below.
Activity proposed for Phase Two will be subject to ongoing engagement and
consultation through an action research project which will monitor, evaluate and inform
continuing activity.

Date
November 2014
January 2015

Activities
Consultation Workshop with local stakeholders
Supported volunteering pilot launched in January 2015 (aiming to
support those claiming ESA get back to work through volunteering
placements). Feedback from participants incorporated into Programme.

Summer 2015 – ongoing

Qualitative research conducted by ESRO across the Wirral in mid-2015,
in a joint commission between Public Health and Investment Strategy.
This research looked at the issues from the perspective of local residents
and explored the reality of service provision.

September/October 2015

Consultation with local employers.

September-November 2015

Research validation workshops with ‘Design Team’ representatives from
across the Wirral.
Engagement and liaison with a range of stakeholders from across Wirral,
Liverpool City Region and Government Departments.

Ongoing
January 2016
February 2016

Focussed innovation workshops with representatives from a range of
public sector commissioners.
Supplier Feedback Day.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(a) Yes and impact review is attached – (insert appropriate hyperlink).
Wirral Growth Plan: https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-andneighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
REPORT AUTHOR:

Helen Carney
Economic Lead
telephone: (0151) 691 8421
email: helencarney@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

CABINET
21 March 2016
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN SCRUTINY
REVIEW

COUNCILLOR TONY SMITH

Councillor Tony Smith Cabinet Member - Children and Families, said:
“Making sure our children and young people are safe is perhaps our most enduring
and important duty. It is a key pledge within our Wirral Plan and an area of our
business which is always right at the top of our agenda.
“This Scrutiny Review is extremely helpful in highlighting where we should focus our
attention to strengthen our processes and put the systems in place to identify, as early
as possible, where a child is at risk of harm.”
REPORT SUMMARY
Members of the Families & Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee undertook an indepth review of safeguarding procedures for children in Wirral, over the course of two years
from January 2014.
The review was reported to Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee on
19 January 2016. Many of the recommendations emanating from the review have already
been actioned and used to improve procedures and practice.
The scrutiny review gave members the opportunity to assure themselves that the Council
and partners have adequate safeguarding mechanisms in place and that those processes
work in practice. Scrutiny would also help the partnership to understand the experiences of
families and what may need to change to improve outcomes in safeguarding.

The Members of the Scrutiny Panel met a range of witnesses throughout the course of the
review, including Council officers, representatives of partner organisations as well as a
small number of families who had experience of the social care system. The Report,
‘Safeguarding Children in Wirral’ is attached for consideration by the Cabinet.

RECOMMENDATION/S
(1) Cabinet is requested to note the contents and recommendations of the Scrutiny
Report, “Safeguarding Children in Wirral”.
(2) Cabinet is requested to support the recommendation that an update report regarding
the impact of the recommendations will be presented to the Families and Wellbeing
Policy and Performance Committee in by July 2016.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

The Safeguarding Children in Wirral Scrutiny Review provides an in depth look at
safeguarding in Wirral through elected member discussions with a range of different
family members and professionals, and consideration of the effective implementation
of policies and procedures to satisfy themselves, as far as reasonably possible that
vulnerable children and young people in Wirral are safe. The recommendations within
the report are borne out of this evidence, and are intended to improve children and
young people’s safety.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

Elected members in Wirral have a successful history of undertaking scrutiny reviews,
into specific topics which lead to a number of evidence based recommendations to
improve outcomes for children and young people. It was on this basis that this was
decided to be an appropriate method of undertaking this Review.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

Members of the Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee began
their review in January 2014. As well as interviews, Members reviewed Committee
reports, Government documents and reports prepared for the Review team by officers.
The final Review is illustrated through direct reporting of comments made by people
interviewed to illuminate key themes.

3.2

The Review concluded that they gained great insight into the experience of receiving
services from speaking to a small number of family members; and through this
information and other evidence, members
concluded that, although there is
confidence that policies and procedures are in place, the practical application requires
all practitioners and managers to be on constant guard.

3.3

The recommendations from this Review will be closely tracked and monitored until
fully implemented by the Children’s Services Strategic Leadership Team. Since this
Review has taken place over a considerable period of time, many of the
recommendations have already been implemented.

3.4

An update report on the impact of the recommendations will be presented to the
Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee by July 2016.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

5.0

LEGAL

5.1

The requirement to safeguard children effectively is enshrined in legislation, especially
the Children Act 1989; the Children Act 2004 and the Children and Families Act 2014.
There is much regulation and guidance, but the most significant regulatory document
informing safeguarding practice is Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1

Implementing the Review’s recommendations may have some resource implications
for example in respect of staffing issues, resulting from carefully monitoring the size
and complexity of social workers caseloads and considering making lap top computers
available.

7.0

RELEVANT

7.1

This Review considers the challenging and complex nature of work to safeguard
children and young people at risk of significant harm in Wirral. The recommendations
under the five separate headings in this Review are designed to mitigate the impact of
the risks identified.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1

This Review was undertaken through a process of engagement and consultation with
people involved in delivering, managing or receiving services to safeguard children
and young people.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
An equality impact has been done.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Julia Hassall
Director of Children’s Services
telephone: (0151) 666 4288
email: juliahassall@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Report – Safeguarding Children in Wirral Scrutiny Review
REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

MINUTE EXTRACT
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE - FAMILIES AND WELLBEING COMMITTEE
(19 JANUARY 2016)
44

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN SCRUTINY REVIEW
The Committee considered the report of the Members of the Safeguarding Children
Task & Finish Group providing background information regarding the Final Report.
The Chair and Members of the Panel expressed their thanks to all those who had
assisted the review by so readily giving their time, experience and suggestions in
particular Alan Veitch, Scrutiny Support Officer and Simon Garner, Corporate
Safeguarding Manager. The Chair gave her personal thanks to the members of the
Panel who had also given up their time and had made an excellent contribution to
the review and the Final Report.
The Final Report, ‘safeguarding Children in Wirral’ was attached as an appendix to
the report.
The Members echoed the Chair in thanking those officers who worked tirelessly to
keep Wirral’s children safe.
A Member commented that in relation to Recommendation 9 detailed within the
report she felt it was important that Special Guardians undertook the same robust
training that was given to foster carers and adoptive parents.
RESOLVED: That
(1)

the contents and recommendations of the Safeguarding Children in
Wirral Scrutiny Review be noted.

(2)

the Safeguarding Children in Wirral Scrutiny Report be referred to the
next appropriate Cabinet meeting;

(3)

an update report regarding the progress being made towards the
implementation of the recommendations be presented to this Committee
in six months’ time; and

(4)

Alan Veitch, Scrutiny Support Officer and Simon Garner, Corporate
Safeguarding Manager be thanked for all their support and guidance in
completing the review.

Wirral

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN IN WIRRAL
SCRUTINY REVIEW

“Safeguarding children and protecting them from harm is

everyone’s responsibility. Everyone who comes into contact
with children and families has a role to play”.

A report produced by

THE FAMILIES AND WELLBEING
POLICY & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE

December 2015
FINAL REPORT

WIRRAL BOROUGH COUNCIL

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN IN WIRRAL
SCRUTINY REVIEW
FINAL REPORT
Page

1

INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................................ 3

2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................. 4

3

MEMBERS OF THE SCRUTINY PANEL ................................................................................ 11

4

BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF ............................................................................... 13

5

METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW .................................................................................... 14

6

NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT ...................................................................................... 16

7

EVIDENCE FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5

The demand for services and organisational structure .................................................. 18
Procedures and processes ............................................................................................ 21
Partnership working ....................................................................................................... 24
Staffing issues ................................................................................................................ 27
Governance arrangements ............................................................................................ 28

APPENDICES
1

Scope Document ............................................................................................................... 31

Page 2 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

1.

INTRODUCTION

At the meeting of the Families and Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee, held on 28th January
2014, Members agreed to undertake a Scrutiny Review to investigate the adequacy of safeguarding
procedures for children in Wirral. As a result, a Scrutiny Panel comprising five Members has held a
range of meetings in order to obtain appropriate evidence.
An Executive Summary of the findings follows, together with the recommendations arising from this
Review. The Report then sets out the background to the original brief, as well as the methodology
adopted for gathering the evidence. This is followed by the main body of the Report which provides
contextual information and details the key findings of the Review along with the evidence gathered in
support of the recommendations proposed by the Scrutiny Panel Members.

Page 3 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Why was this scrutiny review undertaken?
This topic was selected for further scrutiny in order to give members the opportunity to assure
themselves that the Council and partners have adequate safeguarding mechanisms in place and that
those processes work in practice.

National and Local Context:
The recent high profile events in Rotherham, Rochdale and Oxford, among other towns, have brought
the issue of child sexual exploitation, and the safeguarding of children in general, to national
prominence. Underscored by other high profile cases, such as the Jimmy Saville revelations, child
safeguarding has become more widely reported in the national media. Subsequent reports, such as
those produced by Professor Alexis Jay and Louise Casey, have given safeguarding issues a
prominence hitherto seen.
The demand for services from social care professionals is high. The report, Characteristics of
Children in Need in England 2014 to 2015, recently published by the Department of Education,
showed that, in England, 391,000 are assessed as children in need as at 31st March 2015. Of those,
49,700 were subject to a child protection plan at the same date. The equivalent figures for Wirral
were 2,882 and 233. In comparison to the average for England, statistical neighbours and the North
West region, Wirral has higher rates for each of the following categories: children in need, children on
a child protection plan and looked after children.
Overview:
Members heard much reassurance during the review that appropriate procedures are in place to
enable practitioners to undertake their safeguarding duties effectively; representatives from many
agencies expressing confidence that processes were robust enough. However, during the review the
members met with a small number of families who had experience of the social care system. In
particular, one of those case studies relating to potential child sexual exploitation provided much
cause for thought. The family member with whom the Members met provided an account which was
troublesome. As a result, the Members questioned why trigger points for escalation had not been met
and why more substantial action had not been taken earlier. Furthermore, the family member felt that
she was not listened to, she felt isolated by services and that risks were not acted upon appropriately.
Perhaps, the concerns of the family member could have been addressed, to some extent, by better
communication between agencies and that family member. That experience led the Members to
conclude that, although there is confidence that policies and procedures are in place, the practical
application requires all practitioners and managers to be on constant guard. The Members have
concluded that it is not possible to say that “a Rochdale situation couldn’t happen here”. Some of the
recommendations in this report flow from the experiences of the case studies.
From the perspective of social workers during a focus group, when asked whether Wirral was more
dangerous for children than a number of years ago, two attendees indicated that it was; largely due to
the increasing quantity and complexity of the workload. Four other attendees replied that it was now
more safe, although it was pointed out that “the system is relying on the professionalism of social
workers”.
The demand for services and organisational structure:
Members were informed that, in comparison to the average Local Authority, Wirral has a higher
proportion of children requiring substantial levels of support, that is, those cases which have been
escalated to Specialist services, requiring the intervention of a social worker. As the number of
referrals to social care in Wirral is high, a larger volume of work is generated in the system.

Page 4 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Members were informed that, in the past, Wirral has been unusual in providing quick referral to social
care, rather than to other services, lower in the spectrum of need. There has been an intention, within
the local authority, to provide a greater degree of early intervention in order to stop an escalation to
social care. Although some progress has been made in reducing the cases in Specialist Services,
there is recognition among officers that further progress for appropriate stepping-down of cases is
required and this is actively taking place.
The front door for children at risk of serious harm is the Central Advice and Duty Team (CADT),
which is incorporated within the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), established in January
2014. A MASH co-locates a whole range of agencies, including police, local authority children’s social
care, education, and health staff, to share information and identify emerging problems early. Wirral
was among the earlier Local Authorities in the country to adopt this model and is proving effective as
a driver to improve communication and greater cooperation between agencies. The Members were
impressed by the development of the MASH model and suggest that, in order to develop the model
further, consideration should be given to the inclusion of a larger number of partner organisations.
The gateway for referral of children at a lower level on the spectrum of need to Targeted Services is
also physically located within the MASH at Moreton. However, the Gateway team operates separately
to the CADT. It is suggested by the Members that further consideration be given to other operating
models for the front door to both Targeted and Specialist Services, in particular those options seeking
further integration. This should enable more effective tracking and movement of children between the
two service areas.
Concern was raised during the review regarding the ease with which performance data could be
easily provided in order to effectively monitor the outcomes and the movement of children across
both Specialist and Targeted service areas. Members propose that a more effective performance
monitoring mechanism be established.
Procedures and processes:
During this review, the members have received reassurances from a significant number of managers
and practitioners that adequate policies and procedures are in place to enable them to undertake
their safeguarding duties effectively. However, it was acknowledged that a weakness in systems
nationally is that either people will not give evidence or the evidence is not extrapolated effectively.
There was also an understanding that the effectiveness of safeguarding mechanisms is only as good
as the intelligence obtained.
There was recognition of the importance of the voice of the child being heard throughout the process,
although there was also a realisation by some practitioners that more needed to be done to ensure
that it happens in reality. Members felt it important that, both before and after a child protection
conference, additional effort should be given to enable the appropriate space and time be afforded to
individual family members, including the child, to provide confidential information.
The case studies provided evidence that the outcomes of meetings are not always fully appreciated
by family members. Following the child protection conference, feedback to the family members
should be unambiguous. It is, therefore, suggested that the outcomes of meetings should be formally
recorded and the family notified in writing. It is also proposed that the opportunities for the feedback
of experiences from family members and children be strengthened.
In recent years, there has been an increasing drive for extended family members to become foster
parents through the process of Special Guardianship Orders (SGOs). Members heard mixed views
regarding the benefits of these placements. However, evidence from the Department of Education
suggests that long term support for Special Guardians is beneficial. It is, therefore, suggested that a
process is put in place to ensure that, wherever possible, appropriate support is made available to
these families.

Page 5 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Partnership working:
Strong leadership from all senior partners in local arrangements is essential to establishing an
effective safeguarding system. In cases, elsewhere, when there have been failures to safeguard
effectively, reviews have often highlighted the absence of leadership and lack of partnership working
as significant contributory factors. It is important that all parts of the local system are working closely
together with good communications and a good appreciation of each partner’s role.
Information sharing is an essential part of good local safeguarding arrangements. National research
and analysis has indicated that failure to share information has been a significant feature of poor
outcomes for children. The introduction of Wirral MASH has ensured that information is now shared
more effectively although the members heard that the biggest single problem for the MASH is the
delay in receiving information, with the longest delays typically being experienced with schools. In
order to support schools in their safeguarding role it is proposed that further work is done to help
develop a stronger relationship between schools and social care. In addition, in order to avoid delays
in information being reported by schools, it is suggested that the creation of a single specialist
reference point for schools within the MASH model may be beneficial.
During the review, it was noted that there is a good relationship between the voluntary sector and
social care. However, it was also reported that the options for training were limited for some partners
in the voluntary sector, particularly some of the smaller organisations. It is, therefore, suggested that
a process is developed to ensure that safeguarding training is made as accessible as possible,
particularly to those smaller organisations.
The recent high profile events in Rotherham, Rochdale, Oxford and elsewhere, have brought the
issue of child sexual exploitation to national prominence. Both national and local evidence suggested
that specific training on the identification of those young people at risk of child sexual exploitation
would be beneficial across the partnership, including the police.
Staffing issues:
Particularly during the early stages of the review, members detected considerable frustration among
staff who had been informed that a re-structuring along with allied pay increases for social workers
was being planned but not yet implemented. Subsequent to those scrutiny review meetings, localised
pay increases and a re-structuring of Specialist Services has been implemented. However, in due
course, Members propose that further scrutiny work takes place to establish the effectiveness of the
structural changes.
During the review, the Members were informed that caseloads for an experienced social worker in
Wirral are significantly higher than the national average. Members were told that there is significant
pressure, particularly on those more experienced staff who are allocated complex cases. It was also
reported that the volume of work and high caseloads has also contributed to a significant turnover of
staff. This has resulted in the employment of a sizeable number of newly qualified staff. Members,
therefore, suggest that a process is put in place to reduce the caseload towards the national average.
In addition, the provision of laptops or tablets would improve the ability of social workers to operate in
a more flexible, agile and productive way. Although there will be a capital cost in providing new
equipment, productivity gains would result in the longer-term.
Governance arrangements:
Local safeguarding arrangements are based on a national framework outlined in legislation and
statutory guidance. Central to these arrangements are the statutory responsibilities of the local
authority and the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). During the review, Members visited a
meeting of Wirral’s Local Safeguarding Children Board, during which the robustness of the challenge
was observed. Members heard complimentary comments particularly regarding the quality of training,
delivered across agencies, provided by the LSCB. However, Members have also noted the significant
number of bodies within the Council who have an interest in safeguarding matters. The possibility of
duplication and overlap across these groups is, therefore, noted. As a result, it is proposed that a
review of the specific roles relating to safeguarding issues is undertaken in order to avoid duplication
but more importantly to ensure that the appropriate lines of accountability are in place.
Page 6 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Both the reports produced in 2014 by Professor Jay and by the Communities and Local
Government Select Committee highlight the failure of scrutiny and challenge within the system of
governance at Rotherham. It was recommended by the Centre for Public Scrutiny that learning from
the scrutiny process in Rotherham will be of benefit to scrutiny committees in all Local Authorities. In
some other authorities, a protocol has been developed between the LSCB and the scrutiny
committee. This can help manage expectations and priorities and assist the LSCB in understanding
the role of scrutiny and the types of evidence and information that the scrutiny committee will need. It
is proposed that consideration is given to the development of such a protocol in Wirral.

In considering the evidence found during the Review, the Panel Members have formulated the
recommendations identified on pages 8 to 10.

Page 7 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

RECOMMENDATIONS
Organisational structure (Reference Section 7.1)
Recommendation 1 – Development of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
Progress made towards the establishment of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is
welcomed. In order to further improve the communication and sharing of information between
partners, the Director of Children Services is requested to continue to develop the MASH concept
and explore opportunities to include additional partner organisations in the model.
Recommendation 2 – The front-door to social care
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider alternative operating models for the front
door to Specialist and Targeted Services including those offering further integration, such as a
combined Gateway and CADT (Central Advice and Duty Team).
Recommendation 3 – Monitoring performance data
The Director of Children Services is requested to establish an effective mechanism to monitor the
progress of children across different service provision and to provide regular performance data to
monitor outcomes for young people and families who receive specialist or targeted services.
Procedures and processes(Reference Section 7.2)
Recommendation 4 – Contact with individual family members
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that opportunities are provided for individual
family members, including the child, to provide information before and after a child protection
conference.
Recommendation 5 – Formal notification to family members
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that the outcome of a child protection
conference is reported to family members in a written format stating clearly the next steps which will
follow and consider making available the opportunity for individual family members to discuss the
outcome with a neutral contact.
Recommendation 6 – Feedback from service users
The Director of Children Services is requested to investigate the possibility of providing a mechanism
for individuals to feedback experiences of the child protection conference process on a confidential
basis, for example, by the use of a confidential phone number.
Recommendation 7 – ‘Closing the loop’
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider the options for ensuring that the originator
of a safeguarding concern is informed of the outcome.
Recommendation 8 – Definition of assessment threshold levels
In order to address concerns relating to the understanding of thresholds among agencies and
partners, the Director of Children Services (or LSCB) is requested to develop a training plan aimed at
reinforcing the interpretation and application of the definition of the threshold levels for intervention.
The training will equip responsible persons with the skills to identify levels of risk and take appropriate
action.
Recommendation 9 – Special Guardianship Orders
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that the processes in place to find Special
Guardians are as robust as those for Foster Carers and Adopters so that all children placed under
Special Guardianship Orders remain safe and are supported within that placement.

Page 8 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Partnership Working(Reference Section 7.3)
Recommendation 10 – Involving all partners in social work assessments
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that all organisations involved with the child,
including third sector organisations, are given the opportunity to provide information when social work
assessments are being prepared.
Recommendation 11 – GPs and safeguarding
The Director of Children Services is requested to work in conjunction with Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group to develop a mechanism to encourage GPs to provide relevant information to
safeguarding investigations and formal meetings. This mechanism could include a training
programme for GPs to enable a better understanding of thresholds for intervention.
Recommendation 12 – Relationship between schools and MASH
In order to make it easier for schools to engage with safeguarding processes, the Director of Children
Services is requested to consider the provision of a reference point for schools within the MASH.
Recommendation 13 – Relationship between social care and schools
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider ways in which stronger relationships can
be developed between social workers and schools, in order to encourage all schools to become more
integrated in the safeguarding process.
Recommendation 14 – Access to safeguarding training
The Director of Children Services is requested to develop a process to ensure that safeguarding
training becomes more accessible especially to small organisations in the third sector.
Recommendation 15 – Child sexual exploitation training for front-line staff
The Director of Children Services is requested to continue to encourage the uptake of additional
training opportunities for front-line staff, including the police, regarding child sexual exploitation.

Staffing Issues(Reference Section 7.4)
Recommendation 16 – Social Care re-organisation: Follow-up investigation by members
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to enable scrutiny members to
arrange a follow-up session / workshop to evaluate the effectiveness of the re-organisation once the
new Specialist services social care teams are embedded. The review, which will include front-line
staff and possibly parents and families, will also monitor the success of the plans to achieve improved
retention of staff.
Recommendation 17 – Social worker caseloads
The Director of Children Services is requested to develop a mechanism to monitor the caseloads of
social workers with the aim of reducing the caseload to, at most, the national average.
Recommendation 18 – Social worker support
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider the options for increasing the availability of
laptops for staff, such as social workers, who are regularly working off-site.

Page 9 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Governance Arrangements (Reference Section 7.5)
Recommendation 19 – Governance arrangements
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to undertake a review of the
governance arrangements relating to safeguarding to ensure that remits of bodies, such as Children’s
Trust Board, Corporate Parenting Group, Health & Wellbeing Board, Local Safeguarding Children
Board (LSCB), Safeguarding Reference Group and scrutiny, are clearly understood, the appropriate
reporting lines are in place and that duplication of activity is avoided.
Recommendation 20 – The role for scrutiny in safeguarding
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to further examine the role of
scrutiny in the safeguarding process by establishing a protocol of understanding with the Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB).

Page 10 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

3.

MEMBERS OF THE SCRUTINY PANEL

Councillor Moira McLaughlin (Chair)
The More you know, the more you see” - This is the statement which highlights that it
is everyone`s responsibility to recognise abuse and act on what they see.
Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee have carried out some
very significant pieces of in depth scrutiny in the last few years. Not so long ago we
asked the question: Could a Mid Staffordshire situation occur in Wirral? We then set
ourselves the task of finding out.
When we started the safeguarding review we asked ourselves, and then those we interviewed as the
review went on, could a Rochdale / Rotherham situation happen in Wirral?
Was it possible that the voices of children and young people could go unheard here?
Could a situation whereby they are disbelieved and treated as though they are the problem by those
supposed to protect them exist in Wirral?
With that in mind, we had conversations and took evidence from a very wide range of people involved
in safeguarding. Most felt that policies are robust and procedures are carried out rigorously, though
recognised that policies and procedures are not the only requirement. It is important that people
involved listen, understand, respond and communicate with others.
We spoke, also to some who had experience of the working of the procedures themselves and some
told us a different story. They told us of their feelings of not being responded to, of not understanding
what decisions had been made and not feeling supported.
This report is a thorough piece of work and as Chair of the panel I would like to sincerely thank those
who undertake this duty of safeguarding for their work, and for giving their time to this enquiry. I
would also like to thank the members of the panel for their hard work in putting the report together
and of course to the absolutely dedicated work of Alan Veitch, the Committee`s scrutiny support
officer.
So, could a Rochdale / Rotherham happen in Wirral?
No one with any knowledge of the complexities of the difficulties of protecting children and vulnerable
people from the evil of others would answer “never”. What I think most would say is “not if I can help
it “.

Councillor Wendy Clements
This review has sought to examine the safeguarding provided on Wirral and to
ensure that the voice of the child is heard. I know that Members and Officers all want
to be sure that we are fulfilling our responsibility to the most vulnerable children in
our society and I would like to express my thanks to everyone who took time to meet
with us and answer our questions.
The Centre for Public Scrutiny wrote in 2014, “If scrutiny isn't fundamentally about
the central issue of improving outcomes for people, there's no point to it. The only way that it can go
about making that improvement happen is by understanding how services are really experienced on
the ground, and challenging those responsible to review and improve.” (What Rotherham and Mid
Staffordshire tell us about scrutiny and where it’s lacking, Sept 2014). As part of this review members
have sought to follow that challenge by speaking to a range of people who provide and who are
subject to safeguarding activity. This is not always comfortable but did cause us to look carefully at
the information we were receiving and ask further questions. You will see the impact of that in several
of the recommendations of the report.
Page 11 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

I believe that as we work to improve scrutiny this is an aspect we will need to develop more and
more, not only in reviews but also at formal committee meetings hearing from people who actually
use the services we are scrutinising.

Councillor Cherry Povall

Councillor Denise Roberts

Councillor Jean Stapleton

This Scrutiny Panel was supported by:
Alan Veitch
Scrutiny Support Officer
0151 691 8564
alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk

Page 12 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

4.

BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF

Due to the high profile of safeguarding issues at a national level, Members of the Families and
Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee were seeking reassurance that appropriate policies and
practices were in place in Wirral. Therefore, Members of the Committee agreed to undertake an indepth Scrutiny Review to investigate the suitability of safeguarding procedures for children in Wirral.
As a result, a Scrutiny Panel involving five Members has held a range of meetings in order to obtain
appropriate evidence.
It had been agreed that the scrutiny review would give members the opportunity to assure
themselves that the Council and partners have adequate safeguarding mechanisms in place and that
those processes work in practice. Scrutiny would also help the partnership to understand what the
experience of families is and what may need to change to improve outcomes in safeguarding.
The Scope Document for the Scrutiny Review is attached as Appendix 1 to this Report. The key
issues for the review were:
 Agencies working with children need to understand and be effective in their contribution to
protection plans.
 The child’s voice should be at the heart of every plan they may be subject to.
 It is difficult for children and families to understand services and their relevance at each stage
of involvement.
 There is a key role to be played by the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB), having the
ability to address these issues and it needs to be effective in doing so.

Page 13 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

5.

METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW

The Panel has employed the following methods to gather evidence:
5.1 Meetings
A series of individual meetings has taken place at which the Scrutiny Panel Members could
discuss relevant issues with the following:


Introduction to safeguarding
Deborah Gornik (Head of Targeted Services, Children & Young People, Wirral Borough
Council)
Emma Taylor (Head of Specialist services, Children & Young People, Wirral Borough Council)
Simon Garner (Corporate Safeguarding Manager, Wirral Borough Council)



Visit to MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub), Moreton
Laura Beech (Manager, MASH)
Simon Garner (Corporate Safeguarding Manager, Wirral Borough Council)



Police and crime
DCI Tracy Hayes (Merseyside Police)
D/SGt Michelle Hogg (Merseyside Police)
Rosie Goodwin (Assistant Chief Executive, East & West Merseyside Community
Rehabilitation Company)



Health
Maggie Chessall (Named Midwife, Wirral University Teaching Hospital)
Noel Murphy (Health Visitor, Wirral Community Trust)
Martin Hackett (Named Nurse, Wirral Community Trust)



Catch22
Jaine Crompton (Family Intervention Manager – Wirral, Catch22)
Cheryl Kennah (Lead family support worker for IFIP, Catch22)
Simon Gunner (IFIP key worker in Seacombe, Catch22)



Advocacy agencies
Bev Morgan (CEO, Home-Start Wirral)
Lauren Upton (Family Support Coordinator, Home-Start Wirral)
Aileen Alexander (Barnados – Action with Young Carers Wirral)
Paul Stubbs, Team Manager, Looked After Children, Barnados)



Domestic violence
Jill Barr (Manager, Family Safety Unit, Wirral Borough Council)



Observe a meeting of the LSCB (Local Safeguarding Children Board)
plus meeting with the Chair of the LSCB, Bernard Walker



Focus group with social workers – Specialist Services
Jarred Law
Ben Hornby
Declan Morris
Nicola Bolger
Josie Lee
Kirsty Wilson



Focus group with social workers – Targeted Services
Elizabeth Hartley (Family Intervention)
Jane Egan (Family Support)
Sarah Harper (Children’s Centres)
Mike Clarke (Restorative Practice)
Mark Newman (Youth & Play Service)

Page 14 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

5.2



Re-visit to MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub), Moreton
Anna Moulsdale (Manager, MASH, Wirral Borough Council)
Lynette Morgan (Practice Improvement Manager, Specialist services, Wirral Borough Council)
Suzanne Cottrell (Local Authority Designated Officer – LADO, Wirral Borough Council)
Vicki McKenna (Manager responsible for child sexual exploitation and missing from home
services, Catch22)



Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) plus review of anonymised child protection plans
Maureen O’Brien (Independent Reviewing Officer, Safeguarding Unit, CYPD)
Yvonne Jama (Independent Reviewing Officer, Safeguarding Unit, CYPD)



Observation by members of a child protection conference



Meetings with families who have experience of the safeguarding process

Written Evidence
The Review was also informed by written evidence including committee reports, Government
documents and briefing papers from officers.

Page 15 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

6.

NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT

6.1

What is Safeguarding?

Local authorities have overarching responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all
children and young people in their area.The welfare of all children and young people in the local
community must be a top priority for any local authority. Safeguarding ensures that children are kept
as safe as possible by identifying their needs, views and any risks they face. Services, information
and support can then be provided as required. Where children are likely to suffer harm, local
authorities have clear duties to intervene through child protection processes.
Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined by the Department of Education
statutory guidance, ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ as:
 Protecting children from maltreatment.
 Preventing impairment of children’s health or development.
 Ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe
and effective care.
 Taking action to enable all children to have the best life chances.
The guidance states clearly:
“Whilst local authorities play a lead role, safeguarding children and protecting them from harm
is everyone’s responsibility. Everyone who comes into contact with children and families has a
role to play”.

If the local authority identifies that there is reasonable cause to suspect the child is suffering, or is
likely to suffer significant harm, it will carry out an assessment under section 47 of the Children Act
1989 to determine if it needs to take steps to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. If
concerns are substantiated and the child is judged to be at continuing risk of harm then an initial child
protection conference should be convened within 15 working days.
Child abuse comes in many forms; from neglect to physical, online to sexual. At a national level, the
numbers of children involved are substantial. Recent statistics1 for 2014-2015 report that, in England,
391,000 are assessed as children in need (Wirral 2,882) as at 31st March 2015. Of those, 49,700
were subject to a child protection plan as at 31st March 2015 (Wirral 233), compared to 39,100 six
years ago. There were 635,600 referrals to children’s social care in the year ending 31 March 2015. A
complex pattern of need and risk emerges from the data:
 Over 49% of children in need have experienced abuse or neglect in their care.
 18% are described as in need due to family dysfunction.
 New concerns are emerging as understanding of sexual exploitation, online risks, bullying and
teenage domestic violence grows.

1

Department for Education, Characteristics of Children in Need in England 2014 to 2015

Page 16 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

The following tables report comparative data and show that the rates for children in need, children on
a child protection plan and looked after children are all higher for Wirral than for the England average.
The implications of this high rate of activity for social care in Wirral are discussed later in the report.
Table 1:

Rate of children in need per 10,000
Historical Comparison (2013-2015)

Wirral
North West
Statistical Neighbours
England

2013

2014

2015

417.70
343.10
408.76
332.20

396.10
365.30
410.49
346.40

426.30
367.70
406.52
337.30

Source: Department of Education

Note: A child in need is one who has been assessed by children’s social care to be in need of services. These services can
include, for example, family support (to help keep together families experiencing difficulties), leaving care support (to
help young people who have left local authority care), adoption support, or disabled children’s services (including social
care, education and health provision).

Table 2:

Rate of children subject to a child protection plan per 10,000
Historical Comparison (2013-2015)
2013

2014

2015

39.80
41.40
44.12
37.90

43.00
50.80
55.32
42.10

34.50
49.90
57.08
42.90

2013

2014

2015

98.00
78.00
79.20
60.00

99.00
81.00
81.80
60.00

100.00
82.00
82.00
60.00

Wirral
North West
Statistical Neighbours
England
Source: Department of Education

Table 3:

Rate of looked after children 10,000 aged under 18
Historical Comparison (2013-2015)

Wirral
North West
Statistical Neighbours
England
Source: Department of Education

Page 17 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

7.

EVIDENCE FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

The Demand for Services and Organisational Structure

Thresholds of need give practitioners a common understanding of need and eligibility for
preventative and protective services. Practitioners can then assess need and priorities and respond
appropriately. The Wirral Local Safeguarding Children Board Procedures Manual provides
practitioners with advice regarding the threshold for services to children in need. Four thresholds of
need on the Team Around the Child continuum have been developed:
 Level 1 - Universal Services
These are children who make good overall progress in all areas of development. All children
and young people are entitled to receive support from these services, which are available to
everyone irrespective of their needs. This includes GP's, health visitors and school nurses,
schools, Connexions (for age 13 plus), youth service, leisure and play facilities and housing.
 Level 2 – Preventative Services: Single Agency Response
Some children require support beyond that provided by their families and universal services.
Their life chances would be improved with effective, single agency support. Any practitioner
working with a child or their family may identify, in the presentation or behaviour of a child, that
they have additional needs, which could be met by a single agency or service.
 Level 3 – Preventative Services: Multi-agency response
Some children will have more complex needs. Their life chances are likely to be improved by
effective multi-agency support. If a practitioner believes that a multi-agency response may be
required and appropriate consent has been given, the practitioner should complete a Common
Assessment and arrange a Team Around the Child Meeting where a lead professional will be
appointed. The process must be discussed with the child and/or their parent/carer and consent
obtained. The progress of the assessment and the implementation of the plans will be
considered at review where decisions regarding further agency involvement will be made. At
this level a Social Worker will not be involved.
 Level 4 – Children at risk of serious harm
Where a child is suffering or likely to suffer Significant Harm, or has experienced Significant
Harm a referral must be made to Social Care without delay. The referral point is the Central
Advice and Duty team (CADT).
Within the Children’s Services organisation at Wirral Council, services provided to children at Level 2
and 3 will be done so via Targeted Services. Specialist Services will support those children deemed
to be at Level 4. Members were informed that, in comparison to the average Local Authority, Wirral
has a higher proportion of children requiring substantial levels of support, that is, those cases which
have been escalated to Specialist services. As of the end of June 2015, there were 671 looked after
children in the borough. As the number of referrals to social care in Wirral is high compared to
statistical neighbours, a high volume of work is generated in the system.
Table 4:

Rate of referrals to social care per 10,000
Historical Comparison (2013-2015)

Wirral
North West
Statistical Neighbours
England
Source: Department of Education

Page 18 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

2013

2014

2015

560.30
619.70
588.03
520.70

602.20
687.60
662.67
573.00

634.90
616.80
566.25
548.30

Members were informed that, in the past, Wirral has been unusual in providing quick referral to social
care, rather than to other services, lower in the spectrum of need. It has long been the intention to
provide a greater degree of early intervention in order to stop an escalation to social care; a major
driver for change being the Munro Report, which advocated a balanced early intervention offer. In
2013, a North West Early Intervention Strategy was developed and has subsequently been adopted
by Wirral. Other drivers for change included the Frank Field report ‘The Foundation Years: Preventing
Poor Children becoming Poor Adults’ and the Graham Allen report, ‘Early Intervention: The Next
Steps’. Members were informed that the key to success is “to get in early and get out early”. Although
some progress has been made in reducing the cases in Specialist Services, there is recognition
among officers that further progress for appropriate stepping-down of cases is required.
As previously stated, the front door for children at risk of serious harm (Level 4) is the Central Advice
and Duty Team (CADT). The CADT is now based in Moreton, incorporated into the Multi Agency
Safeguarding Hub (MASH), which was established in January 2014. A MASH co-locates a whole
range of agencies, including police, local authority children’s social care, education, and health staff,
to share information and identify emerging problems early. The MASH approach was first introduced
by Devon County Council and has since been adopted across other parts of the UK. Wirral was
among the earlier Local Authorities in the country to adopt this model. If a child is in danger of
significant harm, social care, police and other key partners come together to provide a coordinated
response and to determine the best way to keep the child safe. Current participants in Wirral MASH
include social care, police, health, family safety unit and, since May 2015, an educational social
worker. Members have been impressed by the development of the MASH model. In the past, a
recognised strength in Wirral has been the strong partnership working and positive working
relationships. It is intended that the introduction of the MASH will further embed these strengths. The
Members were informed by practitioners that closer partnership working, improved communication
and sharing of information have been achieved enabling more effective and faster evidence gathering
on individual cases. A quick response may reduce the likelihood of the use of child protection plans.
An additional consequence of the creation of the MASH is that different partner organisations are
involved in shared decision-making; less work being passed from one agency to another. Members
were informed by practitioners:
“MASH enables us to make safe, better informed decisions”
“The creation of MASH has led to more dialogue with other professionals”.
“The MASH has already provided a great improvement, enabling better communication and
sharing of information”.
“The MASH has led to an improvement in information gathering and cases are now sifted more
quickly”.
However, the MASH concept will be further enhanced by inclusion of additional partner agencies.
Therefore, the Members encourage the Director of Children Services to continue to further develop
the MASH model, exploring the possibility of involving additional partners such as CAMHS (Child &
Adolescent Mental Health Service, probation, public health / drug and alcohol workers and the antisocial behavior team.
Recommendation 1 – Development of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
Progress made towards the establishment of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is
welcomed. In order to further improve the communication and sharing of information between
partners, the Director of Children Services is requested to continue to develop the MASH concept
and explore opportunities to include additional partner organisations in the model.

Page 19 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

As described above, practitioners assess the needs and priorities of individual children. For those
determined to be in need of either single-agency or multi-agency preventative intervention, a referral
is made to Targeted services. In September 2013, the Gateway to Targeted Preventative Services
was launched. With the introduction of the new process, when a child is referred to the Gateway, the
case is triaged and the child is pointed to the appropriate service. The aim is to wrap a coordinated
and integrated package around the family, with the intensity of support reflecting the changing needs
of the family depending on family circumstances. Family support services are modeled to better
coordinate multi agency support through a single Lead Professional approach, providing a single
point of contact for the family. This approach focuses on working with the whole family at a
community level. Historically, there had been poor sharing of data between partners, with a family
having to tell their story time and time again, often to different service providers, resulting in a waste
of resources and not a big difference to the family’s circumstances.
The Targeted Services Gateway is physically located at Moreton within the same offices as MASH.
However, the Gateway team operates separately to the CADT which prioritise and allocate cases for
Specialist Services (Level 4). In the attempt to safely reduce the volume of children referred for care,
it had been recognised that there was a need to strengthen the front door processes. The Gateway
process has resulted in a cultural change for staff as they are no longer directly referring into social
care. During the review, members were told:
“There is a need to change the emphasis from ‘phone social care’ to ‘phone the gateway’”.
It is suggested by the Members that further consideration be given to other operating models for the
front door to both Targeted and Specialist Services, in particular those options seeking further
integration. This should enable more effective tracking and movement of children between the two
service areas. It is understood that other Local Authorities such as Staffordshire and Cheshire East
have embarked on the implementation of such models. Indeed, greater integration of service delivery
was called for too by an interviewee who said:
“It should be an aim for families to not feel the impact of the Council’s structures. Therefore,
families should not see different faces because they fit into a different part of the organisation”.
Recommendation 2 – The front-door to social care
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider alternative operating models for the front
door to Specialist and Targeted Services including those offering further integration, such as a
combined Gateway and CADT (Central Advice and Duty Team).
During the review, it was not easy for members to access data to determine the movement of children
between Targeted and Specialist services and therefore to clarify whether the attempts to reduce the
numbers of children requiring support from specialist services were indeed being effective. It is,
therefore, proposed that regular performance data is developed in order to adequately monitor the
outcomes for young people and families who receive Specialist or Targeted services.
Members were informed that:
“Although a good mechanism for allocating cases, the Gateway is not effective at collecting and
assessing outcomes for children and their families”.
Recommendation 3 – Monitoring performance data
The Director of Children Services is requested to establish an effective mechanism to monitor the
progress of children across different service provision and to provide regular performance data to
monitor outcomes for young people and families who receive specialist or targeted services.

Page 20 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

9.2

Procedures and processes

During this review, the members have received reassurances from a significant number of managers
and practitioners that adequate policies and procedures are in place to enable them to undertake
their safeguarding duties effectively. Those agencies involved in the review provided positive
confirmation from their perspective. There was an acknowledgement that the Local Safeguarding
Children Board (LSCB) plays an active lead role in developing protocols and policies which all partner
organisations and practitioners are expected to follow.
One practitioner explained:
“If mum does not put the children first, we will. There is no hesitation in escalating cases if it is
necessary”.
However, another practitioner reflected the concerns of the Members when saying:
“All the processes are in place but we are all individuals”.
It is important that the child’s voice is at the heart of the process. A child-centred approach to
safeguarding is strongly established by legislation with Local Authorities being required to give due
regard to the wishes of the child when making decisions about services. The wishes and feelings of
individual children should be clear in all stages of the child protection process including during
assessments, planning and reviews. There should also be appropriate participation of children in
meetings, conferences and other decision making forums.
It is recognised that Wirral Council has developed a number of initiatives designed to ensure that
looked after children and young people have a voice and that their views are represented including:
 Wirral Children In Care Council, a long-established body, having a key role in designing and
informing service delivery for looked after children;
 Wirral Young People’s Panel being involved in the recruitment and selection process for social
workers;
 Close links with Wirral Corporate Parenting Group, made up of Members, Chief Officers and
Heads of Branch, ensuring that their voices are heard.
However, it is also essential that the voice of the child and of individual family members is heard
throughout the assessment and planning process. Indeed, the Independent Reviewing Officer has a
crucial role as they quality assure the care planning and review process for each child while ensuring
that each child’s wishes and feelings are given full consideration. Even though progress has been
made, one practitioner informed the Members:
“Agencies have now woken up to the tools of voice of the child. Whether we hear the child is
different. There is still work to do to action the voice of the child”.
An Initial Child Protection Conference must be convened when it is believed that a child is suffering or
likely to suffer Significant Harm. The Initial Child Protection Conference brings together family
members, the child (when appropriate), advocates and those professionals most involved with the
child and family to share and assess information. The conference will formulate an agreed plan of
management and services, with the child's safety and welfare as its paramount aim. Members were
informed that it is important that there are no surprises for the parents at the child protection
conference. Therefore, the social worker goes through the report with the parent 24 or 48 hours in
advance of the meeting. The Chair also meets the parents 30 minutes in advance of the conference
to describe the process and ensure that the parents have a voice. It is important that parents are
supported and protected at conference, although some of the meetings can have a large number of
attendees. It is not unusual to have more than ten attendees particularly if there are a number of
children involved and they are attending different schools. Indeed, it is also often encouraged, where
appropriate, to hold a Family Group Conference to encourage wider family support. Therefore, in
particular, in the circumstances of highly attended conferences, it is possible that an individual family
member will not feel able to make their views known. As a result, following feedback from service
users, Members propose that appropriate space and time is provided for individuals, including the
child, to provide information in a more informal context where appropriate prior to the conference.
Page 21 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Individuals should have sufficient opportunity to share the information they feel is relevant with a
professional in a manner with which they feel comfortable while being given a clear understanding
of policies and procedures relating to the sharing of that information during the conference.
Recommendation 4 – Contact with individual family members
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that opportunities are provided for individual
family members, including the child, to provide information before and after a child protection
conference.

Following the child protection conference, feedback to the family members should be unambiguous.
Case studies made available to the members suggested that this is not always the case. It is,
therefore, suggested that the outcomes of the meeting should be formally recorded and the family
notified in writing. Further evidence suggested that it would also be beneficial if family members had
the opportunity to discuss the outcome with a neutral contact.
Recommendation 5 – Formal notification to family members
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that the outcome of a child protection
conference is reported to family members in a written format stating clearly the next steps which will
follow and consider making available the opportunity for individual family members to discuss the
outcome with a neutral contact.

It was also noted by the members that there is currently limited opportunity for families and children to
formally feedback experiences on the whole process. This would provide a real opportunity for future
processes to be strengthened from previous misunderstandings. During one of the meetings with
families, the Members were informed:
“We want social services with compassion”.
Whatever the rights and wrongs of particular circumstances, it would surely be constructive to ensure
that voices such as that were heard as part of a feedback process.
Recommendation 6 – Feedback from service users
The Director of Children Services is requested to investigate the possibility of providing a mechanism
for individuals to feedback experiences of the child protection conference process on a confidential
basis, for example, by the use of a confidential phone number.
The Members were informed by practitioners that there is some frustration regarding the Gateway
and CADT processes as cases can be referred in to the system but there is no feedback regarding
the outcome. They were informed that the originator of the concern can be waiting for the results of
the assessment when the case has already been closed. Clearly, this could result in the originator still
having concerns, thinking that action was being taken but, in reality, no further action was being
taken. To avoid this occurrence it is suggested that options are considered to ensure that the
originator is always contacted to inform them of the outcome to the case, particularly when a case is
to be closed.
Recommendation 7 – ‘Closing the loop’
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider the options for ensuring that the originator
of a safeguarding concern is informed of the outcome.

Page 22 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

The threshold framework, developed by the LSCB and described earlier in Section 7.1 of this report
defines Threshold Levels 1 to 4. However, the application of the thresholds is, to some extent,
subjective. The same definition of Levels 1 to 4 is used across all agencies. However, the
interpretation between agencies and social care may differ. As a consequence, there are genuine
professional disagreements and differing opinions regarding particular cases.
“The consistency in application of thresholds is a real problem”.
“It appears that some agencies do operate with different thresholds”.
It was interesting to note that some practitioners felt that the application of thresholds across
agencies had improved in recent times because dialogue between the agencies has developed
since the implementation of MASH. However, during the meetings, other practitioners did express
the concern that the threshold could be driven by resources and by what services a particular
agency are able to offer. A small number of practitioners expressed the view that the threshold has
been raised compared to the documentation.
“There is a perception that the threshold for intervention from social care has heightened due
to a reduction in funding, reduced capacity and higher caseloads.”
In addition, the view was expressed that the level of understanding of thresholds among partners is
not universal. This is demonstrated, according to some practitioners, by some partner organisations
appearing to lack the confidence to take full responsibility and accountability for taking safeguarding
action themselves. As a result, there was a perception that referrals to social care can be seen as an
easy option and a way of diverting the problem elsewhere. Therefore, in order to help agencies to
become more accountable it is proposed that further training is made available aimed at reinforcing
the interpretation and application of the definition of the threshold levels for intervention.
Recommendation 8 – Definition of assessment threshold levels
In order to address concerns relating to the understanding of thresholds among agencies and
partners, the Director of Children Services (or LSCB) is requested to develop a training plan aimed at
reinforcing the interpretation and application of the definition of the threshold levels for intervention.
The training will equip responsible persons with the skills to identify levels of risk and take appropriate
action.
In recent years, there has been an increasing drive for extended family members to become foster
parents for the child utilising the legal process of Special Guardianship Orders (SGOs). Members
heard mixed evidence regarding the benefits of the process as some practitioners argued that this
does not always lead to the best outcomes, with particular concern being raised with the practice as
social worker support is withdrawn once the Special Guardianship Order is in place.
In a local context, anecdotal evidence demonstrated that some of the SGOs put in place have been
with extended family members who have had little ongoing relationship with the child. This suggests
that more support for these families would be beneficial as, in some cases, these family members
may have little intimate knowledge of the child.
The table below shows the increasing trend for SGO’s more prevalent in the North West, among
statistical neighbours and in England than in Wirral.
Table 5: Number of children who ceased to be looked after because of a Special Guardianship Order
Historical Comparison (2012-2014)

Wirral
North West
Statistical Neighbours
England
Source: Department of Education

Page 23 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

2012

2013

2014

25.00
430.00
22.14
2150.00

35.00
470.00
18.75
2770.00

25.00
570.00
26.67
3330.00

However, research into Special Guardianship, “Investigating Special Guardianship: experiences,
outcomes and challenges”, published in November 2014 by the Department for Education, shows
Special Guardianship to be an effective and positive option for some children who are unable to live
with their birth parents to have a stable and secure family life.
The study demonstrated how local authorities are working proactively and successfully to use Special
Guardianship Orders to help children for whom this is the most appropriate form of long term
placement. It also found no evidence to suggest that the rise in Special Guardianship Orders has led
to a diminishing use of adoption, nor that Local Authorities who encourage a high use of SGOs make
less use of adoption.
However, the report does highlight the need for long term support for Special Guardians and the
children in their care. It is, therefore, suggested that a process is put in place to ensure that
appropriate support is made available to the family. Indeed, the British Association for Adoption and
Fostering argues that the level of support provided to children in Special Guardianship Orders should
be equivalent to the support that is available to adoptive families.
Recommendation 9 – Special Guardianship Orders
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that the processes in place to find Special
Guardians are as robust as those for Foster Carers and Adopters so that all children placed under
Special Guardianship Orders remain safe and are supported within that placement.

9.3

Partnership working

Strong leadership from all senior partners in local arrangements is essential to establishing an
effective safeguarding system. In cases where there have been failures to safeguard effectively,
reviews have often highlighted the absence of leadership and lack of partnership working as
significant contributory factors. It is important that all parts of the local system are working closely
together with good communications and a good appreciation of each other’s roles. Effective multiagency working is based on clear protocols and strong local relationships. Organisations including
the Police, the NHS partners (health commissioners and providers), education services and probation
services, as well as the voluntary and community sector all have their own accountabilities and
statutory guidance to outline their roles and responsibilities.
Information sharing is an essential part of good local safeguarding arrangements. National research
and analysis has indicated that failure to share information has been a significant feature of poor
outcomes for children. The Members were told by a practitioner that:
“The biggest barrier is where information is not passed effectively between colleagues and
partners agencies”.
At a local level, the LSCB has a crucial role in ensuring effective partnership working. It appears that
this is a high priority for the local LSCB and that there is effective partnership engagement at this
strategic level. The introduction of Wirral MASH has ensured that information is now shared more
effectively although the members heard that the biggest single problem for the MASH is the delay in
receiving information, with the longest delays typically being experienced with schools and the
education sector. On numerous occasions during the review, the working relationship between a
number of key agencies were complimented. Practitioners told Members:
“Local agencies are very good at identifying children at risk. The working relationship among
agencies is very good”.
”In general, there are good relationships with all agencies”.

Page 24 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

In practical terms, the Members were informed that if each agency operated independently, the
intelligence gathered on a particular case may fall below the threshold and consequently would not
be raised with social services. However, joint working can result in the identification of high risk when
all of the evidence is joined together. The development of the Gateway also means that information
regarding a family can be more easily shared to avoid more than one CAF (Common Assessment
Framework) review taking place. Duplication of effort is, therefore, more likely to be avoided.
However, a major hurdle remains with different partners employing a variety of computer systems,
which are not integrated. On a practical level, this obviously makes information sharing and
integration of practices more difficult to achieve.
There were some comments received during the review suggesting that not all partners were fully
engaged during the assessment process and the preparation for child protection conferences. In
particular, although third sector partners are well placed to provide information on families, due to
both regular and informal contact, they are not always approached to do so during social care
assessments.
Recommendation 10 – Involving all partners in social work assessments
The Director of Children Services is requested to ensure that all organisations involved with the child,
including third sector organisations, are given the opportunity to provide information when social work
assessments are being prepared.

Although, there appear to be good relationships across the partnership, including the health partners,
some concerns were raised by social care practitioners that some agencies refer cases to social care
too quickly without adequately investigating the circumstances themselves:
“There needs to be a change of focus, with other agencies dealing with families before
referring the case to social care. Officers in other agencies are too scared and are risk averse”.
“There is a feeling that there is a lack of accountability for safeguarding issues displayed by
some schools. People are terrified of making a mistake”.
In particular, there have been instances of “inappropriate” referrals from some GPs. It was also
suggested that some GPs raise concerns regarding a child but are unwilling or unable to provide
substantial evidence. A suggestion to improve the relationship with GPs is to provide more effective
training to enable them to better understand the thresholds for action. In addition, while it is
acknowledged that attendance at child protection conferences is time consuming and does impact
on surgery times, a future option may be to encourage confidential written reports being sent to the
Chair in advance of the conference.

Recommendation 11 – GPs and safeguarding
The Director of Children Services is requested to work in conjunction with Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group to develop a mechanism to encourage GPs to provide relevant information to
safeguarding investigations and formal meetings. This mechanism could include a training
programme for GPs to enable a better understanding of thresholds for intervention.

Members were told that some schools are very proactive regarding safeguarding issues and a lot of
good work is going on in schools. The implementation of Operation Encompass is a positive
development. This scheme involves key partners working together more effectively to alert school
staff where a child has been present during an incident of domestic abuse. In turn, this enables the
school to provide additional support to the child at a very early stage. However, Members were also
informed that there is often a gap in intelligence during the summer holidays as it is particularly
difficult to get anyone from schools to attend case meetings during that period.
Page 25 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

It was also noted that there is a lack of consistency between schools and there is a discrepancy in the
quality of response between schools. Those schools who deal with safeguarding issues on a regular
basis tend to develop a confidence in doing so. However, those schools that have few referrals tend
to be not so familiar with the processes. Members were informed by social care professionals that
some schools appear to be reluctant to discuss safeguarding issues openly and honestly with parents
as it can easily damage the relationship with parents. As outlined earlier, this can lead to schools
referring cases to social care earlier than is perhaps necessary. The point was made that schools
were equipped to deal with safeguarding issues but, at the same time, needed support from social
care professionals to realise what they could do. It is, therefore, suggested that, in order to support
schools in their safeguarding role, further work is done to help develop a stronger relationship
between schools and social care. In addition, in order to avoid delays in information being reported by
schools, it is suggested that the creation of a single specialist reference point for schools within the
MASH model may be beneficial.
Recommendation 12 – Relationship between schools and MASH
In order to make it easier for schools to engage with safeguarding processes, the Director of Children
Services is requested to consider the provision of a reference point for schools within the MASH.
Recommendation 13 – Relationship between social care and schools
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider ways in which stronger relationships can
be developed between social workers and schools, in order to encourage all schools to become more
integrated in the safeguarding process.

During the review, it was noted that there is a good relationship between the voluntary sector and
social care and with the locality teams. It was also commented that those working in the third sector
are experienced in assessment and the identification of risk. However, it was also reported that the
options for training were limited for some partners in the voluntary sector, particularly some of the
smaller organisations. While it is viable for some of the larger third sector organisations, such as
Barnados and Homestart, to provide safeguarding training to staff and volunteers, that it is not
necessarily the case for smaller bodies. As stated elsewhere, the quality of the training particularly
that provided via the LSCB has been recognised by practitioners as being of high quality. It is,
therefore, suggested that a process is developed to ensure that safeguarding training is made as
accessible as possible, particularly to the smaller organisations in the third sector.

Recommendation 14 – Access to safeguarding training
The Director of Children Services is requested to develop a process to ensure that safeguarding
training becomes more accessible especially to small organisations in the third sector.

The recent high profile events in Rotherham, Rochdale and Oxford, among other towns, have
brought the issue of child sexual exploitation to national prominence. Professor Alexis Jay’s report
into the sexual exploitation of children in Rotherham has provided a wake-up call for the child
protection sector as well as for the wider public. What has emerged is a series of high profile abuse
cases, each highlighting systematic failures. The NSPCC report, ‘How safe are our children? 2015’
estimates that recorded sexual offences against children in England have risen by 39% in 2013/14
compared with the previous year. This rise could partially be accounted for by an increased
willingness to report abuse following media focus on the issue. The NSPCC report continues:
“The child protection systems across the UK need to continue to adapt to new and emerging
forms of abuse, including Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). The systems need to help
practitioners feel confident in identifying and protecting victims, as well as contributing to
working towards preventing CSE in the first place. Social workers report concerns that “sexual
abuse might go undetected when more evident indicators of neglect or physical abuse are
Page 26 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

presented” and that too frequently they “were operating without the support, time, knowledge
and training they needed to ensure the identification of sexual abuse and the protection and
well-being of extremely vulnerable children”. In addition, there is evidence that suggests child
protection processes and procedures tend to be designed for work with young children in a
family context. Adolescents require a more sophisticated model of risk prevention and
protection”.
At a local level, child sexual exploitation has been highlighted as a priority within the annual report of
the Wirral LSCB for the last two years (2013/14 and 2014/15). Local initiatives have included the
launch of the www.listentomystory.co.uk media campaign and the performances of Chelsea’s Choice
theatre productions aimed at young people. The work planned for 2015/16 will continue to raise
awareness of child sexual exploitation among children and young people, parents and carers,
professionals and the wider community; demonstrating strategic leadership on this key issue.
Members have heard that, at a practical level, monthly meetings of the Multi Agency Child Sexual
Exploitation (MACSE) group take place. The process is well embedded and is used to review the
cases of those young people identified as being at risk of child sexual exploitation. The members
were told that intelligence is developing and the quality of the publicity campaigns, led by the LSCB
has been high. The child sexual exploitation team is now embedded within the MASH model, helping
to deliver a holistic approach.
As identified in the NSPCC report, local evidence also suggested that specific training on the
identification of those young people at risk of child sexual exploitation would be beneficial across the
partnership, including the police.
Recommendation 15 – Child sexual exploitation training for front-line staff
The Director of Children Services is requested to continue to encourage the uptake of additional
training opportunities for front-line staff, including the police, regarding child sexual exploitation.

7.4

Staffing issues

In the early stages of the review, members detected considerable frustration among staff who had
been informed that a re-structuring along with allied pay increases for social workers was being
planned but not yet implemented. Members were informed that pay was considerably less at Wirral
than in neighbouring authorities for staff undertaking equivalent roles. The levels of pay have
contributed to difficulties with the retention of staff. Members were informed that a significant turnover
in social workers affects the relationship with children and families. The continuity of contact and the
development of trust are very important. In fact, the loss of social workers and the resulting changes
in workload has resulted in, for many children, the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) being the
most consistent person in their life. Subsequent to those scrutiny review meetings, localised pay
increases and a re-structuring of Specialist Services has been implemented. Although a recent report
to the Council’s Children Sub-Committee provided an update to members regarding the re-structuring
of Specialist Services, Members propose that further review work takes place in due course to
establish the effectiveness of the structural changes.
Recommendation 16 – Social Care re-organisation: Follow-up investigation by members
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to enable scrutiny members to
arrange a follow-up session / workshop to evaluate the effectiveness of the re-organisation once the
new Specialist services social care teams are embedded. The review, which will include front-line
staff and possibly parents and families, will also monitor the success of the plans to achieve improved
retention of staff.

Page 27 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

The members were informed that current caseloads for an experienced social worker in Wirral are an
average of 25, although there is recognition by management that this is an issue to be resolved. It is
understood that recommendations from national reviews have placed the number for safe practice
between 15 and 20. Members were told that there is significant pressure, particularly on those more
experienced staff who are allocated complex cases. The pressure of workload has reportedly been a
contributory factor to some staff leaving the authority. It was also reported that the volume of work
and high caseloads has also contributed to a significant turnover of staff, particularly among the more
experienced. As a result, the proportion of newly qualified staff has perhaps been higher than is
desirable. Pressure of workload among experienced workers also means that there is less time to
mentor newly qualified staff. It is anticipated that time pressures will also increase as the
implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014 will ensure that care proceedings must be
completed within 26 weeks rather than the previous limit of 52 weeks. Members, therefore, suggest
that a process is put in place to reduce the caseload towards the national average.
Recommendation 17 – Social worker caseloads
The Director of Children Services is requested to develop a mechanism to monitor the caseloads of
social workers with the aim of reducing the caseload to, at most, the national average.
Members were informed that it is a complex task to both chair case meetings and take the minutes. In
addition, notes have to be hand-written and typed at a later date, resulting in potential delays in the
issuing of minutes. Clerical support would ease the problem, although the provision of laptops or
tablets would improve the ability of social workers to operate in a more flexible, agile and productive
way. Although there will be a capital cost in providing new equipment, productivity gains would result
in the longer-term.
Recommendation 18 – Social worker support
The Director of Children Services is requested to consider the options for increasing the availability of
laptops for staff, such as social workers, who are regularly working off-site.
7.5

Governance arrangements

Local safeguarding arrangements are based on a national framework outlined in legislation and
statutory guidance, ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’. Central to these arrangements are the
statutory responsibilities of the local authority and the LSCB. Three senior safeguarding roles provide
high-level leadership in this structure, namely, the Lead Member for Children’s Services, the local
authority Director of Children’s Services and the chair of the LSCB. Each has their own
accountabilities and together they share responsibility to work with multi-agency partners to promote
the welfare of children and ensure they are properly safeguarded. Scrutiny Committees have a crucial
role in ensuring that all officers and executive members are held to effective account for the fulfilment
of these roles within the local structure.
A Local Safeguarding Children Board is established for each local authority area. Its role is to:
 Coordinate safeguarding in the local area.
 Ensure the effectiveness of safeguarding activities of all local partners.
The LSCB has a number of functions:
 To develop local policies and procedures for safeguarding.
 To establish thresholds for interventions when there are concerns about a child.
 To identify training, recruitment and supervision standards for all local partners.
 To raise awareness of safeguarding and best practice.
 To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of local safeguarding including the individual and
collective work of Board partners.
 To participate in the planning of services.
 To ensure that Serious Case Reviews are implemented where appropriate and lessons are
shared.
Page 28 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Membership of the LSCB is made from a range of Board partners who are senior officers from local
agencies including the Police, the Youth Offending Team and the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Whilst LSCBs do not manage the delivery or commissioning of safeguarding services they will
recommend priorities and areas for improvement. The Chair of the LSCB is an independent
appointment charged with holding all agencies to account. Members heard complimentary comments
regarding the quality of training, delivered across agencies, provided by the LSCB. Some witnesses
described the LSCB training in Wirral to be of a higher standard than in a number of neighbouring
Local Authorities.
At a national level, the Local Government Association recently commissioned a study to review the
perceived effectiveness of LSCB’s. Incorporating the views of Board chairs and partner agencies, the
research concluded:
 the original purpose of the boards to coordinate local safeguarding work and ensure the
effectiveness of local activity to keep children safe, has become confused by increasing
expectations that are not matched by greater power or resources;
 significant progress has been made in building a strong joint approach to safeguarding across
local areas, but in too many cases work was hampered by a dysfunctional Ofsted regime;
 inspectors too often judged success on a board's ability to correct failings of other
organisations, even though Ofsted recently acknowledged in its own annual social care report
that boards do not have the powers to do this;
 funding was not always shared equitably by all partners, and a disproportionate burden was
often placed on councils as a result;
 the increasing independence of schools is making it harder to engage the education sector
with local authority schools regularly represented but hardly any attendance from academies;
 whilst everyone recognises the importance of learning and sharing lessons of serious case
reviews, they are often too bureaucratic, increasingly expensive and the resource required is
disproportionate to their usefulness in improving practice; a new approach is needed.
During the review, Members visited a meeting of Wirral’s Local Safeguarding Children Board, during
which the robustness of the challenge was observed. However, Members have also noted the
significant number of bodies within the Council who have an interest in safeguarding matters. These
include:
 Local Safeguarding Children Board
 Children’s Trust Board
 Safeguarding Reference Group
 Corporate Parenting Group
 Health & Wellbeing Board
 Families and Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee
The possibility of duplication and overlap across these groups is, therefore, noted. As a result, it is
proposed that a review of the specific roles relating to safeguarding issues is undertaken in order to
avoid duplication but more importantly to ensure that the appropriate lines of accountability are in
place.
Recommendation 19 – Governance arrangements
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to undertake a review of the
governance arrangements relating to safeguarding to ensure that remits of bodies, such as Children’s
Trust Board, Corporate Parenting Group, Health & Wellbeing Board, Local Safeguarding Children
Board (LSCB), Safeguarding Reference Group and scrutiny, are clearly understood, the appropriate
reporting lines are in place and that duplication of activity is avoided.

Page 29 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Both the reports produced in 2014 by Professor Jay and by the Communities and Local
Government Select Committee highlight the failure of scrutiny and challenge within the system of
governance at Rotherham. It was recommended by the Centre for Public Scrutiny that learning from
the scrutiny process in Rotherham will be of benefit to scrutiny committees in all Local Authorities.
Key lessons included:
 The need to check evidence and data presented to the scrutiny committee.
 The importance of councillors using their local knowledge to sense-check reports and
approaches.
 A lack of measures to monitor the effectiveness of the scrutiny process.
 The importance of clarity between executive and scrutiny roles for members.
 The need to monitor the implementation of scrutiny recommendations.
 The need for clear and good quality minutes and records of scrutiny sessions.
 The need for effective challenge.
 The importance of using the scrutiny process to hold the executive to account.
The recent Report of Inspection of Rotherham MBC (February 2015), by Louise Casey presents
further challenges for Local Government Scrutiny. Relating to scrutiny and standards, the report says:
“Inspectors saw regular reports to the Cabinet and Scrutiny committees, but not the effective
challenge we would expect from elected Members. The notion of challenge has been
misunderstood and misinterpreted as bullish questioning. Challenge means setting aspirational
targets, knowing how far to stretch the organisation, asking searching questions, drilling down
into information and data, ensuring targets are kept to and agreed actions implemented. It also
means recognising organsational inertia and doing something about it; identifying when people
are struggling, finding out why and getting alongside them, overcoming barriers and working out
solutions.”.
“….it is not clear how effective it [scrutiny] has been in holding Cabinet Members and senior
officers to account for their individual performance and decision-making. Inspectors could not
find much evidence of how scrutiny had changed practice or policy making”.
“Inspectors concluded that overview and scrutiny had been deliberately weakened and undervalued. The structures and processes look superficially adequate, but the culture has been one
where challenge and scrutiny were not welcome.
In the past few years, the Annual safeguarding reports have been presented to members of the
Families and Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee (and prior committees). It is intended that
the Chair of the LSCB, as well as appropriate officers, are invited to present such reports. However,
in some Local Authorities, scrutiny committees have found it helpful to establish a protocol of
understanding with the LSCB. This can help manage expectations and priorities and assist the LSCB
in understanding the role of scrutiny and the types of evidence and information that the scrutiny
committee will need. Whilst the Policy and Performance Committee will continue to receive annual
reports from the LSCB, the development of a protocol will provide an opportunity to consider further
ways to work together.
Recommendation 20 – The role for scrutiny in safeguarding
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to further examine the role of
scrutiny in the safeguarding process by establishing a protocol of understanding with the Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB).

This Report was produced by the Safeguarding Children Scrutiny Panel
(which reports to The Families and Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee)
Page 30 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

Appendix 1: Scope Document for the Safeguarding Children Scrutiny Review

Date:

12th June 2014 (Version 3)

Review Title: Safeguarding Children

Scrutiny Panel Chair:
Cllr Moira McLaughlin

Contact details:
moiramclaughlin@wirral.gov.uk

Panel members:
Cllr Wendy Clements
Cllr Cherry Povall
Cllr Denise Roberts
Cllr Jean Stapleton

wendyclements@wirral.gov.uk
cherrypovall@wirral.gov.uk
deniseroberts@wirral.gov.uk
jeanstapleton@wirral.gov.uk

Scrutiny Officer:
Alan Veitch

Contact details:
0151 691 8564
alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk

Departmental Link Officer:
Simon Garner

Contact details:
simongarner@wirral.gov.uk

Other Key Officer contacts:

1. Which of our strategic corporate objectives does this topic address?
In particular, one of the priorities identified in the Corporate Plan (2014-16) for this year is:
“Ensure that safeguarding arrangements for vulnerable children and
adults continue to strengthen, informed by national learning”.

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/council-and-democracy/councilperformance/corporate-plan

2. What are the main issues?
2.1 Agencies working with children need to understand and be effective in their
contribution to protection plans. This is not a consistent picture.
2.2 The child’s voice should be at the heart of every plan they may be subject to.
2.3 It is difficult for children and families to understand services and their relevance at
each stage of involvement.
2.4 There is a key role to be played by the Local Safeguarding Children Board LSCB),
having the ability to address these issues and it needs to be effective in doing so.
3. The Committee’s overall aim/objective in doing this work is:
3.1 To inform the development of effective safeguarding practices both within the Council
and across the Children’s Partnership.

Page 31 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

4. The possible outputs/outcomes are:
4.1 Partnership understanding that constructive working relationships will enable effective
prevention and early intervention.
4.2 LSCB membership has people strategically placed to support any changes that are
needed.
4.3 Frontline practitioners and managers are fully aware of the experience of families and
what works best for them.
4.4 Barriers to working together are identified and addressed.
4.5 Elected members understand how safeguarding relates to their role in the community.

5. What specific value can scrutiny add to this topic?
Scrutiny will give members the opportunity to assure themselves that the Council and
partners have adequate safeguarding mechanisms in place and that those processes work in
practice. Scrutiny can also help the partnership to understand what the experience of families
is and what may need to change to improve outcomes in safeguarding. Scrutiny can also
explore best practice from elsewhere.

6. Who will the Committee be trying to influence as part of its work?
6.1 Appropriate Cabinet members and Directors, Wirral Borough Council.
6.2 Partners of the Council, for example, health and school partners
6.3 Strategic managers across the partnership
6.4 Local Safeguarding Children Board
6.5 Frontline Staff across the partnership

7. Duration of enquiry?
It is envisaged that the Review will last for approximately six months (that is before the end
of 2014).

8. What category does the review fall into?
Policy Review

Yes

Policy Development

External Partnership

Yes

Performance Management

Holding Executive to Account

9. Extra resources needed? Would the investigation benefit from the co-operation of an
expert witness?
The review will be conducted by councillors with the support of existing officers. However,
the panel are looking for advice from people with expertise on this topic.

Page 32 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

10. What information do we need?

10.1 Secondary information (background
information, existing reports, legislation,
central government documents, etc).

10.2 Primary/new evidence/information

Documents to include:

Reflect on the views of families, agencies and
staff:

Safeguarding Children Scrutiny Guide (A
briefing paper produced by the Centre for
Public Scrutiny and I&DeA)

Review anonymised child protection plans

Wirral Safeguarding Children Board –
Annual Report 2012-13 & Business Plan
2013-14
Wirral Safeguarding Children Board –
Annual Report 2013-14 & Business Plan
2014-15 (Report due to be available in July
2014)
Children services Performance Reports

Audit the journey of the child through early
intervention to child protection
Understand what cases are in the system now
and how did they get there.
Statistics regarding:
 Numbers of children / caseloads
 Sample profiles of workload
 Current and historical numbers of
child protection plans
 Equivalent data from statistical
neighbours

Ofsted Inspection of safeguarding and looked
after children services (of Wirral Borough
Understand the Ofsted inspection framework.
Council), March 2011
Identify Local Authorities who have failed
Working Together to Safeguard Children
inspections in the last year and what has been
2013 (A Department of Education guide to
done to improve
inter-agency working to
safeguard and promote the welfare of
Review good practice examples of care
children)
protection plans
Ofsted Social Care Annual report,
2012-13

Learn from other Local Authorities –
Cheshire West & Chester

‘How Safe are our children? 2014’ (Report
published by NSPCC)

Wirral Safeguarding Children Board minutes
will be available

‘In the child’s time: professional responses to
neglect’ (Ofsted, March 2014)

Page 33 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

10.3 Who can provide us with further
relevant evidence? (Cabinet portfolio
holder, officer, service user, general
public, expert witness, etc).

10.4 What specific areas do we want them
to cover when they give evidence?

Contacts to include:
Focus groups with practitioners (social
workers) and frontline managers across
targeted and specialist services (Contact is
Emma Taylor / Deborah Gornick)

The issues listed in Section 2 above
The effectiveness and relevance of current
processes
Suggestions for any improvements

Visit to see and understand the Multi Agency
Safeguarding Hub – MASH. (Contact is
Simon Garner)
Interviews / focus groups with families who
have received a safeguarding service.
(Contact is Emma Taylor / Deborah Gornick)
Meeting with the LSCB chair (Bernard
Walker) and possibly other members
LSCB Manager (David Robbins)
Representatives of other agencies (for
example, police, health visitors, schools,
probation)
Independent Reviewing Officers – IROs
(Contact is Gill Clayton)
Advocacy agencies / relevant third sector
partners (Contact is Bev Morgan, Wirral
Link Forum)
Visit another Local Authority – Suggest
Cheshire West & Chester
Request attendance, as observers, at a
meeting of the LSCB
11. What processes can we use to feed into the review? (site visits/observations, face-toface questioning, telephone survey, written questionnaire, etc).
Meetings with witnesses (as listed in 10.3 above)
Desktop analysis / research
12. In what ways can we involve the public and at what stages? (consider whole range of
consultative mechanisms, local committees and local ward mechanisms).
12.1 Service users will be included in interviews / focus groups
Page 34 of 34
Safeguarding Children – Final Report

CABINET
21 MARCH 2016
REVIEW OF TACKLING ALLEYWAY DUMPING:
FUNDING ADDITIONAL CLEANSING
COUNCILLOR

RESOURCES

BERNIE MOONEY
CABINET MEMBER –
ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

REPORT SUMMARY
This report reviews the funding of additional cleansing resources supporting the
“Tackling Alleyway Dumping” campaign introduced in April 2014. The initial agreed
budget was £400,000 for 2 years comprising 2 separately funded elements:a) A Cleansing Team to increase the frequency of passageway cleansing in affected
wards. (All wards are affected with the exception of Clatterbridge, Eastham, Heswall,
Leasowe and Moreton East.)
b) A Waste Investigation Team to investigate incidents of dumped waste and
undertake investigations to assist the Council in pursuing legal action against
offenders.
c) A Business Support Officer employed on a temporary basis to coordinate referrals
for enforcement action and subsequent prosecution.
This report examines the Cleansing Team element only. The Waste Investigation
Team is the subject of a separate evaluation report to the Cabinet / Leader.
The campaign was established to tackle the amount of waste dumped in alleyways
in terraced housing areas and to promote compliance amongst Wirral residents to

help meet targets set for waste reduction and recycling. It is widely recognised that
improving local environmental quality will have a positive impact on people’s health
and wellbeing aligning to the Wirral Plan. The findings of the 2015 Insight survey
also highlighted improved local environmental quality as a key priority for residents.
This is a Key Decision.
RECOMMENDATION
The Cabinet is requested to:
(1)

Approve the allocation of £242,000 from the Waste Development Fund (WDF)
for a further 2 years (2016/17 & 2017/18) from 1st April 2016, to sustain an
enhanced passageway cleansing service to effect behaviour change and
reduce alleyway dumping as outlined in this report;

(2)

Approve the waiving of ‘Call In’ to enable service delivery to continue in a
seamless manner.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

Officers are of the opinion that employing option 2 and the continuation of
additional cleansing resources will be required to support sustained and
increased enforcement activity. In addition, the Council will be embarking on a
series of ambitious changes to waste management services during the period
2016 – 2018. These resources will be required to support such changes.

1.2

Future enforcement action will engender the required behavioural change to
further reduce alleyway dumping and other forms of environmental crime,
leading to improved environmental quality and less demand on cleansing
resources.

1.3

It is envisaged that through effective enforcement action and developing
behaviour change, the additional cleansing resource for alleyways will not be
required beyond the 2 year period of the extended Tackling Alleyway
Dumping initiative.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The Council has considered the following options as a way forward to ensure
continuity is maintained.
OPTION 1 - Provide no Enhancement to Cleansing Resources.
Passageway cleansing schedules in all areas would revert to approximately
one cleanse in every 12 week period. There is likely to be exceptionally high
concentrations of waste in passageways in some wards. Cleansing crews are
likely to struggle to remove waste as per schedule. This could pose a
reputational risk to the Council and would be contrary to the findings of the
recent Insight survey which highlighted that the environment is a high priority
for residents.
OPTION 2 (preferred) – Continue Funding For Enhanced Cleansing
Provision
Biffa will continue to cleanse passageways approximately every 4 weeks. The
Council will in turn increase its level of enforcement activity with a view to
reducing incidents of illegal dumping in areas with high concentrations of rear
passageways. A further evaluation of both the Enforcement Campaign and
the impact of additional cleansing resources will be undertaken in January
2018.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

Wirral Council has a statutory duty, as a Waste Collection Authority, to
arrange for the collection of household waste within its area. The Council

fulfils this obligation through the provision of a comprehensive suite of Waste
& Recycling Services. Over a number of years the Council has given
instructions around the presentation of domestic waste for collection to all
Wirral residents. The majority of residents across Wirral comply, however, in
a number of areas such as terraced housing or areas where there are a large
number of rental properties with a transient population, problems persist in
respect of waste being dumped in alleyways.
3.2

The Council has a statutory duty to maintain ‘passage’ along adopted
highways. It is also necessary for alleyways to be kept free of obstruction so
that residents are able to comply with the Council’s waste collection policy, to
present their bins for collection at designated points and access is maintained
for emergency vehicle access. The build-up of waste in some locations
during the reduced cleansing schedule resulted in pressure being put on the
Council to tackle this matter.

3.3

Therefore in July 2013 the Council reduced cleansing frequencies in
alleyways from monthly to 12 weekly. This was part of a service review of
street cleansing that resulted in £1M per annum of savings. During the 6
months of the cleansing frequencies being reduced, Wirral saw a 12%
reduction in tonnage of illegally dumped waste alleyways. However in some
locations as a consequence of this, some alleyways became impassable due
to the build-up of waste in between cleanses. It also resulted in residents
complaining and asking that the Council remove waste prior to the next
scheduled cleanse and to take action against residents who repeatedly dump
their waste in the alleyways. The waste contractor Biffa also expressed
concerns regarding the nature and quantity of waste being left building up for
a period of 12 weeks.

3.4

In order to tackle the amount of waste dumped in entries, on 27 February
2014 a report was presented to and endorsed by Cabinet Member for
Environment and Sustainability, subject: ‘Tackling Alleyway Dumping’. This
report outlined proposals to improve the local environmental quality of
terraced housing areas in order to reduce the amount of alleyway dumping
and support residents struggling to comply with their waste collection scheme.
The project would be limited to all wards with the exception of Clatterbridge,
Eastham, Heswall, Leasowe and Moreton East to enable important
consultative and investigative work to be carried out.

3.5

The Tackling Alleyway Dumping report was subsequently ratified by Cabinet
who approved a £400k contribution from the Waste Development Fund to be
utilised over a two year campaign period commencing 1 April 2014. The
Tackling Alleyway Dumping campaign included the reinstatement of four
weekly cleansing to alleviate the build-up of waste in entries between
cleanses to allow residents to comply with the waste collection arrangements.

3.6

The Alleyway Dumping Campaign is funded until 31 March 2016, therefore an
evaluation of the campaign is required to determine if such an arrangement is
still required in the future.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The cost of continuing the “Cleansing Team” only element of the “Tackling
Alleyway Dumping” campaign will be approximately £242,000 for 2 years to
31 March 2018. (This averages £121k per annum however may vary slightly
with contract inflation calculated using the Retail Price Index). A full financial
breakdown can be found in Appendix 1.

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

None.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1

The continuation of tackling alleyway dumping campaign will require Council
approval to use the Waste Development Fund. Officers will prepare proposals
for the financial requirements of the campaign.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The detrimental impact of no action being taken upon the quality of life of local
residents and the local environmental quality. Public perception will be of the
Council doing nothing to intervene and allowing the behaviour of some
residents to continue.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1

To inform this process, residents who had previously participated in the ‘Good
Neighbour’ scheme were surveyed in August 2015 and the recent Insight
Survey highlights that street cleanliness is a high priority to the majority of
Wirral residents who responded to the survey.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?
(a)
Yes - there are no equality impacts. This is a continuation of an existing
service without change.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Andy McCartan
Contracts Manager – Waste & Environment
telephone: (0151) 606 2247
email: andrewmccartan@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
APPENDIX 1 – “Tackling Alleyway Dumping - Additional Cleansing Team Financial
Breakdown”
REFERENCE MATERIAL
None
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Tackling Alleyway Dumping

Date
27/02/14

Council Budget Cabinet

25/02/14

APPENDIX 1 – “Tackling Alleyway Dumping Additional Cleansing Team
Financial Breakdown
FINANCIAL PERIOD

PERIOD 1
PERIOD 2
PERIOD 3
PERIOD 4
PERIOD 5
PERIOD 6
PERIOD 7
PERIOD 8
PERIOD 9
PERIOD 10
PERIOD 11
PERIOD 12
PERIOD 13
TOTAL

YR 1 – 1 APR 16 – 31 MAR 17

9,087.36
9,087.36
9,087.36
9,087.36
9,087.36
9,314.54*
9,314.54
9,314.54
9,314.54
9,314.54
9,314.54
9,314.54
9,314.54
119,953.12

PROJECT COST
*

Assumes Year 1 Contract RPI Uplift at 2.5%

**

Assumes Year 2 Contract RPI Uplift at 1.25%

YR 2 – 1 APR 17 – 31 MAR 18

9314.54
9314.54
9314.54
9314.54
9314.54
9430.97**
9430.97
9430.97
9430.97
9430.97
9430.97
9430.97
9430.97
122,020.46
£ 241,973.58

CABINET BRIEFING
7 MARCH 2016
CABINET / STRONG LEADER DECISION
21 MARCH 2016

COUNCILLOR

REVIEW OF TACKLING ALLEYWAY DUMPING

BERNIE MOONEY
CABINET MEMBER –
ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

REPORT SUMMARY
Wirral Council has a statutory duty to arrange for the collection of household waste
within its boundary.
This report reviews the current Tackling Alleyway Dumping campaign introduced in
April 2014. The campaign was established to tackle the amount of waste dumped in
alleyways in terraced housing areas and to promote compliance amongst Wirral
residents to help meet targets set for waste reduction and recycling. It is widely
recognised that improving local environmental quality will have a positive impact on
people’s health and wellbeing aligning to the Wirral Plan.
All wards are affected with the exception of Clatterbridge, Eastham, Heswall,
Leasowe and Moreton East.
This is a Key Decision.
RECOMMENDATION/S
The Cabinet is requested to:

(1)

Approve the allocation of £124,800 from the Waste Development Fund (WDF)
for a further 2 years (2016/17 & 2017/18) from 1 April 2016, to sustain an
enhanced enforcement approach for effecting behavioural change and
reducing alleyway dumping as set out in Option 3 in this report;

(2)

Approve the waiving of ‘Call In’ to enable service delivery to continue in a
seamless manner.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

It is officers’ view that option 3 for future enforcement operations will promote
wider compliance with the Council’s waste and recycling collection service
and reduce negative environmental impacts such as alleyway dumping,
windblown litter and antisocial behaviour.

1.2

Future enforcement action will engender the required behavioural change to
further reduce alleyway dumping and other forms of environmental crime,
leading to improved environmental quality and less demand on cleansing
resources.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The Council has a number of options to consider as a way forward to ensure
continuity is maintained to drive through the required behavioural change.
OPTION 1
The Council may decide not to renew the initiative. However this could pose a
reputational risk to the Council and would be contrary to the findings of the
recent Insight survey which highlighted that the environment is a high priority
for residents.
OPTION 2
The Council may decide to approve the continuation of the current campaign
for a further period of 2 years. However officers have identified the following
limitations with the existing arrangement:
There is no interaction with residents who have been found to carry out
environmental crime. To engender behavioural change the Council must
widen the scope of the existing campaign to scale up direct action against
residents who persistently dump their waste in the alleyways.
The current arrangement is also resource intensive with regards to the
preparation of court files as the majority of fixed penalty notices remain unpaid
due to lack of interaction with the residents and circumstantial evidence being
obtained by the existing Biffa Investigation Crew. The figures to date reflect a
total number of 778 FPN’s being issued with only 86 paid, 64 prosecutions
being taken through the courts and a further 34 cases with legal services
awaiting prosecution. The existing resources could be better utilised to deliver
more effective environmental enforcement such as that used for commercial
fly tipping and the focus on businesses and their legal requirements with
regards to their trade waste.

OPTION 3
It is the view of officers that the most viable option to deliver effective
enforcement in the future, would be to outsource alleyway dumping
enforcement by way of a variation order to the existing contract with Kingdom
Security Limited for street litter enforcement. Kingdom currently delivers litter
enforcement provision for Wirral through a 2+1 year contract with the Council
that commenced on 1 July 2015. The contract is performing well with over
5000 litter fixed penalty notices issued in the first 5 months. Early indications
are that over this 5 month period litter has reduced and local environmental
quality has improved. This is due to the sustained enforcement approach by
Kingdom across Wirral.
The main benefit of this option is that it would provide for ‘face to face’
interaction between residents and Kingdom’s enforcement officers. This would
be a far more effective method of enforcement than the current arrangement
where there is no interaction with residents.
Door step interaction will allow the Council to issue a sanction by way of an
£80 FPN being issued to those who commit this criminal activity as well as
delivering education and advice to such residents. This option will also secure
an improved conviction rate and provide the deterrent required to support
behaviour change. It is envisaged that through the greater interaction with
residents far more enforcement action will be taken successfully than through
the existing campaign.
Through effective enforcement action and the resulting behaviour change it is
envisaged that environmental quality will improve through reduced levels of
littering and alleyway dumping. Over time this will enable the Council to review
the level of cleansing resource required for alleyway cleansing.
3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

Over a number of years the Council has given instructions around the
presentation of domestic waste for collection to all Wirral residents. The
majority of residents across Wirral comply, however, in a number of areas
such as terraced housing or areas where there are a large number of rental
properties with a transient population, problems persist in respect of waste
being dumped in alleyways.

3.2

The Council has a statutory duty to maintain ‘passage’ along adopted
highways. It is also necessary for alleyways to be kept free of obstruction so
that residents are able to comply with the Council’s waste collection policy, to
present their bins for collection at designated points and access is maintained
for emergency vehicle access. The build-up of waste in some locations
during the reduced cleansing schedule resulted in pressure being put on the
Council to tackle this matter.

3.3

In order to address the amount of waste dumped in entries, the Cabinet
Member for Environment and Sustainability was presented with a report

entitled ‘Tackling Alleyway Dumping.’ The report outlined proposals to
improve the local environmental quality of terraced housing areas in order to
reduce the amount of alleyway dumping and support residents struggling to
comply with their waste collection scheme. The project would be limited to all
wards with the exception of Clatterbridge, Eastham, Heswall, Leasowe and
Moreton East to enable important consultative and investigative work to be
carried out.
3.4

The Tackling Alleyway Dumping report was subsequently ratified by Cabinet
who approved a £400k contribution from the Waste Development Fund to be
utilised over a two year campaign period commencing 1 April 2014. The
Tackling Alleyway Dumping campaign comprised of enhanced enforcement,
the promotion of responsible behaviour and maximising the recycling of
household waste in terraced housing areas. The funding was also used to reinstate four weekly cleansing to alleviate the build-up of waste in entries
between cleanses to allow residents to comply with the waste collection
scheme. Alongside this, the funding provided for the recruitment of two
dedicated full time Biffa Waste Investigation Operatives to search waste in
alleyways for evidence with a full time fixed term Council employee also
employed to administrate the campaign.

3.5

Previous approaches to tackling alleyway dumping had been met with limited
success despite dedicated and significant marketing campaigns. It was
therefore determined that enforcement should be the main focus of the new
campaign. The Waste Investigation Team were deployed to search out
evidence within waste dumped in alleyways. Such evidence was referred to
the Council and in many cases this culminated in a litter fixed penalty notice
being issued to the perpetrator. This enhanced enforcement activity has
resulted in a total of 1859 referrals from the Waste Investigation Crew of
which 778 litter fixed penalty notices have been issued to date, 86 of which
have been paid and 64 people being prosecuted through the courts. As
currently the evidence is purely circumstantial, it is difficult to proceed in cases
where the Council cannot prove beyond reasonable doubt that an alleged
offender is in fact guilty of that offence.

3.6

As part of this project and to encourage compliance, prior to the campaign
commencing, the Council delivered approximately 20,000 advice leaflets to
terraced households to provide advice on to reduce the levels of alleyway
dumping and alerting them that an investigation unit would be working in their
area searching illegally dumped waste in order to secure evidence and
identify the perpetrators. It also advised that anyone found to be illegally
dumping domestic waste could be issued with a fixed penalty notice for
littering. The Council also introduced a ‘Good Neighbour’ pack to assist in
promoting the campaign. Around 700 households have requested a ‘Good
Neighbour’ pack over the 18 month campaign period. A further 20,000 advice
leaflets were hand delivered in March 2015 again reminding people of their
obligations with regards to the storage and presentation of their waste.

3.7

The Alleyway Dumping Campaign is funded until 31 March 2016, therefore an
evaluation of the campaign is essential to ensure a sustained enforcement

approach is maintained to tackle this ongoing concern and ensure continuity
in order to drive behavioural change. Wider research suggests that the
values needed to drive behavioural change should be maintained for a
prolonged period so that it becomes habit as offenders often revert to their
previous harming behaviours. An enforcement strategy requires sustained
marketing alongside a robust enforcement approach.
3.8

As part of this evaluation the Council carried out a consultation with those
residents who had participated in the ‘Good Neighbour’ scheme. The majority
of respondents fell in the older age brackets and the areas of concern
highlighted by them were rubbish in entries, bins left out, street cleansing,
weeds in entries and dog fouling. Alongside this, the recent Insight survey
highlights that street cleanliness is a high priority to the majority for residents.

3.9

Further analysis was carried out to establish a comparison of the net weight of
alleyway dumping tonnage collected between the quarters from April to June
2014 and April to June 2015. This analysis demonstrates a significant
reduction in tonnage collected over these periods of around 124 tonnes.

3.10

Although over the past 18 months this campaign has proved to be effective in
reducing the amount of waste dumped in entries, the campaign lacks impetus
due to the limited interaction with the perpetrators of this criminal behaviour.
Residents continue to use their alleyways as an additional/alternative means
to dispose of their waste although to a lesser degree. The Council now needs
to scale up its operations to engender the required behavioural change
aspired to through the Wirral Plan backed by a robust enforcement regime
which includes face to face interaction with residents by authorised
enforcement officers.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The cost to sustain an enhanced enforcement approach for effecting
behavioural change and reducing alleyway dumping in the future will be
approximately £124,800 for 2 years to 31 March 2018. (This averages
£62,400 per annum).

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

None.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1

The continuation of tackling alleyway dumping campaign will require Council
approval to use the Waste Development Fund. Officers will prepare proposals
for the financial requirements of the campaign.

6.2

The option recommended by officers would be fully administered by Kingdom
Security Limited. There are no TUPE implications associated the termination
of arrangements with Biffa for the Waste Investigation Team.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

Private households that do not currently have a green residual bin or are
tenants in private rented accommodation where landlords have not replaced
missing or damage bins between tenancies may be unable to afford the cost
of a replacement bin (the Council currently supply grey recycling bins free of
charge until 31 March 2017).

7.2

The detrimental impact of no action being taken upon the quality of life of local
residents and the local environmental quality. Public perception of the
Council doing nothing to intervene and allowing the behaviour of some
residents to continue.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1

To inform this process, residents who had previously participated in the ‘Good
Neighbour’ scheme were surveyed in August 2015 and the recent Insight
Survey highlights that street cleanliness is a high priority to the majority of
Wirral residents who responded to the survey.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?
(a)

Yes and impact review is attached – (insert appropriate hyperlink).

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0#wgSM-0
REPORT AUTHOR:

Sue Bannister
Team Leader Environmental Enforcement
telephone: (0151) 606 2583
email: susanbannister@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None
REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting
Tackling Alleyway Dumping

Date
27/02/14

Council Budget Cabinet

25/02/14

